The Lived Experiences of Jamaican Barrel Children: A Qualitative Study

Annette Clarke Jones

DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Social Welfare (Ph.D.)
in the Wurzweiler School of Social Work
Yeshiva University – Wilf Campus
New York

The committee for this doctoral dissertation consisted of:

Advisor's Name: Dr. Shannon Lane

Committee Member: Dr. Laurie Blackman Committee Member: Dr. Kathryn Krase

Abstract

The study examined the overarching question of what were the childhood experiences of adults who were left-behind in Jamaica while their mothers emigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years (0 to 18 years old). Fourteen participants (11 females, 3 males) ranging in age from 22 to 72 years of age (M=45.6 years; SD=2.74) completed focused interviews containing open-ended questions designed to explore the feelings and effects of maternal emigration from Jamaica to the U.S. Participants ages at the time their mothers emigrated ranged from 2 to 17 years of age (M = 8.07; SD = 5.28), with the length of separation from their mothers ranging from 3 to 16 years (M = 8.54; SD = 4.54). Thematic analysis of the results revealed three major themes, specifically: a) participants have generally positive childhood memories and experiences before maternal immigration to the U.S.; b) participants have generally negative childhood memories and experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S.; and c) the impacts of maternal immigration are significant. In particular, the findings revealed substantial effects on mental health and the mother-child bond that persisted into adulthood and which were not always remediable. The findings of this study underscore the importance of social workers and others working in the field of immigration being aware of the population of left-behind children and their families and the impacts of parental migration during the formative years. More study needs to be undertaken with this population.

Keywords: left-behind children, maternal migration, maternal immigration, Jamaican barrel children, barrel children of the Caribbean, left-behind children of the Caribbean

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my heavenly father, who has been the source of my strength. To my amazing, supportive husband, Farrell Jones, you are the epitome of support and dedication, and I am blessed to have you in this dance called life. I could not have completed this dissertation without you. It's me and you and me, babe. I love you so much. I dedicate this to my parents, Ruby and Vincent, who taught me to keep God at the center of my life and strive for excellence. To my HBCU family, Oakwood University, and Alabama A&M University, I am better because I walked those hallowed grounds.

Thank you to my beautiful family, friends, and supporters from Canada, my second home, and all my friends and family from around the world. To the land of my birth, Jamaica, "we likkle, but we tallawah." Lastly, in loving memory of my grandmother, Gwendolyn Richards, who was the unofficial village social worker, and my cousin, Juliet Stewart-Craig, your memory will live on in my heart.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank God for providing me with the fortitude to persevere through this challenging doctoral voyage. I would like to thank the members of my committee. Thank you, Dr. Shannon Lane, for guiding me through this doctoral journey. Thank you for your insight and expertise, Dr. Kathryn Krase and Dr. Laurie Blackman; thank you for your guidance along the journey.

Thank you to every professor and fellow doctoral peer with whom I had the opportunity to engage. I am eternally grateful for the opportunity to pass through the hallowed grounds of the Wurzweiler School of Social Work at the University. I am better off because I pass this way. I would like to express my gratitude to my beloved husband, Farrell Jones, as well as to my loving family. Finally, I would like to thank the participants in this study. Thank you for sharing your lived experiences with me.

Table of Contents

Chapter One: The Lived Experiences of Jamaican Barrel Children: A Qualitative Study	1
Overview	1
Statement of Purpose	4
Significance of the Study	5
Social Work Values	6
Research Questions	7
Chapter Two: The Study Problem	10
Problem Statement	12
History of the Problem	14
Caribbean Immigration	14
Feminization of Migration	15
Relevance to Social Work	18
Policy	18
Summary	19
Chapter Three: Literature Review	20
Literature Review Methodology	20
Literature Findings	20
Impacts of Migration on Behavior Problems	29
Immigration and Reunification	32
The Trauma Impacts Resulting from Migration	39
Macro Factors (Economic and Culture)	41
Conclusion	43
Chapter Four: Theoretical Framework	44
New Economic Labor Migration (NELM) Theory	44
History	45
Labor Migration	46
Remittance	46
Transnational Feminist Theory	49
History	49
Feminist United	51
Application of Theories to the Study	53
Conclusion	55
Chapter Five: The Research Question	57

Research Questions	57
Chapter Six: Research Methodology	59
Research Design: Qualitative Method	59
Research Method	60
Phenomenology	62
Hermeneutic Phenomenology	62
Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA)	63
Context of the Study	64
Data and Subjects	65
Recruitment	65
Inclusion Criteria	66
Exclusion Criteria	67
Sampling Method	67
Sample Size	68
Measures	69
Interviews	70
Bracketing	71
Data Analysis	71
Familiarizing Self with Data	72
Producing the Report	74
Trustworthiness and Rigor	74
Thick Description	75
Reflexivity	75
Protection of Human Subjects	78
Study Limitations	79
Chapter Seven: Results	81
Demographic Data	81
Reasons for Participants' Immigration to the U.S.	82
Qualitative Analysis Results	83
Coding Process	83
Themes and Subthemes	86
Theme #1	87
Subtheme #1: Family Dynamics	87
Subtheme #2: Childhood Experiences	88

Subtheme #3: Living Arrangements	90
Subtheme #4: Emotions	90
Subtheme #5: Memories	91
Subtheme #6: Migration	92
Summary Research Question #1	93
Theme #2	94
Subtheme #1: Communication	94
Subtheme #2: Thoughts About the U.S.	96
Subtheme #3: Emotions	98
Subtheme #4: Migration	101
Subtheme #5: Memories	
Subtheme #6: Academics	103
Subtheme #7: Lifestyle Change	104
Subtheme #8: Finances/Gifts	106
Summary Research Question #2	
Theme #3	110
Subtheme #1: Direct Effects	110
Subtheme #2: Individual Effects	113
Subtheme #3: Family and Community Effects	116
Summary Research Question #3	117
Chapter Eight: Discussion	119
Social Work Practice	
Social Work Education	141
References	
Appendix A	172
Appendix B	174
Appendix C	175
Appendix D	178

Chapter One: The Lived Experiences of Jamaican Barrel Children: A Qualitative Study Overview

The study examined the childhood experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a parent who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. The study undertaken was a qualitative phenomenological study. According to Creswell and Baez (2021), phenomenology is rooted in philosophy. It is grounded in the idea that the individual's lived experiences include both the subjective and objective experiences of people they share something in common. The data was collected using Zoom interviews, including demographic and open-ended questions. The data analysis was conducted utilizing thematic analysis to identify major themes and subthemes, which are reported herein.

The following values in the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) Code of Ethics (2021) are relevant to the proposed research: service, social justice, dignity and worth of the individual, and the importance of relationships (NASW Code of Ethics, 2021). Guided by these values, social workers are able to effectively work with clients from a cross-cultural perspective, which often includes marginalized and oppressed people who are members of a vulnerable population (Micek, 2014). It was important to study the experiences of Jamaican families, who are often overlooked, so that social workers can amplify the voices of individuals who otherwise would be ignored.

The role and responsibility of the researcher was to examine and interpret the impact the research subject matter has had on the lived experiences of the research participants (Alase, 2017). According to Anderson and Hemez (2022), the 2019 U.S. Census stated that 82.6% of U.S. children live with at least one foreign-born parent compared to 20 years ago when the study was completed. The work of Suarez-Orozco et al. (2002) was referenced in an article by Lu et al.

(2020), which sheds light on the fact that there have been few studies comparing the well-being of immigrant children who are separated from their parents with those who migrate with their parents. The research indicates that immigrant children who have been separated from their parents are more likely to exhibit anxiety and depressive symptoms than those who had never been separated (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). While there is little recent research that explores the impact of immigration on children, a study conducted twenty years ago noted that 20% of U.S. children lived in immigrant households (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). Eighty-five percent have been separated from their parents due to the immigration process, which can be complicated and take several years (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002).

Some children were left as infants and some as late adolescents (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). During the separation of child and parent, children go through immense, complex changes and both parents and child separate from the nuclear family (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). The length of the separation period depends on the financial status of the immigrant parent and the immigration laws of the host country; reunification can take place over a two-to-five-year period or longer (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). Clinical accounts obtained suggest that children of immigrant parents exhibit deviant behaviors after being reunited with their families, along with feelings of abandonment and detachment from their parents (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). According to Lu et al. (2020), there is very little written on the subject of comparing the well-being of immigrant children who are separated from their parents to those who migrate with their parents, and what is written is very dated. The majority of previous research has relied on clinical and qualitative studies with small samples, mostly based on reports of children who went to the doctor, with a few prominent exceptions (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). This work of (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002) future sheds light on the dearth of this need for future research.

According to the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN DESA, 1998), Recommendations on Statistics of International Migration, Revision 1, a long-term migrant is defined as a person who moves to a country other than his or her country of usual residence for at least one year (12 months), making the destination country his or her new country of usual residence. From the viewpoint of the country of origin, the individual is a long-term emigrant, but from the perspective of the country of destination, the individual is a long-term immigrant. Serial migration is the practice of sending some family members to seek a new life in the U.S. to ultimately bring over the family members who remained in their native country (Cervantes et al., 2010). According to Crawford-Brown & Rattray (2001), serial migration is seen mainly among the working class, who emigrate to improve their family's socioeconomic status. Caribbean immigrants tend to emigrate, leaving their children behind. While families with more financial security typically emigrate together.

In the absence of the parents, family members, and extended relatives will serve as surrogate parents in the absence of the latter; the normal reunification process between the child and parents may take two to ten years (Crawford-Brown & Rattray, 2001). However, the process could take five to nineteen years. It is common for family members and extended relatives to care for the children as the birth parents take measures to secure themselves financially and physically overseas. While many children are cared for physically by family members and relatives, the emotional support needed may be lacking. Children who are separated from their parents deal with feelings of anger, fear, rejection, and resentment (Dillon & Walsh, 2012; Wickham, 2017). The severing of this parent-child bond leads to depression, hostility, withdrawal, and other troubling behaviors. During the reunification process, children experience a plethora of emotions, including frustration and disappointment, based on the expectations that

were not fulfilled, as they expected to live happily ever after (Crawford-Brown & Rattray, 2001; Dillon & Walsh, 2012).

The primary motivation for Jamaican immigrants is the desire to better themselves as well as the opportunity to improve the socioeconomic status of their families (Carranza, 2022: Lashley, 2000). Jamaicans have a long history of migrating and staying abroad, both temporarily and permanently, and they lead the migration of Caribbean nationals to North America and Europe, where it is common practice (Thomas-Hope, 1999; Wickham, 2017). More importantly, many seek to reunite with the children they have left-behind. However, the process of reunification can be drawn out and difficult to navigate at times. This research will contribute to the existing body of knowledge and encourage mental health practitioners to take into account the socioeconomic and the unique cultural challenges this population faces when developing evidence-based treatment modalities for this demographic (Frances, 1994; Thomas-Hope, 2018).

Statement of Purpose

This study examined the experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind as children by a mother who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. More specifically, the study will investigate how Jamaican adults, who were left-behind as children, processed the phenomenon. The topic of adults who were left-behind as children by a parent(s) has been given little attention as to the impact it has had on this population. There is a dearth of research available on this subject; therefore, it makes it difficult for the experiences of this population to be understood. As a result, knowledge of this population is sparse, leading to a lack of understanding of the lived experiences of Jamaican families and their left-behind children. Also, there is an absence of cultural inclusion and sensitivity throughout the literature and its impact on adults left-behind by a parent. Hence, more research needs to be conducted to better understand the experiences of

adults who were left-behind and the role culture plays in this population. It is imperative that this population be studied so that possible risks can be minimized and that the necessary protective factors are in place that will reduce harm. This population requires more research on the subject (Budiman, 2021; Zhou et al., 2020)

Significance of the Study

There is a long history of immigration to the U.S. on the part of Jamaican families (Fletcher et al., 2018). Yet, there is a paucity of written material that discusses the experiences of individuals who were left-behind by a parent in Jamaica. It is very common for Jamaican parents who immigrate to separate from their children in order to begin a new life elsewhere (Fletcher-Anthony et al., 2018). There has been, and will continue to be, a consistent influx of new immigrants into the U.S., and this number is expected to continue to increase over time (Salas-Wright, 2020). While this research is specific to Asia and Latin America, Jamaicans were not mentioned in this article. As the number of immigrants increases, it is expected that the number of children separated from their parents will also increase. Little is known about the impact this separation will have on the children and their families who were left-behind. Furthermore, less is known about the long-term impact of these decisions on those children in their adulthood.

The literature indicates that a significant number of children who have been left-behind and separated from their parents for extended periods have experienced difficulties in their academic performance as well as psychological and behavioral issues (Dai et al., 2018). These issues can have a negative effect on a child's ability to function socially, which can put a strain on both the child and the parent. Many families are ill-prepared to address the issues associated with separating from their children. Much of the literature on left-behind children are mostly from China and does not cover participants from Jamaica, which means there is a dearth

of literature on immigrants from Jamaica. Therefore, it is pertinent that the experiences of Jamaican left-behind children and their families are examined. This will afford a better understanding of how they describe their experiences before, after, and as a result of a parent(s) migration.

This study sought to better understand the childhood experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a mother who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. during the child's developmental years (ages zero to 18 old). This qualitative research utilized a phenomenological approach to explore the experiences of these adults.

Social Work Values

Understanding the lived experiences of adults who were left-behind as children in Jamaica while their parent(s) immigrated to the U.S. is imperative, and incorporating the core values of social work into practices relating to their experiences is of utmost importance. Social workers have a professional duty to provide service to various populations, including the most vulnerable, thus treating all they serve with dignity and worth. By understanding the problems facing Jamaican immigrants as well as their left-behind children, clinicians can learn about the complexities of the Jamaican family structure and the impact this structure can have on immigrants as they adapt and function in the host country.

Social workers are expected to display knowledge of a variety of cultures and an appreciation that there are positive aspects to every culture (de Anda, 2008). Armed with this information, they are able to provide services that are culturally informative, which can empower clients from a diverse range of backgrounds. They should demonstrate a sense of cultural awareness by engaging in the practice of humility while also being conscious of their own prejudices and making a commitment to self-correct (NASW, 2021).

Racism and discrimination are psychosocial stressors that affect the health of minority populations (Pachter et al., 2018). While discrimination has been associated with poor mental health, being a minority in a racial or ethnic group contributes to poor physical and mental health. It is important that social workers are culturally competent and understand the unique needs of the Jamaican community. Using evidence-based interventions to meet the requirements of this population will strengthen the therapeutic alliance and minimize client harm.

Research Questions

Overarching Research Question: What were the experiences of adults who stayed in Jamaica while their mother immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years (0 to 18 years old)?

- 1. Research Sub-Question #1: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time before their mother's immigration?
- 2. Research Sub-Question #2: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time during and after their mother's immigration?
- 3. Research Sub-Question #3: What do these individuals see as the lasting impacts of their mother's and their own immigration journeys?

Methodological Summary

Summarily, this study will use a qualitative design as it seeks to investigate the adult immigrants who were left-behind as children while their parents immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. A qualitative analysis will be used because it contextualizes the data by using words rather than numbers. Interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) seeks to closely study human lived experience (Eatough & Smith, 2017). IPA is a branch of phenomenology that studies subjective experience. Additionally, it is idiographic, illustrating how people in certain contexts understand events. The theoretical foundation of IPA is hermeneutics, and Edmund Husserl is

the source of the IPA's fundamental concepts. This enables the interviewer and participants to use interpretative phenomenological analysis, or IPA, to investigate more thoroughly and comprehend more clearly. Using the IPA approach in a qualitative research study thus reinforces the idea that its main purpose and essence are to examine the research participants' "lived experiences" and enable them to narrate the research findings from their "lived experiences" (Smith et al., 2009; Alase, 2017).

Recruitment for this study occurred by the researcher advertising through flyers in spaces where potential respondents were identified who were from transnational communities.

Both purposeful sampling (homogeneous) and snowball sampling were employed since they are focused and strategic methods that may be used to reach people who are hard to reach.

The interview questions were left open-ended so that respondents could describe their individual experiences. To ensure that all participants received questions and probes consistently, the questions were written, contextualized, and followed by probing. The researcher then emailed prospective participants individually and then contacted them by phone to screen them for eligibility based on the inclusion criteria. Once participants were deemed to fit the inclusion criteria, the interview times and dates, as well as the manner of conducting the interview, were determined. Interviews ended up being conducted through Zoom. Participants were advised that their names would not be used for identification and a number would be used in lieu of their names.

The researcher interviewed each participant for approximately 90 minutes. This methodical approach ensured that all relevant information was gathered, and that time was used efficiently. The list of questions included prompts to obtain optimal responses. At the end of

each interview, the interviewee was asked if there was anything else they wanted to discuss so that any relevant information not obtained by the interview may be communicated.

The findings of the data analysis were as follows:

- 1) Participants reported overwhelmingly positive experiences prior to their mother's immigration to the U.S.
- 2) Participants reported overwhelmingly negative experiences after their mother's immigration to the U.S.
- 3) Direct, individual, family, and community impacts were reported as a result of the participants' mothers' immigration to the U.S.

Chapter Two: The Study Problem

The primary motivation for Caribbean immigrants is the desire to better themselves, as well as the opportunity to improve the socioeconomic status of their families (Lashley, 2000). Like its Caribbean neighbors, Jamaica is susceptible to hurricanes, floods, and climate change. It is a country with moderate economic development, massive public debt, and external shocks. Jamaica has long-standing budgetary problems (Bakker et al., 2022: Mooney, 2018). Two oil crises and a downturn in bauxite prices led to the economy's decline in the 1980s. The 1990s financial crisis caused a debt crisis. Interest payments peaked at 17% of the Gross Domestic Product, GDP in 2009, while debt reached 142% of the GDP.

In two International Monetary Fund (IMF) programs, Jamaica improved its fiscal balance from a deficit of 11.2% of GDP to a surplus of 1.2% between the fiscal year 2009/10 and fiscal year 2019/20 (Bakker et al., 2022; Mooney, 2018). Given that the poverty rate in 2017 was 19%, issues including young unemployment, education, and social cohesion must be addressed in order to reduce crime and violence. Three decades of debt and little growth have plagued Jamaica.

The pandemic affected Jamaica's economy (Bakker et al., 2022; Mooney, 2018). An early closure in the spring of 2020 helped decrease COVID-19 cases, but the economic impact was significant, especially in the tourism and transportation industries, with real GDP plummeting by 10% (International Monetary Fund [IMF], 2020). Indicators of development, such as poverty rates, income equality, the informality of the economy, and the health of the private sector, have not changed much in the last few decades. Jamaica continues to lag behind its neighbors. There seems to be significant potential to accelerate the pace of financial sector

growth and to increase access and inclusion in light of recent enhancements in institutional capacity, policy discipline, and structural reform.

Caribbean family relationships are some of the most intricate foundational institutions within Caribbean society, where it is common practice for parents to leave their children behind in their home country with family members (Lashley, 2000). Consequently, many Jamaican families who have left their children behind are separated for a long period of time. An emphasis on promoting ethical considerations related to immigration practices and policies that impact Jamaican immigrant families further explores the role of historical trauma on economic viability, particularly for immigrant families. Jamaican families find themselves among those from immigrant communities, leaving their children behind in search of a better life in the U.S. of America so they can have the opportunity to improve their families' socio-economic status.

The term "barrel children" was coined by Claudette Crawford-Brown, a professor at the University of the West Indies in Mona, Jamaica (Crawford-Brown, 1999). She first characterizes the phenomenon of "barrel children" as children whose parents have migrated to North America and the United Kingdom (UK) and whose parents send them material resources in the form of clothing and food instead of direct care. All this happens while the children wait to reunite with their parents overseas. Jamaicans represent the largest English-speaking Caribbean nation in the U.S. (Crawford-Brown, 1999; Crawford-Brown & Rattray, 1994). There are parallels between Jamaica and the U.S., such as the English language, which makes integration easier (Zong & Batalova, 2019). Jamaica and the U.S. have long-standing relationships, especially when it comes to Jamaicans migrating to the U.S. to work, whether temporarily or permanently. Most Jamaicans are black and of African descent (Deason et al., 2012). There are several parallels between Jamaica and other Caribbean nations, but the researcher is not arguing that all

Jamaicans are identical. However, their immigration will be influenced by their racial identity and language skills (Deason et al., 2012; Zong & Batalova, 2019). Due to the fact that this is a qualitative research study, the researcher concentrated on Jamaica alone and not the other Caribbean nations. Still, it is important to examine this issue throughout the rest of the Caribbean. It is hoped that future research will provide opportunities to compare and contrast the similarities and differences across other Caribbean islands (Zong & Batalova, 2019).

Problem Statement

People around the world emigrate from their country of origin in pursuit of increased family well-being and stability, which includes Jamaicans. Little is known about the lived experiences or impact parental immigration has had on Jamaican adults who are left-behind. More specifically, not much is known about the childhood experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a mother who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. and the impact that the immigration of their mother had on them as barrel children, as well as on them as adults who have immigrated to the U.S. Therefore, this study examined the lived experiences of Jamaican adults who were left-behind when their mother migrated to the U.S.

Some of the important concepts in this research are described as follows: Caribbean, West Indians, transnational, remittance, left-behind children, and barrel children.

The Caribbean. According to the World Resources Institute (2008), the Caribbean is a large region that stretches from the Gulf of Mexico to the Caribbean Sea and includes a total of 35 countries and territories, including the oceanic island of Bermuda (Meylan, 1999). The Caribbean Sea lies south of the U.S. and is home to a collection of island nations known as the West Indian Islands. They are typically divided into three groups: the Greater Antilles, the Lesser Antilles, and the Bahamas, which are made up of 3,000 distinct islands and reefs. Cuba, Jamaica,

Haiti, the Dominican Republic, and Puerto Rico are among the larger island nations that make up the Greater Antilles (Crowder, 1999; Buddington, 2002). The Leeward Islands and the Windward Islands make up the group of smaller islands known as the Lesser Antilles, which lie along the line separating the Caribbean Sea from the Atlantic Ocean. St. Kitts, Nevis, Antigua and Barbuda, Montserrat, Anguilla, and the British Virgin Islands are among the Leeward Islands (Crowder, 1999; Buddington, 2002). St. Vincent and the Grenadines, St. Lucia, Dominica, Grenada, Barbados, Trinidad and Tobago, the Cayman Islands, Martinique, St. Martin, Dutch St. Martin, Curacao, Buen Ayre, Aruba, St. Eustatius, Saba, Danish St. Thomas, St. John, and St. Croix are among the Windward Islands (Crowder, 1999; Buddington, 2002). Belize (formerly British Honduras) in Central America and Guyana (formerly British Guiana) in South America are also typically included despite not being islands because they have a similar colonial history and cultural traditions (Hilaire, 2006).

West Indians are primarily descended from Africans and can be found living in Caribbean countries that were formerly under British colonial rule (Crowder, 1999; Buddington, 2002). The term "transnational" was coined to characterize the massive movement of people, goods, ideas, and images beyond national boundaries during globalization (Conway, 2019). The migration discussed in this paper is transnational because it moves from Jamaica to the U.S. Remittance, often defined as money or products sent by migrants to family and friends in their home countries, are frequently the most direct and well-known relationship between migration and development (Levitt, 1998). Remittance appears to be a significant concept in transnational migration, and it was one of the topics discussed in the interview.

Left-behind children are defined as children with one or both parents who have left home to work elsewhere and have left the main responsibility of childcare to the other parent or other

relatives (Ding et al., 2021). The term left-behind children is a concept discussed in the literature that addresses parent and child separation and was discussed in the interview. The term "barrel children" was coined by Dr. Claudette Brown-Harris, and it theorizes that children receive goods and kind in barrels instead of affection and attachment from their parents who are living overseas (Crawford-Brown, 1999; Crawford-Brown & Rattray, 1994). Barrel children is a term addressing children who are separated from their parents, particularly in Jamaica and the rest of the Caribbean.

History of the Problem

Caribbean Immigration

The immigration process can be challenging, and moving to a new country requires one to follow the rules and guidelines to adapt to a new way of life. Caribbean immigrants emigrate to the United States with aspirations for better lives and access to educational and employment opportunities that are not available in their countries of origin. However, people from the Caribbean have immigrated to improve their family's socioeconomic status for many years. The roots of immigration run deep and go back to the legacy of slavery. The results of centuries of colonial rule continue to dominate the islands' primary resources, agriculture, and continued reliance on world powers, financial institutions, and companies leaving many of its citizens dependent on migration as a means of economic empowerment (Louis, 2017). Many Jamaican families emigrate for this purpose.

Two major migration waves occurred on the islands of the Caribbean (Smith et al., 2004). Caribbean workers working abroad went as far back as the early twentieth century. Firstly, workers were instrumental in providing labor to expand European investment initiatives in the Caribbean. Many laborers were mainly unskilled, while some had technical skills; the

laborers worked on jobs closely connected to foreign investments in the region. Secondly, the 1960s came with sweeping immigration laws in North America and the United Kingdom. Many men and women were influenced by the opportunity to improve their economic status by working abroad and the chance to improve financially. The global community is more connected, and the opportunity to travel, work, and live abroad has made the world more accessible, especially with the long history of people from the Caribbean seeking employment in the U.S., Great Britain, and Canada.

Many Jamaican workers work as guest workers, which provides the opportunity to work low-wage jobs. The need for nannies, maids, servers, and housekeepers has increased in wealthier countries, which has led to the feminization of the guest worker program and the guest worker program becoming more feminized. Thus, more women are leaving their children behind in their home country as they work abroad to provide opportunities for their families (Fink, 2013).

Feminization of Migration

Migration has become increasingly feminine (Lu et al., 2020; Pottinger, 2005; Thomas-Hope, 2002). Throughout the years, and even to current times, men and women of the West Indies have been a part of various migrant streams. The direction of Jamaican immigration was changed in the 1960s by changing immigration laws in typical receiving nations. The United Kingdom passed restrictive immigration regulations at the same time as legislation elevating education and abilities above race and nationality became law in the United States and Canada. The United States became the primary destination for skilled migrants from Jamaica and the rest of the Caribbean starting in the late 1960s (Glennie & Chappell, 2010). According to Pottinger (2005), in the 1960s, a large number of West Indians workers went worldwide searching for

economic opportunities in Britain, Canada, and the U.S. When a child lacks protection from a parent or parents, the danger of abuse grows. Gender roles in Caribbean culture may thus be able to account for the various implications that the gender of a migrating parent may have on the family and a child's security. When the mother migrates, the risk of physical, mental, and emotional abuse increases (Williams, 2022). When a woman migrates, it disrupts the lives of the children, and this disruption is common in developing countries. Over the years, many West Indian mothers sought employment in the U.S., and many immigrated to work as caregivers, leaving their children behind in the care of relatives and family. This trend continues, and it includes Jamaican mothers traveling abroad to make a better life for themselves and their children (McCallum, 2019). With a high demand for labor and wealthy countries needing workers, many people immigrated in pursuit of a better life so that they could send remittances to their family and friends (Pottinger, 2005).

Many who emigrated overseas were unsure what their fate would be in the new country. However, they felt that taking the opportunity to live overseas would allow them to improve their family's standard of living and the chance to support their families. Caribbean immigrants wanted improved living and economic opportunities, so many favored residing in cities with a network of Caribbean communities (Waters, 1994). Over the years, this trend has continued, and many workers from the Caribbean continue to seek work abroad to provide for their families, leaving the children behind. There has been a particular increase among West Indian women immigrants, both married and single. Women are usually more educated than their male counterparts, and many have gone overseas. Thus, many Jamaican mothers send remittance back home to provide for their families (McCallum, 2019).

While there are opportunities to improve their financial situation, this means leaving their children at home while traveling abroad for work. It was common for workers from lower economic classes to work overseas for short periods, while some migrated for an extended period (Lu et al., 2020; Pottinger, 2005). Those who migrate long-term hope to reunite with their children by having them join them in the host country where they reside, as noted earlier. It is common practice to leave the children behind with family members, such as grandparents and aunts, or board them out with friends or even persons the children barely know.

Migratory separation, the process of children separating from their parents due to migration, is familiar to many Jamaican families. Strong kinship networks among the working class allow mothers to migrate, and they can leave their children in the care of relatives, friends, or neighbors; an accepted practice in the communities, and the children are loved and cared for without shame and stigma (Pottinger, 2000; Thomas-Hope, 2002; Waters, 1999). Many West Indian immigrants often do not emigrate as a family unit. When the parent leaves, many children have to cope with being away from their parents, which mentally strains the parent-child relationship despite the caregiving measures put in place (Crawford-Brown & Rattray, 1994).; Lashley, 2000; Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). Children can be separated for several years compared to other groups who emigrate as a family unit (Suârez-Orozco et al., 2011).

The seminal work of (Suârez-Orozco et al., 2011) was cited by Lu et al. (2020) as exceptional in the work of immigrant children separation. The migration period of separation for Jamaican parents and children is between three and ten years, leading to issues of grief, loss, and attachment (Crawford-Brown, 1999; Suarez-Orozco et al., 2002). Reunification usually happens after several years of being apart, as it takes the parent several years to establish themselves as

legal residents in the new country, which prolongs the parent and child's separation (Lashley, 2000). This practice continues to be a phenomenon among many immigrant families today.

Relevance to Social Work

The International Federation of Social Workers defines social work as a profession concerned with human rights (Mapp et al., 2019). Jamaican families are woven into the fabric of U.S. society. Therefore, it is pertinent that social workers are able to meet the needs of a wide range of clients from various backgrounds and cultures. The following (NASW Code of Ethics, 2021) are relevant to the proposed research: service, social justice; dignity and worth of the individual; and the importance of relationships. Social workers across the board may encounter this population; however, those working in schools, child protection, healthcare, immigration, and the judicial system. Social workers are able to effectively work with clients from a cross-cultural perspective because they are guided by these values. Their clients often include individuals who are marginalized or oppressed and include parts of a population that is vulnerable. It is vital to examine the experiences of Jamaican families who are frequently disregarded. By doing so, social workers can magnify the voices of people who would otherwise be ignored. Therefore, there are many reasons why it is important to investigate the experiences of these families.

Policy

The Immigration and Naturalization Act of 1965 is the current law used today to determine eligibility for entry into the U.S. The Immigration and Naturalization Act of 1965 ended an earlier quota system determined by an individual country of origin (Kennedy, 1966). This law established the fundamental principles that are still utilized in the regulation of immigration today. For the first time, it established quotas for immigration from countries within

the Americas and implemented a preference system that prioritized family reunification and employment and brought skilled workers to the U.S. Thus, changing the ethnic makeup of America with increased legal and unauthorized immigration.

Many Jamaican parents enter the U.S. through one of these categories, which determines the length of time the parent and child will be separated. Due to the serial migration nature of Jamaican immigrants, especially in single-parent homes, the parent travels to the new country for employment opportunities, leaving their children behind in their home country. One factor contributing to the phenomenon of serial migration is the uncertainty and financial difficulties in the home country (Smith et al., 2004). Therefore, the parent's immigration status in the U.S. plays a major role in determining how long the parent and child are separated.

Summary

The phenomenon of left-behind children exists in many world regions, including China, Eastern Europe, the Caribbean, Africa, and Southeast Asia (Hong & Fuller, 2019; Lu et al., 2020). Researchers argue that the challenges of growing up as a left-behind child can negatively affect the young child physically, psychologically, emotionally, and mentally. Therefore, more research is needed to reduce the negative impact on left-behind children. The next chapter (Literature Review) examines the existing literature pertinent to the study and the lived experiences of adult immigrants from Jamaica to the U.S. who were left by their parents. While some studies of this nature have been conducted, none have looked at the childhood experiences of adults who were left-behind by a parent that immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. Therefore, more research should be conducted to include Jamaicans.

Chapter Three: Literature Review

This literature review investigates the lived experiences of adult immigrants from Jamaica to the U.S. who were left by their parents and later reunited. Since there is limited information on Jamaica, this literature review also includes literature that refers to either the Caribbean or the West Indies. The literature uses the terms "West Indies" and "Caribbean." After the literature review, this portion of the study discusses the five themes that emerged from the literature. The literature review is focused around the themes of interest for the study: the impacts of migration on mental health, the impact of migration on behavioral problems, migration, and reunification, the impacts of trauma resulting from migration, and transnational parenting. The literature also includes research connecting the role of gender in migration and raising children who were left-behind and reunited. Additionally, this section will discuss the gaps in the literature as well as future research.

Literature Review Methodology

All of the articles came directly from searching electronic databases such as Ebsco and Google Scholar. While this dissertation focuses on Jamaica, there is limited information specific to Jamaica. The following search terms were entered into the databases: Jamaican barrel children, migrant barrel children, West Indian left-behind children, transnational families, left-behind children, barrel children, Caribbean left-behind children, and left-behind children.

Literature Findings

Twenty-four peer-reviewed articles emerged that were directly related to the topic. Given the limited number of articles on this topic, it was determined not to restrict the time period or geographic region covered by previously published studies. Given the limited number of articles on this topic, it was determined not to restrict the time period or geographic region covered by

previously published studies. The inclusion criteria comprised peer-reviewed English and academic journals. The initial search for Barrel Children using Ebsco Host and Yeshiva University Google Scholar yielded limited results. However, after reading several articles, some articles on Google Scholar Search were located, which led to left-behind children and transnational families. The articles fell into five main themes: the impacts of migration on mental health, the impacts of migration on behavior problems, the impact of migration on reunification, the impact of trauma resulting from migration, and macro factors (economics and culture).

Impacts of Immigration on Mental Health

The findings propose that parents immigrating and leaving their children behind had adverse effects on their children's mental and emotional well-being. Cebotari and Mazzucato (2016) conducted a quantitative study from 2010 to 2011, sampling respondents who were students at junior and secondary schools in Ghana (2,760), Angola (2,243), and Nigeria (2,168). The random sample comprised children and youth ages 11 to 21 with one or both biological parents living abroad. When the survey was conducted, the children lived in transnational families with at least one parent who had lived abroad for three months or more. The study compared children living at home with their parents with those living in transnational families in the same school; the cases were adequate for comparative reasons. The results of the study showed that there were no effects on children whose parents had migrated/divorced when children were placed in kinship care. International parental immigration accompanied by divorce and separation may indicate a decline in academic achievement (Cebotari and Mazzucato, 2016). These results were contrary to the previous research by Anagnostaki and Zaharia (2020), where participants shared that being separated from their parents had a profound impact on their mental

health both in their early lives and as adults. The study should be expanded to include left-behind children of the Caribbean.

Anagnostaki and Zaharia (2020) conducted a qualitative study on Greek children leftbehind whose parents emigrated for work. For the study, adults were interviewed about their traumatic experiences as children who were left-behind. Fourteen participants were sampled: five men and nine women. The study participants ranged in age from 28 to 56 years old. Participants were left with relatives when their parents emigrated. The qualitative research method approach utilized the interpretive phenomenological analysis, which captured the rich lived experience of the left-behind participants. The results of the study showed that four themes emerged: intense emotions, effects on the parent-child relationship, defenses, and psychopathology. Many participants experienced three out of four of the themes, and the experience of being left-behind had a significant impact on most participants. Some participants shared that they had developed psychopathological symptoms. Participants said they learned that being separated from their parents in their early years, later in life, or both, had a profound impact on their mental health. The limitations support the need for further studies on the topic of left-behind children. This study did not address the lived experiences of Jamaican adults left-behind; thus, a phenomenological research study with adults left-behind children should be conducted in future studies.

Lu et al. (2020), used data taken from a nationwide survey of legal adult immigrants and their families called the New Immigrant Survey, which was conducted between 2003 and 2004 (for educational outcomes, age six to 12 years, N=876; for psychosocial well-being, age six to 17 years, N=1,084). The NIS is based on a sample of 4% of all immigrants granted permanent residence between May and November 2003. These immigrants are all adults (18+) who were

granted permanent residence for the first time during that time. The NIS study is the first national study to look at legal adult immigrants and their children when they first came to the United States. Children from Africa, Asia, Latin America, and Europe took part in the research. According to Lu et al. (2020), in the NIS study, 22% of children have been separated from their parents at least once, 53% of children who have been removed from their parents and reunited with them have been separated for six years or less, and 47% have been separated for more than six years. Prior to their legalization, thirty percent of immigrant children who were separated from their parents were undocumented.

Latin American immigrant children (32%), African (25%), and Asian (19%) were the most common in the survey. Europeans emigrated as families. 62% of immigrant children were separated from their dads, 26% from both parents, and 12% from their mothers. Reunited immigrant children are twice as likely to suffer psychological issues as those who were not separated (Lu et al., 2020). Overall, children who were separated from both parents reported more psychological and behavioral issues than those who migrated with their parents. Findings indicate that children who were previously separated had a greater incidence of mental and behavioral issues and a decreased aptitude for learning as compared to children who were not separated. The children's issues were aggravated by the long period of separation and their parents' prior undocumented status. Exploring the separation and reunification of immigrant children could provide pertinent information considering the lack of research on the subject. The subject of separated immigrant families and the possible short and long-term effects needs further research.

International migration's parental effects and effects on left-behind children's mental health were investigated (Adhikari et al., 2014). Data from the Child Health and Migrant Parents

in Southeast Asia, Thailand, 2008 project were used. In this joint effort, researchers from Singapore and the UK focused on parental cross-border migration and the effects it had on children who were left-behind in (Indonesia, the Philippines, Thailand, and Vietnam). The sample of 1,030 children included both parents who had migrated and parents who did not migrate. Of the 1,030 sampled, 519 (50%) had transnational parents, and most of the parents were fathers. The results indicated that less than three percent of the children had both parents migrate, and only 10% of mothers had immigrated since having their child. One in five children experienced hyperactivity problems, one in six had conduct problems, and one in twenty had emotional and peer problems. Left-behind children scored a significantly higher percentage in abnormal hyperactivity compared to non-left-behind children. The mother's earlier migration history continued to impact both age groups of children negatively and had a major, independent connection to left-behind children experiencing mental health problems (Adhikari et al., 2014).

A limitation of the Adhikari et al. (2014) article is the need for further studies that include participants over the age of 18. The topic needs further investigation as it does not address the needs of people from other parts of the world, such as Jamaica, left-behind as children. Zhao et al. (2018) conducted a qualitative study in a migrant rural community in China that sampled 25 children ages (7 to 14), 17 parents, 13 grandparents, 30 families, and 24 key people from the surrounding communities. The study finding showed that the primary reason for migration to the city was to earn more money, and this was the best way to survive and property for the family. Despite the finances and opportunities for growth, problems in the child's psychosocial well-being occurred because of long periods of parent-child separation. Parental migration leads to problems; adverse effects of parents migrating have also increased with other vulnerabilities such as parents' divorce and aging caregivers/grandparents. Some parents became concerned that they

returned home to care for their children, and they were willing to forgo the financial gain they would receive working away from their children. Limitations of the study included the number of participants who were left-behind by their parents (Zhao et al., 2018). Future research should include expanding the sample size of the left-behind children and their families in China. A future longitudinal study should be conducted to aid in providing evidence-based interventions that can benefit Jamaican left-behind children and their families.

Four in ten children in China are left-behind children living in rural areas where one or both parents have migrated to urban areas due to disparities between rural and urban economic development the United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF, 2016; Ye et al., 2013). Fu and Chen (2021) conducted a quantitative study with Chinese school-age students (N=227) from 13 schools, including 12 public schools and one private school. Parental migration experiences were explored, and their association with the children's mental health namely, migration history, parental migration, and the migration of both parents. The children were asked about their parent's migration status in the last six months before the researchers collected the data. Children's responses fell into the following categories: parents with no migration history, parents who had migrated prior and have now returned, fathers who migrated alone, mothers who migrated alone, and both parents who migrated. The Chinese Making Sense of Adversity Scale (CMSAS) was used to measure of adversity how children made sense of adversity (Pan et al., 2008). The researcher approved the use of stress and coping to test the role of stress and sensemaking in the connection between mental health and parent migration (Fu & Chen, 2021). With both parents migrating, the left-behind child was more susceptible to depression, and almost all of the children had occurrences of depressive symptoms; thus, sensemaking could reduce the damaging effects of daily stress on their mental health outcomes.

According to Fu & Chen (2021), the results of the study showed that when both parents migrated, the children would be at a greater risk of depression, but children who had a father who had migrated were less likely to have healthy mental health compared to children whose parents had not migrated. High levels of stress and poor mental health were associated with left-behind children. Thus, sense-making could help negotiate the high level of daily stress on mental health outcomes. Requiring social services to support left-behind children's mental health is imperative for decreasing daily stress and improving the children's coping mechanisms.

A future longitudinal study would help researchers better grasp the long-term effects of parental migration on the mental health of children left-behind. The school-based survey was designed to exclusively include students who were enrolled in school, omitting vulnerable and at-risk dropouts. A limitation of the study is that the participants were Chinese school children; however, this study could be duplicated with left-behind children in Jamaica.

According to Manyeruke et al. (2021), in a quantitative research study, they surveyed 57 children from left-behind families compared to 41 from two-parent households of children between the ages of eight and 14 using a cross-sectional study. Attachment styles, psychological well-being, and academic growth among participants from Zimbabwe were analyzed. Questions were administered to measure attachment styles. Children who had both parents migrate experienced higher developmental, behavioral, academic, and psychological challenges as a result of the lack of social support and familial connection. The age at which the parents leave is connected to how the child handles the ability to adjust to the parents' leaving. Thus, the impacts of parental migration differ from culture to culture depending on the nation of origin, public opinion of migrant parents, gender roles, and the economic reasons for parental migration.

Researchers found no significant difference in the attachment styles of left-behind children compared to children living with both parents. Secure attachment was the dominant attachment style for both left-behind and non-left-behind children, followed by anxious attachment and avoidant attachment styles (Manyeruke et al., 2021). The findings contradicted previous research by Zhao et al. (2018), which claimed that children who were separated from their parents for extended periods of time might develop negative emotions and struggle with attachment. The attachment styles displayed by the children mirror how they view parental migration. Limitations of the study included the small sample sizes between the groups.

Attachment styles are viewed based on culture, and in this study, gender played a pertinent role as more fathers migrated and more mothers stayed home.

Research by Leskauskas et al. (2020) focused on the effects of parental immigration on emotional and behavioral problems in left-behind children in the city of Kaunas, Lithuania. The convenience sample method was used to poll 1292 teenage students in grades 5–12 from five urban secondary schools. The schoolchildren completed the self-reported study questionnaire, which included family structure, family relationships, and status items. Assessment of emotional and behavioral problems was done using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ). The Child Conduct Checklist (CBCL) was used to assess risky behavior, which included questions such as subjective impressions and sentiments about changes in the relationship because of a parent's absence due to migration or divorce (Leskauskas et al., 2020). The findings confirmed that left-behind children had a profile of more risky behaviors, felt unloved, longed for the missing parent, and had thoughts of suicidal ideation or self-injury behavior. Behavioral and mental health problems were higher among left-behind children in comparison to children from divorced families. Adolescent males between the ages of 15 and 19 had more behavioral

and emotional issues. The findings propose that parents migrating and leaving their children behind had adverse effects on their children's mental and emotional well-being. Seventy-one percent of the left-behind children lived without their parents for over a year. Most of the parents who emigrated from both groups (71%) were fathers. Eight percent of left-behind children had both of their parents immigrated. Two out of three children shared that they communicated with their parents for a little over a half and shared that they observed that their mental health had not changed since their parent(s) emigrated. Children whose parents had emigrated were more prone to suicidal ideation. Researchers should expand the study into a longitudinal study that includes participants from rural and urban communities. While the study provides much-needed data on the plight of left-behind children in Lithuania, the study further confirms the need for similar studies on left-behind children in other parts of the world, such as Jamaica.

The findings of a mixed-method research study measuring depression markers emphasized the effect of parental migration on the Caribbean Island of Trinidad and Tobago's children (Jones et al., 2004). A population of 146 children ranging from ages 12 to 16 years participated in the study. Twenty-four children and their caregivers participated in well-structured, detailed interviews. The study revealed that children who were separated from their parents due to migration were two times more likely than other children to have mental health problems, even though their standard of living had improved. With one-third of the children having significantly high levels of depression or interpersonal challenges, Schooling was affected, and some participants experienced suicidal ideation; disparities were found in relation to gender and ethnicity (Jones et al., 2004). Fewer significant differences were found relative to gender and ethnicity.

In addition to separation via the immigration process, many children had to deal with experiencing several losses, which included bereavement, parent divorce, parent incarceration, or changes in caregivers. Belief in their family's reunification and academic performance were factors of resilience among the participants. The study sheds light on the importance of social work education and policy reform, as well as the implications for social work in the future. According to the findings of Jones et al. (2004), the methodology of this research, which places an emphasis on empowering individuals and putting theory into practice, should include more information regarding child-centered evidence-based practices. The study was limited by the small sample size, which meant that the findings could not be generalized. Due to the fact that this specific study only recruited individuals from Trinidad and Tobago, further research should include a larger sample size. Further investigation into the topic is required in order to expand the age range of participants and include people from other English-speaking Caribbean islands.

Impacts of Migration on Behavior Problems

An empirical study was conducted that studied the perceived difficulties and outcomes of young adults who were left-behind as children (Tripa et al., 2020). According to the National Authority for Child Protection and Adoption (NAPDCA, 2017), Romania is one of the leading countries in Europe that sends workers away to work in other countries, and they currently have 93,648 left-behind children. A quantitative study of 193 young Romanians between the ages of 18 and 40 (82.9% women, 17.1% males) found that 69.4% of those polled had never been left behind, while 36.6% had been left behind. There were found to be differences in poor school performances between those that were considered to be left-behind and those who were not considered to be left-behind, as stated by Tripa et al. (2020). Participants who had both of their

parents living overseas scored higher on the occurrences of difficulties, and they scored higher on five out of seven outcomes in the areas of adolescence, including self-injury, violence, drug misuse, and interaction at school. There were no significant differences found between the two groups in anxiety, depression, generalized self-efficacy, or self-perception. With both parents leaving to work abroad, the length of time they stayed away from their child and the age of the child when they went away may explain the different psychological issues left-behind children face and their connection to parents leaving their children to work abroad.

Left-behind children in some Eastern countries, such as China, have high rates of behavior problems (Wen et al. 2019). The purpose of the research was to investigate the effects of physical neglect and trauma on left-behind children as a whole, as well as the ways in which these experiences shape the children's behaviors. Wen et al. (2019) conducted a quantitative study in rural China with 776 children, including 600 left-behind children ages 12 to 16 years old, in 24 classes covering three grades from three junior high schools. The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire—Short Form and the Conners Teacher Rating Scale were used to look at physical neglect and behavior problems. Children with a history of mental illness diagnosis and children with divorced parents were excluded from the study. The study findings confirmed that leftbehind children experienced greater incidents of physical neglect and were less attentive compared to non-left-behind children. Left-behind children who were physically neglected scored higher for behavior problems than those in the control group. The study revealed that leftbehind children face challenges that need further study. The sample size is a limitation of the research; thus, the participant age range should be raised to 18, and a qualitative component should be included. Future cross-sectional research should investigate the relationships between the two groups. This research should be replicated with left-behind children in Jamaica.

Yang et al. (2021) investigated the effects of parental emotional neglect on left-behind children exhibiting behavior problems, negotiating the role of deviant peer affiliation and navigating the role of belief regarding adversity and its relationship to left-behind children exhibiting behavior problems. One hundred and sixty-three participants were sampled in a quantitative study of left-behind children from a rural junior high school in Taiqian County, China. The students completed four questionnaires: The Emotional Neglect Scale measured parental emotional neglect; The Deviant Peer Affiliation Scale was used to measure deviant peer affiliation; The Belief about Adversity Scale measured beliefs about adversity, and externalizing problem behaviors were measured using the Externalizing Problem Behaviors Scale. Researchers examined the outcome of parental emotional neglect on left-behind children. Overall, the average score of the calculated items indicated that the children had higher scores on all four scales, supporting the stress-buffering model. Left-behind children exhibited behavior problems that researchers could predict after controlling for demographic variables, such as parental emotional neglect, which was connected to deviant peer affiliation. The findings suggest the need for further research into the impact of parental emotional neglect and its repercussions on left-behind children who exhibit problematic behaviors.

The research included a higher proportion of male participants than females (61.17% men and 39.83% females). Future research should close the gender gap and discover preventative and intervention strategies to reduce parental emotional neglect and behavioral issues in left-behind children. The way self-reporting individuals recollect their experiences may skew data collection. This research might be repeated with adults who were abandoned in Jamaica. Another theme that impacts this demographic that has come up in recent studies is migration and reunion, which is covered in the next section.

Immigration and Reunification

West Indians have a long history of immigrating to the U.S. However, most research studies usually focus on the experiences during the separation and the reunification of "barrel children" (Fletcher-Anthony, 2009; Gilkes, 2007; Gopaul-McNicol, 1993; Mitchell & Bryan, 2007; Navara & Lollis, 2009; Olwig, 1999; Waters, 1999). The research conducted by Best (2014) looked at the perspectives of mothers on their experiences of separation and reunification. These participants were from immigrant families that had been separated when one or both of the parents immigrated to the United States of America. They have since been reunited with the other parent or parents. According to Best's (2014) research, participants were recruited from churches in Queens, New York, that had a substantial number of West Indian members. The study found that a large number of these transnational immigrant women placed a significant amount of reliance on the church for assistance.

This research methodology illustrates the challenges transnational West Indian immigrant women experience (Fletcher et al., 2018). These cases were selected to highlight the disparity between the experiences of the mothers and the themes that arose from previous research. These situations were selected on purpose to illustrate how dissimilar the mothers' experiences were to those examined in previous research. The study's limitations were that the women in the study were remembering earlier events from years before and relied on memory, which may often be inconsistent and imprecise. Due to the limited sample size of the case study, the results cannot be extrapolated to all West Indian moms. The study could be replicated using a larger sample size that included the experiences of Jamaican left-behind children throughout the U.S.

Smith et al. (2004) investigated the possible impacts of long-term migration on the relationships between children and their parents as well as on the psychological well-being of

children in a research study. The author gathered information from 48 individuals who participated in a study experiment in Toronto, Canada. There were 20 male participants and 28 female participants. The researchers explored the possible psychological impact of migration on the parent-child relationship of left-behind children who reunite with their parents. The participants' mean age was 26.93 years, the mean age of separation was 2.94 years, and the mean age of reunion with parents was 14.43 years.

The majority of the participants were left-behind by their mothers, followed by both of their parents, and then their fathers. Moreover, half of the participants who took part in the study received care in their home country from either one of their grandmothers, both of their grandmothers, an aunt or uncle, a brother or sister, a father, or a neighbor. The number of mothers reunited with their children was the largest, followed by the number of parents and fathers. After moving to a new country, more than half of the participants established new relationships with members of their extended families, such as step-parents or step-siblings. Fewer significant differences were found in children with new family members who reported low self-esteem levels compared to those with their caregivers back home. Over half the boys reported a higher level of deviance when compared to girls at the time of the reunification. Boys were inclined to be less likely to adapt to their parents at reunification while exhibiting low selfesteem during that time. Participants were successful in conforming to the expectations of their caretakers; however, they were unsuccessful in conforming to their parents' expectations upon reunion, and there was decreased family inclusion. According to Smith et al.'s (2004) research, the longer the separation duration, the less the child associated with the parent, and at the time of reunification, the youngster showed less compliance. Future research should be replicated as a longitudinal study that looks at the impact of serial migration on the family structure of

Jamaicans and the successful reunification of left-behind children and their parents. This study could be used as a model to strengthen family reunification among parents and children.

Conducting cross-sectional studies would provide information that could explore the various stages of the separation and reunion processes.

According to Suárez-Orozco et al. (2011), many transnational families experience a lengthy period of separation and reunion; therefore, it is challenging to determine the effect of family separation on adolescents. This research used a subset of data from the Longitudinal Immigration Student Adaptation Study (LISA), N = 407, or 53%, of the study's participants, were from China, Central America, the Dominican Republic, Haiti, and Mexico. Participants had been in the U.S. for a third of their lives. Two hundred and eighty students reported having anxiety and depression outcomes for Years 1 and 5. Researchers discovered no significant differences in any of the factors studied when compared to the LISA final sample of 309. It was reported that almost 75 percent of the individuals who participated in the study said that when they were migrating, they were separated from either one or both of their parents. There were significant differences in how different ethnic groups coped with the separation of their families during migration. Children of Chinese descent were the least likely to be separated during migration (52%), while children of Central American and Haitian descent were the most likely (85%) to be separated from one or both of their parents. Seventy-five percent of the participants were separated from one or both parents for an unexpectedly long period. Some individuals reported being apart from their parents for their entire childhood. The students were enrolled in fifty schools in Boston and San Francisco, both of which have a large immigrant population (Suárez-Orozco et al. 2011).

The study's design did not provide a framework where family separation and reunification could be sufficiently studied, as the available data was not adequately designed to examine family separation. The mixed-method study provided a glimpse into the lives of transnational families dealing with separation and reunification. It also provided information on the countries of origin and the psychological challenges faced by the young participants. The findings of this study should be repeated in subsequent research with a sample size that is inclusive of Jamaican immigrant populations that were left-behind as children. In recent years, very little study has been done on the effects of immigration to the United States on children who were left-behind in other countries. Nonetheless, a study published over ten years ago came to the following conclusion. Contextualizing the timeframe of this article, there is little to no recent study on this subject. Even some of the most recent studies from Lu et al. (2020) are linked to the groundbreaking work done in this field by Suárez-Orozco et al. (2011).

The Longitudinal Immigrant Student Adaptation Study (LISA) was carried out at Harvard University and studied 385 early adolescents from China, Central America, the Dominican Republic, Haiti, and Mexico. Research on this group is often conducted in a clinical setting using a Western theoretical framework. This form of application is not necessarily the most effective one, but it is the one that is most commonly used. A large segment of the nation's children are being raised in households that are headed by immigrants, and a sizable portion of families have been separated for a substantial amount of time due to the geographical barriers that separate them from one another. Both of these trends are concerning for the future of the country. This study sheds light on the difficulties that are faced by this demographic and provides some insight into those difficulties. Eighty-five percent of those polled had been separated from their parent(s) for an extended period of time. Participants were ranked by gender

and country of origin, and they were between the ages of 9 and 14 when they began the study. They were recruited from 51 schools across seven districts in the cities of Boston and San Francisco, and they are being followed in a longitudinal study (Suårez-Orozco et al., 2002).

The interviews were designed to gather data from students and parents on migration, schooling in their home countries, opinions on American schools, mental health, family life, and social networks and relationships. The open-ended, narrative interview questions were translated into Spanish, Haitian Kreyol, Mandarin, and Cantonese. Participants had the option of being interviewed in their preferred language (Suårez-Orozco et al., 2002). Of the youth sampled, 85% were separated from their parents during the migration process. Researchers found significant differences among the ethnic groups involved in the study. Chinese families were found to be more likely to migrate as a family unit. In contrast, Haitian and Central American groups experienced more disruption during the migration process (96% for both groups). Chinese families rarely separated from their mothers, and if they did, it was for 2 to 4 years. Most Mexican youths were separated for less than two years, while 49% of the cases of Central American children were separated for over five years. The results of the study shed light on the challenges immigrant families face in the migration process.

The study's limitations were the grouping of the Caribbean countries into the category of Central America. The Longitudinal Immigrant Student Adaptation Study (LISA) should be replicated to include Jamaica. Study participants were school-age children, so youths who were not currently enrolled in school should be included in future studies. In recent years, there has been a paucity of research on how immigration to the U.S. affects children who are left-behind in the Caribbean and even less on Jamaican left-behind children. It would be beneficial to replicate the research again with more current data on Jamaican LBC. The following was the conclusion

that was reached by a study that was published more than 20 years ago: taking into account the span of time covered by this article, there is very little to no research that can be considered current that addresses the long-term impact of separation on immigrant children. Even some of the more recent research and articles, such as Lu et al. (2020), make reference to the seminal works that were done in this field by Suárez-Orozco et al. (2002, 2011).

According to Lu and Brooks Gunn (2020), comparing the well-being of immigrant children who migrate without their parents to that of those who migrate with their parents has received less attention. This is in contrast to the situation of children who migrate with their parents. The bulk of earlier research focused on clinical and qualitative studies with small samples or solely doctor-visited youngsters, and there are a few notable exceptions. Suárez-Orozco and colleagues (Suárez-Orozco et al., 2002, 2011) evaluated 400 middle childhood and adolescent immigrant children from a few countries and regions (China, Central America, the Dominican Republic, Haiti, and Mexico). The study found that immigrant children who had been separated from their parents were more likely to exhibit signs of anxiety and depression than those who had not been separated. This was especially true in the first years after reunification.

Crawford (2009) conducted a qualitative study on the immigration experiences of eighteen African Caribbean women living in Canada. Interviews were conducted with the participants who took part in the research, and the ages of those who took part ranged from 20 to 76 years old. The eighteen female migrants interviewed included those who had left their children behind in their home country, those who had sent their children to live with grandmothers or other relatives, and a grandmother raising a granddaughter. Ten mothers had migrated without their children, including five from Jamaica, four from Trinidad, and one from St. Kitts. Among the participants, ten children were left at age five or younger; six were under

age two, and the youngest was one year old. Five of the children left-behind were between the ages of 10 and 12. Separation of mother and child ranged from zero to three years, five to eight years, and nine to 12 years, and some women were never reunited with their children. The average age of separation between respondents and their children was 6.4 years, and reunions occurred between the ages of 5 and 19 years old.

Crawford is renowned for coining the phrase "barrel children," and her seminal work is often cited in several papers (Crawford, 2009). The researcher investigated the racialized experiences of transnational mothers who are female migrants in the global context and the intersectionality of gender, race, and class. The goal of the study was to find out what role international migration plays, how it affects gender roles, and how it affects female labor and the families of women who work around the world. Thus, the structure of the African Caribbean mother-child relationship differs from Euro-American expectations of the mother-child relationship, which differ for transnational mothers—gender lines where females nurture (private) and males provide (public). Support for the children came from their mothers abroad in the form of clothing, school supplies, remittance, and other household supplies. African Caribbean women's worker-mother role challenged the rigid dividing roles of typical middleclass families, as the mother had help from family, friends, and the community, who all played a role in caring for the left-behind child. The mother-child reunification among these women was based on various factors, such as immigration status, suitable housing, financial status, etc., in the host country.

Four questions were asked that explored class, race, nationality, settlement, immigration fears, and kinship connections utilized to support transnational families previously and currently in the reunification process (Crawford, 2009). Replicating the study with participants from other

Caribbean countries and increasing the sample size would provide data on Caribbean migration in Canada as well as reunification patterns over time. A large sample of other Caribbean countries would provide the study with a broader range of participants. The study provided pertinent information on left-behind children and their families. However, it did not focus on the lived experiences of adult left-behind children who were reunited with their parents.

The Trauma Impacts Resulting from Migration

Pottinger (2005) conducted a qualitative study that sampled 54 participants, ages 9 to 10 years old, in grades 4 and 5, who were left-behind children from inner-city communities in Jamaica. The sample of 54 respondents represents a larger sample of 90 children. Screening of the children assisted in identifying the students who had some form of parental loss. There were another 27 kids in the control group. Forty-four percent of those sampled had been separated from their parents for more than four years, and they were cared for by mothers, grandmothers, siblings, and family friends. Over half of the children in the migratory separation group had experienced child shifting in guardianship, which was twice that of the children in the control group (Pottinger, 2005).

According to Pottinger (2005), the children's unhappiness with migration was indirectly correlated with their academic performance, especially in mathematics. Being popular among their peers was associated with depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation. However, there was no association with behavior. There was a significant correlation between grief related to missing their parents and academic performance, and those who felt angry scored poorly, especially in the subject of mathematics. Contrary to expectations, there were no behavioral issues; however, being presently exposed to violence at home and in the community was associated with high scores on grief intensity. The study took place in the urban inner cities of Jamaica; the results

could be different if the research included children from across Jamaica from various backgrounds.

The limitations of the study suggested that children whose parents have migrated from violent, low-income, urban communities could be at increased risk for poor school performance and adverse psychological outcomes due to parental-child separation. A significant correlation was found between the children's performance in subjects such as mathematics and suicidal ideation. However, it may not be reliable due to the subsample that responded to the measures. The results support the need for further study of Jamaican left-behind children, which will generate hypotheses for future investigation despite the limitations of the study.

Hine-St. Hilaire (2008) conducted a qualitative exploratory study in the Metropolitan New York area, examining the experiences of twelve adolescent West Indian children who were separated from their mothers and later migrated to the U.S. The selected sample was from clients of community-based programs and churches. A total of 12 adolescents and their mothers responded to the in-depth interview, and their ages ranged from 12 to 21. The study looked at the effects of prolonged separation on children from their families due to immigration. The criteria for children included males ages 12 and 21, separated from their mothers for at least five years. The children had no mental health diagnosis before moving to the U.S., and they were from middle- to low-income families.

Results indicated that the children suffered physical abuse and sexual abuse at the hands of those caring for them (Hine-St. Hilaire, 2008). Some children shared that the caregivers were physically and emotionally present, and they had a good relationship with the caregiver, who was like a mother figure. Most mothers who participated in the study were mainly cooperative, while some shared freely. Some mothers were guarded in their responses, while others were limited;

however, they were willing to participate in the study once they realized how valuable sharing their experiences would be. The adolescents were more open compared to the adults in their responses. The children were left in the care of familiar relatives. The data stated that nine adolescents were securely attached to their mothers before they separated, and they had an attachment to the family member they were left with back in their home country. Three of the twelve children did not recall having a relationship with their mother before they were separated. However, these three adolescents shared that they had secured attachments with their other relatives. The longer the separations, the more challenging it was for the children to develop relationships with their mothers. These children had the greatest level of difficulty adjusting to living in the U.S. Seven of the 12 adolescents were separated over a period of six years. The children who were separated at an early age and experienced extended periods of separation from their mothers had the most difficulty reuniting.

The mothers in the study appeared resistant to answering questions connected to their children's behavior, which could have biased the study, which meant they may not have been forthright in answering the questions asked (Hine-St. Hilaire, 2008). The researcher may not have adequately captured the true sentiments of the adolescents' abuse, so the adolescents may not have been willing to speak openly about the abuse. The study was limited in that it only focused on adolescents and their mothers as participants. The qualitative study sample size was small; therefore, this study should not be used to generalize Jamaican LBC families.

Macro Factors (Economic and Culture)

Bohr and Tse (2009) conducted a qualitative study in Toronto, Canada, with 12 mothers who participated in a psychoeducational parenting group for Chinese-speaking parents who were contemplating sending their infants to China. The parents questioned whether or not to send their

infants to their home country to be reared by relatives. According to cultural tradition, the research examined a transnational lifestyle that is on the rise among North American immigrants who send their infants back to their native country to be raised by extended relatives. The average age of the parents was 26 (range = 24 to 36), and all were university educated and had migrated from mainland China. The children ranged from 5 to 15 months; the average age was ten months—a critical period for the attachment relationship. The families lived in Canada for an average of one to three years, and the average period in Canada was 11.5 years. Four fathers elected to participate in the interview. In keeping with the grounded theory method, the categories emerged from the interview compared to testing hypotheses. Initial findings confirmed that participants anticipated worries regarding interrupting the attachment relationship between child and parent while navigating deeply rooted financial needs and cultural viewpoints.

According to Bohr and Tse (2009), the participants' decision to split from their children was based on two factors: economic and professional considerations owing to a lack of daycare options, and the desire to preserve their native cultural values. These decisions profoundly affected the parents, who were still uncertain about how the process would go. These two principles grounded the parents' decision-making process; nonetheless, a central theme of profound ambivalence pervaded this process. According to the categories, parents struggle with the positive and negative aspects of the schemas and themes of sadness, suffering, guilt, and resignation or loss of control. All participants shared how challenging it was to start over and care for a child without the support of extended family or a social network that they had in their home country. Parents rationalize that they felt compelled to send their children away before age six due to mitigating factors. Some parents felt that their child would have attachment issues when reunited and that their returning child would have behavior problems. At the end of the

interview, two parents said they felt too connected to their children to separate from them, despite the good reason they had to do so.

Limitations of the study included the sample size, the study was exploratory, and the participants studied were children five months to ten months old with Chinese Canadian immigrant parents. The participants were only from Toronto, and future studies should be replicated on a larger scale to include Jamaican immigrant participants across Canada.

Conclusion

The term "barrel children" refers to children left in the care of relatives or friends when their parents relocate to another country for employment. They get tangible items in the form of shipping barrels and financial rewards, but they often lack emotional support from their parents (Crawford, 2009). For many families in the Caribbean, the practice of leaving children behind with family members and friends in a kinship setting while they emigrate to a foreign country for economic reasons has been happening for years. There is a dearth of literature addressing the population of barrel children; therefore, more research is needed on this population. In conclusion, the data from this study supports the need for culture-focused research that focuses on meeting the needs of left-behind families in a transcultural way. While this study does not cover all aspects of left-behind families, it provides insight into the outcomes of families who have made the difficult decision to leave their children behind. The gap that this research addresses is that of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a mother who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S.

Chapter Four: Theoretical Framework

A theoretical framework is defined as the "blueprint" or guide on which the study is built. The framework is based on existing theory and explains how the research was conducted. The theoretical framework strengthens qualitative research measures and connects the academic and physical components observed in the data pertinent to the topic. This helped the researcher methodically convey the measure of the theory studied and apply it in a structured manner that aligns with the subject under observation (Grant & Osanloo, 2014).

This study was informed by the following theoretical frameworks: New Economic Labor Migration (NELM) and the Transnational Feminist Theory (TFT). Both NELM and TFT emphasize the significance of women's rights across international borders, as well as the financial role that remittances play in assisting transnational families. Both describe the connection between individuals and family systems and how these connections guide decision-making. As a result, it is critical to examine TFT while considering the role of gender and parenting in this chapter. For this reason, there should be a great deal of care given to the examination of the role that migration and gender play in the lives of left-behind families. While these ideas address different areas of the research, they are interconnected since gender, social values, and beliefs might impact how children are reared, especially those abandoned by their parents.

New Economic Labor Migration (NELM) Theory

The NELM has its origins in the neoclassical economic theory school of thought, which is the oldest migration theory. According to this theory, wage differences across regions are a primary motivator for people to migrate. These types of wage discrepancies are a result of geographical variations in labor demand and labor supply. Thus, pay inequities are the main

reason for labor migration from nations with low wages to those with high wages (Borajas, 1989; Jennissen, 2007; Massey et al., 1993; Taylor, 1999). The NELM theory states that immigration and remittances alleviate market restrictions (such as income, capital, and insurance) experienced by impoverished families. Migration scholars were very divided for most of the 20th century, with neoclassical and historical-structural approaches to migration being the two main schools of thought. In response to migration, idealist theories seemed to be too rigid in handling the complexities of migration in terms of growth and connections. It is the school of thought known as "neoclassical economic theory" that is responsible for the origins of economic migration (Jennissen, 2007; Taylor, 1999). According to this view, income disparities between different regions are the most important factor driving individuals to migrate. Additional factors, such as worker productivity and the size of an employer's staff organization, play a role in determining salary disparities across different geographic locations. The NELM theory guided this study and posits that immigration and remittances address market constraints (income, capital, insurance) faced by poor households.

History

NELM was first presented in 1985 at the American Economic Association by Stark and Bloom (1985). NELM emerged in the 1980s as a response to migration. In this context, NELM positioned itself as a theoretical "third way" between the two latter methods and was asserted to be able to reconcile agency and structure in a manner that had previously been unachievable by either of the two approaches (Abreu, 2012). Oded Stark's NELM is the first complete theory of international migration that assigns a prominent role to remittances (Taylor, 1999). Stark and Bloom (1985) laid the groundwork, while Stark (1991) compiled most of the studies that developed the theory.

Labor Migration

The NELM occurs when poverty is concentrated inside the family or household rather than the individual (Stark, 1991). In other words, determining which family member would migrate in search of employment was a family choice and was not left up to an individual family member. Families looked for ways to increase their income and decrease their risks when the economies were unstable due to failing markets. Living in an unstable economy created opportunities for families who received remittances from their families living abroad, as well as opportunities for an increase in salary in comparison to the rest of their community (Stark, 1991).

Remittance

NELM connects the causes of migration to financial remittances and emphasizes the continuous connection between the migrant and the family in the home country. Remittance is a common money transfer payment method where migrants send money to families in their home country using traditional and nontraditional methods (Hagen-Zanker, 2015). Many people living in countries where they are experiencing poverty continue to benefit from remittance as a means to improve their families' lives. According to this theory, remittances have the potential to have a significant impact on the economies of countries and can act as a form of financial protection for many people living in developed nations who, in the absence of these funds, would not be able to provide for their families in their home countries (Taylor, 1999; Zuk & Zuk, 2017).

According to Levitt (1998) and Taylor (1999), migration and remittances are influenced by two extremes, each with its own set of assumptions: "the developmentalist" and "Dutch disease." The "developmentalist" extreme is associated with NELM, which contends that when families band together, they can generate funds for new projects and mitigate risk to production

and remittance, thereby alleviating the production and investment constraints people in developing countries face. Remittances, money, or products sent by migrants to family and friends in their home countries are frequently the most direct and well-known relationship between migration and development. Remittance provides additional income that can be used for more significant investments or expenditures that the family could not otherwise afford. Remittances, or the possibility of remittances, started an economic process by easing the investment and financing constraints that families in poor developing nations faced (Taylor, 1999). The other factor that influences extreme migration and remittances is the "Dutch disease." The "Dutch disease" or "migrant syndrome" (Reichert, 1981) perspective is at the other end of the spectrum. It contends that lucrative migratory activities drain labor and money from migrantsending nations, restricting the local production of marketable commodities. The migration process is ongoing and self-directed. Massey et al. (1998) posit that regions and even countries have developed labor migration expertise over time. Due to the complexity of the migration literature, it is difficult to pinpoint the precise nature of the connections between international migration, remittances, and development. Therefore, migration is a complicated subject to theorize and research methodologically.

According to De Haas and Rodriguez (2010), in the NELM theory, remittances play a vital role since money earned from working may be sent home to aid the family in improving their financial status. As a result, the family would have a safety net in place and additional money that may be utilized for other investments or expenditures that the family can now afford. Motivation for migrating was a collective decision, not one made by individuals; instead, the decision was made by the family unit within a broader societal context (Stark & Bloom, 1985). NELM is based on the assumption that everyone in the family benefits and is dependent on the

belief that the members of the household are practical and committed to participating in this positive long-term financial plan.

The NELM theory is seen as a family unit response to the risk associated with income as migrant remittance functions as income insurance for households back home, thus serving as a buffer against unemployment, crop failure, and falling prices (Lucas & Stark, 1995; Stark & Bloom, 1985). Migration negatively affects those in sending communities because it promotes inequality. According to Lipton (1980) and Zachariah et al. (2001), the characteristics of migrants are those who are gainfully employed, better educated, and business minded. Therefore, remittance, along with other advantages, would benefit individuals who are already financially well off.

Many Caribbean migrants from lower socioeconomic groups seek jobs abroad in order to better their families' lives. This employment could be for a short or long period of time and have the potential to improve their financial situation, causing many parents to leave their children in the care of family members or friends while they are away (Pottinger, 2005). NELM proposed a more precise outlook on migration growth, with responses that are both progressive and unconstructive being possible (Taylor, 1999). This new method exemplifies migration as an opportunity to share information on household behavior. According to the NELM, moving to a new country can help families deal with the operational and spending constraints they face in an imperfect economy and connect them to income growth opportunities.

This theoretical framework sheds light on why individuals leave their home country when wage differentials are significant. Potential migrants discuss the possibility of increasing income with others in their social circle by comparing their relatives' aspirations to improve their financial status in life to those in their community. Migration is more prevalent among people

from communities where income is distributed equally (Stark, 1984). Jamaican immigrants have a long history of migrating to the U.S. in search of employment.

Transnational Feminist Theory

For several decades, women have been leaving their home countries to work overseas so they can provide economic opportunities for their families. The feminization of migration has resulted in a larger number of women moving abroad in search of employment opportunities rather than family reunification. Contributing factors to these trends include increased demand for cheaper laborers providing services in caregiving and healthcare, inequalities in wealth and opportunities between countries, and private recruitment agencies implementing policies that aggressively recruit new employees (Platonova & Geny, 2017). It is an analytical lens formed via the collaboration between scholars and activists from around the globe. Transnational feminism theory is a dynamic and changing framework (Tambe & Thayer, 2021).

History

TFT was initially introduced in 1994 by Inderpal Grewal and Caren Kaplan in their landmark work "Scattered Hegemonies: Postmodernity and Transnational Feminist Practices" (Grewal & Kaplan, 1994). Transnational feminism is discussed alongside other concepts of feminism, modernity, and postmodernity. The word "transnational" refers to a concept that came into being as a method to characterize the significantly rising migration of people, commodities, images, and theories beyond the boundaries of a country in an age of global competition (Conway, 2019).

The initiatives to develop worldwide solidarity and collaboration among feminists, particularly those who have been marginalized, are key characteristics of transnational feminism (Fernandes, 2013). This approach is more inclusive and diverse, and it includes members of

marginalized groups whose work has widened knowledge of injustice at the local, national, and global levels. Weinbaum et al. (2008) argue that in order to successfully develop a constructive transnational, inclusive framework, feminists from wealthy countries need to demonstrate cultural humility. Feminists from the Global South and the Global North must collaborate to build a framework that is more accepting of diversity. The power structures that have often resulted in uneven relations between the two groups must be dismantled. The concept of "transnational feminism" referred to a strategy that relied on the formation of strategic and wellplanned alliances amongst feminists residing in various regions of the globe. In addition to bringing attention to interactions that take place beyond international borders, transnational feminism investigated networks in an effort to get a deeper understanding of the unequal and complex ways in which power is exerted (Grewal & Kaplan, 1994; Weinbaum et al., 2008). Collins et al. (2019), Conway (2019), and Zerbe et al. (2021) posit that transnational feminism empowers women to be heard by males whose viewpoints are often ignored. Respect for diversity requires an understanding of global power imbalances as well as regional perspectives. The creation of effective international collaboration requires cultural humility on the part of feminists in the Global North.

A global feminist perspective is becoming more important as present realities become more complicated and unpredictable (Collins et al., 2019; Conway, 2019; Zerbe, 2021; Grewal & Kaplan, 1994). Gendered relationships and experiences in a geopolitical context are the focus of transnational feminist perspectives, which account for the diverse experiences of women who live within, between, or on the margins or boundaries of nation-states around the world. Transnational feminist perspectives transcend national-state boundaries and speak to a diverse range of interacting forces that influence gendered relationships and experiences in a global

political context. TFT literature includes perspectives of immigrants, refugees, displaced people, members of an ethnic immigrant population dispersed across multiple regions, and third world-culture people, as well as women living in culturally disadvantaged situations and environments in which they appear invisible (Horne & Arora, 2013; Zerbe et, al, 2021). Transnational feminist theory focuses on the diverse experiences of women who lived on the outskirts or at the borders of nation-states. The transnational feminism theory emphasizes social activism and justice, intersectionality, collaboration, and interdisciplinary work (Castro et al., 2020).

Alexander and Mohanty (1997) argued that intersectionality and social justice are the complex interaction among social identities experienced by an individual. Transnational feminists use post-colonialist ideas to comprehend the power dynamics ingrained in the interaction of gender, economic, racial, class, and historical factors. Transnational feminism focuses on oppressive forces like economic exploitation, structural racism, extreme forms of capitalism, and gendered racism because of its history and global structure (Ozcan, 2018). Transnational feminist theory gives voice to many women from third-world countries such as Jamaica.

Feminist United

Children and family members left-behind might develop a feeling of abandonment due to migration. When a family member migrates to another country, the period of separation depends on the financial situation of the immigrant parent (Hundle et al., 2019). According to Hundle et al. (2019), the work of self-identified women of color feminists in the Global North and postcolonial academics, or "Third World feminists," in the North and South has inspired and developed transnational feminism as activism and research. With the rise of hetero-patriarchal and white nationalism worldwide, it is imperative that transnational feminists participate in

critical engagement by collaborating with those on the left and the right, therefore developing appropriate theoretical and methodological approaches.

TFT connects the predicament of many Jamaican women who left their children behind while working overseas to support their families. TFT and practice stress intersectionality, diversity, social action, justice, participation, and collaboration. Gender disparities and inequalities, such as diverse purposes and viewpoints for discussing gender problems and varied perspectives on conceiving agency, undermine the misconception that women all over the globe share the same beliefs, inequities, injustices, and rights. Transnational feminism is notable for emphasizing the intersections, overlaps, and divergences of identities. When power relations are examined from other perspectives, gender is woven into a complex web that includes sexism, racism, and heterosexism (Moallem, 1999; Mohanty, 2003). Grewal & Kaplan, 1(994) argues that a number of approaches can be taken to address the issue of gender inequality. One of these approaches examines the ways in which injustices are studied in transnational feminist theory. This includes the role colonialism and postcolonial feminism played and the effects that these concepts had on transnational women as a socioeconomic component that promotes power imbalances, including economic circumstances and global capitalism. According to scholars, examples of socioeconomic factors that foster power imbalances are some of the factors that contribute to power imbalances. Many Jamaican mothers who left their children behind for economic reasons are recognized by transnational feminist theory as it includes disenfranchised and marginalized women from the diaspora.

Tambe and Thayer (2021) suggest that the transnational feminist movement is still in its infancy compared to prior activity and must be expanded. The rise of the political right has pushed feminism off the global stage it occupied in the late 1990s. At the same time, they are

expanding the institutionalized entities that control the feminist movement as it seeks to evolve and become a more inclusive movement. Transnational feminism builds on the notion of intersectionality, highlighting historical factors and global structures such as colonialism, structural racism, gendered racism, economic exploitation, and other kinds of globalization that bolster northern world regions (Grabe & Else-Quest, 2012). Finally, transnational feminist theory creates a place for women like Jamaican women, who left their children behind in search of better opportunities. As a result, transnational feminists must continue to fight for marginalized women's rights to be included in the feminist discourse, therefore making room for those who do not have a seat at the table.

Application of Theories to the Study

The theories fit into the current research topic as they provide a framework for understanding the challenges adult left-behind children who were left in Jamaica face after being reunited with their parents in the U.S. The theories help explain why some mothers leave their children in their home countries to seek a better life overseas. It also sheds light on the challenges these women face in being recognized by the mainstream feminist movement due to the color of their skin and the geographical region they are from, which, in turn, dismiss the unique issues they face as a population. More specifically, these theories collectively address elements of each research question. For example, TFT is appropriate because it considers the diverse experiences of Jamaican women who live within, between, or at a country's boundaries. Data notes that most people who move transnationally are women, many of whom are mothers. Therefore, it is crucial to understand that while the feminist worldwide movement must become more inclusive, they will be able to address transnational women's issues, so together, they are able to fight the oppressive patriarchal system that affects all women. When the feminist

movement is united worldwide, it will be able to dismantle the patriarchal system that forces many Jamaican women to leave their home countries to seek employment and a better life outside of their home country.

Additionally, the theory considers the interactive forces for Jamaican women who are mothers and who have left their children behind to travel transnationally (Gabaccia, 2016; Hoang & Yeoh, 2012; Paul, 2015; Zerbe Enns et al., 2021). This theoretical framework helped in framing the purview and captures the transcultural immigrant experiences of Jamaican women who are transitory mothers, as captured in RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3. Furthermore, it directly connects to the following key concepts in the research questions: "immigrate," "emigrate," "parent," "mother" "child," "left-behind."

NELM speaks to the challenges parents face in making the decision to separate from their children. These four elements are also represented in RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3. More specifically, these elements are connected directly to the following key concepts in each research question: "adult immigrants," childhood "impact," and adult "impact." These theories are appropriate for this research because most Jamaican women who have left their home country and their children behind to travel internationally travel because of economic stability changes for their families.

Therefore, these theories address the tension that may exist and the potential losses that may exist as a result of this decision, so they are appropriate for this research. The qualitative research points to specific parts of the participants' selection that lend themselves to interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) in the decision made in the methodology. The participants to be selected will be Jamaican adults who were left-behind by a parent who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S., and they will share their lived experiences. As a result, the

relationship between the two theories provides insight into why Jamaican parents, who are often women, are separated from their children.

Conclusion

The NELM and TFT examine the relevance of creating a place for all women in the feminist movement and are similar in that they explain what happens when a member of a particular population is marginalized and discriminated against. The NELM theorizes that migration occurs when poverty is experienced by families or households instead of individuals. With many Caribbean countries facing extreme poverty, many Jamaican women, in an attempt to provide for their families and increase income, make the decision to seek employment abroad, often leaving their children behind in their home country. Upon arrival in the host country, they are able to work and send remittances back to their families in Jamaica. TFT is a theoretical approach to a global women's activism movement in which women collaborate to study and prepare for women's rights and gender justice issues. Both theories disproportionately affect poor and marginalized women living in regions like Jamaica affected by poverty, who are often forgotten by mainstream white feminist groups and the world at large.

The NELM theorizes that families collectively decide which family member will go abroad to seek employment. The TFT posits that the feminist movement and many marginalized transnationals, which include Jamaicans, Black Indigenous People of Color (BIPOC), and women worldwide, are often left to fight for their rights and are often not included in the sisterhood of their white counterparts in first-world countries. Therefore, perpetuating the patriarchal system of oppression similarly, but without the element of gender, the NELM theory is appropriate for this study because it addresses family decision-making processes, economics, remittances, and the impact of family functioning. functioning. According to the NELM theory,

the immigrant can send remittances to help family members in the home country. This remittance helps the economy of the developing country where their family member resides, which allows the families who have family members living abroad to work and invest more freely (Taylor, 1999).

Chapter Five: The Research Question

This study examined the childhood experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a parent who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. To be more precise, the research investigated how adult children who were left-behind while their mother immigrated to the U.S. processed the occurrence and adjusted to being separated from their parents. The problem of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a parent(s)who came from Jamaica to the U.S. has received very little attention as it relates to the effect that it has had on children. The term "transnational" is an umbrella term that was coined to describe "the dramatic influx of people, things, images, and ideas across the borders of nation-states during the "globalization" era" (Conway, 2019).

The construction of research questions is pivotal before embarking on research. They seek to investigate and address present ambiguity in an area of concern and the imminent need for deliberate investigation, which is vital in constructing good research questions (Ratan et al., 2019). To better understand the lived experiences of adult immigrants from the Caribbean to the U.S. who were left by their parents and later reunited. The research questions set out below will be explored.

Research Questions

Overarching Research Question: What were the experiences of adults who stayed in Jamaica while their mother immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years (0 to 18 years old)? Research Sub-Question #1: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time before their mother's immigration?

Research Sub-Question #2: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time during and after their mother's immigration?

Research Sub-Question #3: What do these individuals see as the lasting impacts of their mother's and their own immigration journeys?

Chapter Six: Research Methodology

This chapter presents the methodology that was used to explore the lived experiences of adult immigrants from Jamaica to the U.S. who were left-behind when their mother immigrated to the U.S. The first section of this chapter discusses the reason for the study, which includes qualitative research utilizing the IPA phenomenological approach. The second part of this chapter discusses the study participants, data collection, and analysis of detailed procedures the researcher will use to measure and validate trustworthiness. Finally, this chapter discusses the ethical considerations for researching human subjects related to this study.

Research Design: Qualitative Method

This study uses a qualitative research design approach to investigate the childhood experiences of adult Jamaican immigrants who were left-behind when their mother immigrated to the U.S. and then later reunited in the U.S. A qualitative analysis was employed since it transforms the world by making it visible via the application of a set of interpretative frameworks.

The phenomenological approach was used in this study's qualitative approach. A thorough interview was conducted to collect data from participants and identify the categories of responses. These categories helped explain the lived experiences of this sample. A commitment to research entails studying things in their natural environments, as well as the understanding that individuals bring to them (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Furthermore, qualitative research is a form of social investigation that seeks to give meaning to how individuals comprehend and make sense of their daily experiences in the world. This activity locates the observer and their position in the world by attempting to interpret the practices that make their reality visible (Jindal et al., 2015).

Research Method

Qualitative research is an interactive process that seeks to understand the scientific community through clear distinctions, thus gaining closer access to the phenomenon studied. (Aspers & Corte, 2019). Qualitative research starts with expectations involving interpretive/theoretical frameworks, helping to clarify the explanation of a research problem, social or human problem, and how individuals or groups give meaning to it. Qualitative research seeks to understand methodological approaches to inquire and conduct research in the natural settings of the people and places under study, which consists of data analysis, thus, building a holistic picture from which themes and patterns emerge (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

Researchers use the qualitative approach to explore, investigate, and study social phenomena and provide meaning to the lived experience of people by providing a rich understanding of their social life. The fundamental values of qualitative research involve people's personal experiences and how they make sense of the process and obtain a deep understanding of the sample and its findings. Qualitative research was appropriate for this study since the central role was to explore, describe, or explain; therefore, qualitative research was best suited to investigate the childhood experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind when their mother migrated to the U.S. and then later reunited in the U.S. (Leavy, 2014).

In the most basic terms, quantitative research methods are concerned with collecting and analyzing structured data that can be represented numerically. Although quantitative research is generally used to explain phenomena, in most instances, quantitative research is often interested in collecting and analyzing data that is structured and numerically represented. However, it does not provide insight into the way participants think and feel or the behavior behind the behavior being observed. Quantitative research was not suitable for this study as the reason for this study

is to capture the experiences and gain an understanding of the childhood experiences of adult Jamaican immigrants who were left-behind when their mother migrated to the U.S. and then reunited in the U.S. (Goertzen, 2017).

Qualitative researchers observe individuals in their natural environments in an effort to comprehend or interpret things based on the meanings they attribute to them. Case studies, firsthand experiences, reflections, personal narratives, meetings, observational, historical, interactive, and visual texts are all empirical resources that may be used in qualitative research. The focus of these materials is on the recurrence and severity of adversity in people's lives, as well as the consequences of such experiences (Denzin et al., 2005).

As a result, a qualitative study is best suited for this study because its goal is to gain an understanding, shed light on the subject matter, and raise awareness about the challenges of adult left-behind children who have been separated from their parents. Using a qualitative approach provides for the discussion of adult left-behind children who have been separated from their parents. As a result, it provides individuals with a platform to communicate their perspectives on their lived experiences. This study aims to highlight the importance of understanding the impact culture can have on the experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a parent who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S.

A major gap in the previous literature was the lack of representation of Jamaican families, particularly adults left-behind as children who were reunited in the U.S. The NELM and TFT guided this research. This design was a good fit since it engaged participants in a difficult topic while highlighting the challenges affecting many Jamaican immigrant families.

Phenomenology

A phenomenological approach was selected because it provided an avenue through which the participants could share their experiences in a diagrammatic and expressive format.

According to Patton (2002), phenomenology is the process of seeing, explaining, feeling, judging, recalling, making sense of, and sharing one's lived experiences with others. According to Neubauer et al. (2019), phenomenology is a type of qualitative research that concentrates on studying the lived experiences of individuals in the world. Phenomenology is essentially the study of how a person perceives the world through their lens. By subjectively analyzing one's life experience, appreciation is developed, and education occurs as a result. A phenomenology research project seeks to collect a detailed description of how a group of individuals perceives a certain phenomenon. The objective of phenomenology is to provide an explanation for the significance of what and how individuals experience the world. Thus, a phenomenological method is appropriate for exploring and understanding the lived experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a parent who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S.

Hermeneutic Phenomenology

The purpose of this study was to examine the lived experiences of adult Jamaican immigrants who were left-behind when their mother immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. through the use of a hermeneutic phenomenological approach to qualitative research. Hermeneutic phenomenology is a term that refers to a method for making sense of people's lived experiences that is employed in research. Hermeneutic phenomenology is defined as the theory of meaning and interpretation. As a result, a researcher employs empirical research methods to gather lived experiences and assess the meanings of shared data to arrive at a conclusion (Suddick et al., 2020).

Hermeneutic phenomenology can be used to investigate and explain the lived childhood experiences of adult Jamaican immigrants who were left-behind and later reunited with their parent(s). Hermeneutic phenomenology has one perspective that recommends that the researcher transcribe the interpretation in relation to the event, suggesting that an interpretation happens when the analysis of the text is used to find meaning. Using hermeneutic phenomenology, the researcher conducted a rigorous and consistent ethical dimension approach to obtain reliable and accurate information (Fuster, 2019). For instance, the scholar undertaking the study informed the participants about the ethical principles incorporated when collecting personal experience information for research. Ethical considerations affiliated with the hermeneutic phenomenology model include informed consent, confidentiality, justice, truth-telling, doing no harm, and autonomy. The participants were expected to and did respond positively, sharing their experiences in depth once they verified the researcher's credibility (Fuster, 2019; Varkey, 2021). The goal was to give meaning and understanding to the experiences by searching for themes, capturing data via interpretation, and focusing less on the essence that is relevant to describing the lived experience (Fuster, 2019; Varkey, 2021).

Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA)

The researcher uses interpretive phenomenological analysis (IPA) to analyze the transcripts to better understand the childhood experiences of adult Jamaican immigrants who were left-behind by their mother and later reunited in the U.S. from Jamaica. IPA is a flexible and interpretive approach that allows new and less experienced researchers to examine the participants' detailed experiences (Smith et al., 2009). IPA is a qualitative analytic method that seeks to provide detailed investigations of the participants' lived experiences and has its theoretical roots in the philosophical movements of phenomenology and hermeneutics. IPA uses

an idiographic method, which means that the data from each semi-structured interview must be carefully analyzed separately and then put together at the end of the analysis process. It is distinguished as a branch of qualitative research by its focus on similarities and contrasts in experiences, as well as its goal to study a thorough analysis of the actual experiences of a small number of participants. Therefore, IPA researchers are given access to the participant's experience and try to understand the participant's point of view; they co-construct the meaning of the participant's experience through interpretive activities, and multiple themes are shared (Alase, 2017; Pietkiewicz et al., 2014; Smith, 2011; Smith & Osborn, 2015).

Context of the Study

According to the Migration Policy Institute (Lorenzi & Batalova, 2022), close to 90 % of immigrants in the United States from the 13 Caribbean countries and 17 dependent territories come from one of four countries: Cuba, the Dominican Republic, Jamaica, and Haiti. Jamaican immigrants are the third-largest group among Caribbean immigrants in the United States.

According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2015), the highest concentration of Jamaicans in the US resides in Florida (26%) and New York (31%). Other lesser numbers reside in Virginia, North Carolina, Texas, and California. The metropolitan New York region has the largest concentration of Jamaicans (330,944). Therefore, in order to accurately represent the Jamaican population in the U.S., the researcher will make every effort to recruit adult Jamaicans from around the country. The researcher is a native of Jamaica residing in the state of New York, has deep roots in Jamaica, and, upon immigrating to the U.S., has made connections with the Jamaican diaspora in certain parts of the U.S. This gave the researcher credibility; the researcher was confident that participants would, and did, talk to her.

Data and Subjects

Recruitment

Recruitment for this study occurred in two steps. The researcher advertised using social media platforms and flyers in spaces where potential respondents from transnational communities were identified, such as Jamaican markets and Jamaican restaurants. Additionally, the researcher distributed flyers through personal networks, such as a faith group that has a large Jamaican congregation with members in New York and other parts of the US. Snowball recruiting was also employed.

The first point of contact was made through participants responding to the researcher's outreach efforts. If the survey's inclusion criteria were met, the consent form was then sent to the prospective participant (Appendix A). Participants received a follow-up phone call one week after the initial contact to request and confirm their participation. The recruiting process was completed when the researcher obtained the maximum number of participants for the research study (determined to be 15 participants; 1 pilot participant and 14 interview participants).

The eligible criteria included present residency in the United States and national origin from Jamaica, an island in the Caribbean. Participants have to be older than 18 to participate. Adults who self-identified as "barrel children," "left-behind children," or "transnational" and who were raised apart from their mothers for a period of zero to 18 years as a result of their mothers' immigration to the U.S. The interview date, time, and manner of conducting the interview were determined after meeting the eligibility criteria. It was explained to each participant that their names would not be used for identification; instead, a number was used in lieu of their names.

Participants came from New York and other states within the U.S. where Jamaicans reside. Thus, the research was not geographically restricted.

The consent form was explained, and any participant concerns/questions were addressed. Participants who agreed to participate in the study were required to sign the consent form. The researcher used the Zoom Video Communication platform to interview the participants.

According to Gray et al. (2020), Zoom enables researchers to conduct in-person interviews in a cost-effective and convenient manner. Each interview was recorded using the Zoom platform; participants could turn off their video, but the researcher's camera was left turned on. Most of the participants did not turn their cameras off. Zoom transcription, an online VoIP transcription service, transcribed the Zoom audio recordings. All interview recordings were maintained in a password-protected file on the researcher's laptop, and a backup file was kept on a password-protected Google drive linked with the researcher's institution. Participants received a \$20 Amazon e-card in exchange for their participation in this research. The permission form contained information about the study's voluntary nature and the participant's right to withdraw at any time.

Inclusion Criteria

Inclusion criteria included national origin from the Caribbean Island of Jamaica, located in the West Indies, and current residence in the U.S. Participants had to be over the age of 18. Adults who were separated from their mother as children for ages zero to 18 years due to their mother immigrating to the U.S. and who self-identified as "barrel children," "left-behind children," or "transnational" were eligible for participation.

Exclusion Criteria

Exclusion criteria included those who were under the age of eighteen, as well as those from the French, Spanish, or Dutch-speaking Caribbean, were barred from participating for IRB purposes. International students, those following parents on temporary work assignments, and those who migrated with their parents were also excluded. Participants who were left-behind but were not born in Jamaica, did not currently live in the U.S., or who did not identify as left-behind children were also excluded.

Sampling Method

Purposive and snowball sampling was used because they are focused and strategic in reaching out to hard-to-reach participants. Snowball is considered one of the most popular qualitative research sampling methods as it focuses on networking and referral as its central characteristics (Parker et, al, 2019). Snowball sampling is a chain-referral method where the initial recruits (seeds) who meet eligibility criteria and, upon agreeing to participate in the study, recruit other participants from their social network with distinctive characteristics, and those persons identify other individuals (Valerio et al., 2016). Snowball sampling is widely used in qualitative research in various sciences, including social sciences. This method was used and the researcher asked each interviewee to provide at least one name of a potential participant, so the sample size grew like a rolling snowball. Recruitment stopped when the desired number of participants was met. Snowball sampling was used to recruit participants' since it can reduce reluctance among participants and protect their identity (Kirchherr & Charles, 2018).

The strength of purposive sampling is in selecting examples that one can learn from while capturing the issue of most importance, thus gaining more knowledge about a research topic.

Purposive sampling is a qualitative research approach for gathering and capturing data that is

both rich in information and uses limited resources. The objective of purposive sampling is to capture a representation of a population in order to generalize while shedding light on the subject that is being investigated. One of the goals of purposive sampling is to capture the diversity that exists within a population. With purposive sampling, the researcher is intentional about including "outliers," which are often conveniently discounted by quantitative approaches. Purposive sampling puts the researcher in the driver's seat rather than being dependent on selection bias and a characteristic of a pre-existing group. It enables "the exception to prove the rule" by highlighting commonly occurring procedures and interactions through contrasts. In other words, it helps bring deviant cases into the light (Barbour, 1999; Barbour, 2001; Creswell & Plano Clark, 2017; Frankland & Bloor, 1999; Mays & Pope, 1995; Patton, 2015).

Sample Size

There is no straightforward answer to the question of how many should be included in a qualitative sample. Qualitative research experts argue that several factors, such as epistemological, methodological, and practical issues, should be taken into account (Baker & Edwards, 2012). According to Padgett (2017), the smaller the sample size, the more intense and detailed the data collection. The projected sample size enables researchers to obtain an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon being studied (Padgett, 2008) and to achieve code and theme saturation (Hennink et al., 2017).

Researchers in phenomenological qualitative studies seek to collect in-depth information about the lived experience of the individual; between five to 25 participants were sought to complete this study using the phenomenological approach (Creswell, 2007). Creswell (2007) argues for between five to 25 participants, while Baker & Edwards (2012) posits six to 20 participants. Although the literature implies that a sample size of five would be sufficient, it did

not seem to be a rich enough dataset for the researcher's intended study, while 25 appears excessive. It was anticipated that a sample of 15 participants would provide sufficient information for the researcher, particularly if the interviews are rich. Ultimately, 15 participants were recruited for the current study.

Measures

The interview questions were left open-ended so that respondents could describe their individual experiences. To ensure that all participants received the questions and probes consistently, the questions were written and pilot tested with one participant. which included probing and specific prompts. The semi-structured interview questions for this proposed study were informed by the researcher's existing scholarly literature review, the researcher's practice experience, NELM, and TFT.

To obtain optimal responses, the researcher prepared for follow-up questions or prompts. Thus, the researcher used probing questions to explain and guide the participants to reach the desired richness and depth. The interview protocol was field-tested with one participant, who was later eliminated from the sample pool. According to DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019), the use of semi-structured interviews is the primary source of qualitative data research, enabling the researcher to collect open-ended data and delve deeper into participants' thoughts, feelings, and beliefs about a particular subject. It can also delve into personal and occasionally sensitive issues (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Padgett, 2017). In addition, demographic information was collected in the first meeting, including age, location, level of education, marital status, age separated from parents, and age reunited. A copy of the final interview guide is provided in Appendix C.

Pilot Testing

Pilot testing of the research questions was undertaken with one participant who met the inclusion/exclusion criteria. During the pilot testing, the participant became significantly upset over the use of the term "stayed behind" in Jamaica, noting that this term did not reflect their experience and that they did not have a choice about remaining in Jamaica. The participant was upset enough to suggest that she might need to go to therapy to address the experience of being left-behind, as the term "stayed behind" brought back painful memories. The researcher provided the participant with mental health information. The term "stayed behind" was removed from both the interview and research questions as per the pilot study.

Data Collection

The researcher interviewed each participant for approximately 90 minutes. Using a consistent format guaranteed that all relevant information was obtained, and that time was used appropriately. As mentioned previously, demographic information was collected in the first meeting, including age, location, level of education, marital status, age separated from parents, and age reunited.

Interviews

The researcher conducted phenomenological interviews through Zoom. Zoom is a video and conferencing technology that is also known as Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) (Archibald et al., 2019). Zoom is a cloud-based, collaborative video-conferencing platform that provides online meetings, group chat capabilities, and secure session recording. Zoom, like comparable services such as Skype, allows real-time communication with geographically distant individuals through a computer, tablet, or mobile device (Zoom Video Communications Inc., 2016). Interviews were recorded and transcribed by Zoom.

Bracketing

At the beginning of the research project, the researcher identified and bracketed previous knowledge and biases about the phenomenon. Bracketing involves the researcher abstaining from judgment or deviating from the conventional, everyday way of perceiving things. In practice, bracketing is defined as a technique for separating the researcher's personal experiences from the subject being investigated. To practice "bracketing," a critical component of phenomenology, researchers must set aside personal ideas, research presuppositions, inherent knowledge, and preconceptions as distinct from what they observe during the research process (Chan et al., 2013; Creswell, 2007).

Data Analysis

The data analysis was undertaken as an inductively summative assessment to aid in the formation of ideas that are improved, tested, evolved, and emerged as significant from the text (Assarroudi et al., 2018). The researcher examined the data using a thematic analysis technique. A thematic analysis enables the identification, organization, analysis, and reporting of patterns (themes) included within data. Thus, in the simplest way possible, organize and explain your data collection in (rich) detail (Braun & Clarke, 2006; Nowell et al., 2017). Braun & Clarke (2006) and Nowell et al. (2017) et al. describe the following as a step-by-step approach to thematic analysis, including: a) familiarizing yourself with your data; b) generating initial codes; c) searching for themes; d) reviewing themes; e) defining and naming themes; and f) producing the report.

Identifying Themes

The following outlines the procedures used for coding the data and identifying themes from the data collected.

Familiarizing Self with Data

It is critical that the researcher spends additional time familiarizing themselves with the data, as well as comparing the transcripts to the original audio recordings for 'accuracy'. The researcher should be immersed in repeated reading of the data, as well as active data reading searching for meanings, patterns, and so on (Braun & Clarke, 2006), as well as active data reading searching for meanings, patterns, and so on (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Coding Process

Qualitative data analysis for this study involved the analysis and coding of transcribed interviews and open-ended focus-question data for general themes and subthemes. The Quirkos Cloud® (2022) software program was used for the coding process. The coding process required labeling and organizing qualitative data for the purposes of identifying themes and the relationships between them (Saldaña, 2021). According to Saldaña (2021) three to four different coding processes be applied for qualitative analysis, which was applied in this study. In this analysis, data were analyzed using a) first cycle coding (using research questions to identify/delineate the main themes), b) second cycle coding (to identify patterns/commonalities, and thus, subthemes), and c) third cycle coding (to identify any additional themes that did not fit within the main themes or subthemes in the first two cycles) (Saldaña, 2021). After the data was collected, the researcher highlighted, circled, and underlined quotes that were considered important for the purposes of elucidating the data for reporting.

First Level Coding

First level coding using the three research questions as a guide, was undertaken after the data were collected from the interviews in order to determine general themes. Inductive coding creates codes based on the data collected and the survey responses (Saldaña, 2021). Coding was

performed by breaking qualitative data into smaller samples, after which, a sample of the data was "read," and the researcher created codes to cover and reflect the obvious content of the data sample (Saldaña, 2021). The data from this study was found to contain important and relevant words and phrases from the transcribed interviews, reflective thoughts, and questions written by the researcher, which provided some initial insight into the main themes (Mason, 2002; Saldaña, 2021). Where applicable, field notes gathered by the researcher while listening to interviews were incorporated.

Second Level Coding

Once the first stage coding was completed, pattern and axial coding was completed for the second cycle coding stage. Pattern/axial coding allowed for a large amount of data to be divided into more meaningful categories/subthemes for ease of handling (Saldaña, 2021). In the current study and after the first stage of coding, the researcher examined the data to identify patterns (commonalities/similarities) in the data, from which similar items were grouped. together. Patterns deemed by the researcher to be important were used to derive categories, which later became "subthemes". If outliers were identified, the researcher created a new category labeled as "to be listed", after which the researcher reviewed that data to see if the information should be recoded to fit into one of the other categories. Some of these outlier data were placed in other categories, while any remaining outlier data that could not be grouped into an existing category were placed in a category labeled "other."

Third Level Coding

In the third stage of coding, pattern, and axial coding were repeated to identify the "codes" contained within each subtheme and ensure that codes were attributed to the correct

theme or subtheme. Some new codes were identified, and the researcher determined which existing themes or subthemes the codes needed to be placed under.

Producing the Report

The final step occurred after the researcher had thoroughly defined the themes and was ready to begin the final analysis and report writing. A thematic analysis was written such that it presented a clear, cohesive, logical, non-repetitive, and engaging description of the data inside and across themes. According to Thorne (2000), researchers must ensure that they describe how they assigned their results in a way that a critical reader can understand. As a result, the statements made regarding the data set become more trustworthy and credible. King (2004) argued for actual statements from participants to be included in the final report. Brief excerpts might assist in explaining certain interpretations and demonstrating the recurring themes.

Trustworthiness and Rigor

This section details the steps that the researcher took to establish trustworthiness and rigor in this research study. Lincoln and Guba (1985) were the first to incorporate rigor into their model of qualitative research's trustworthiness. Trustworthiness is a central concept in their framework for evaluating the rigor of a qualitative study. The term "trustworthiness" is used by researchers to refer to the quality, integrity, and factual accuracy of qualitative research findings (Cypress, 2017). In 2007, Creswell identified eight key rigor strategies and recommended that qualitative studies utilize at least two of them. They include prolonged engagement, persistent observation, triangulation, peer review or debriefing, negative case analysis, reflexivity (an attempt to explain researcher bias), member-checking, rich description, and external audits (research should be audited by an external researcher). This section will outline the steps that the researcher will take to establish trustworthiness and rigor in this research study.

Thick Description

Thick description is the researcher's task of explaining and analyzing social activity in its context. The setting might be a marriage, a family, a workplace, or a town, community, or culture. By comprehending and clearly describing the environment in which social activities occurred, thick description properly explains observed social behaviors and attributes purpose and intentionality to them. Thick description reflects people' ideas and emotions as well as their intricate interactions. Researchers, participants, and the report's readership benefit from thorough description and interpretation. Readers may be "placed" in the research context by the results (Ponterotto, 2006). Thick description isn't just a contextual analysis; it's an expression of how we see and comprehend (Freeman, 2014).

Reflexivity

Reflexivity is frequently regarded as being one of the most important techniques for enhancing objectivity and minimizing potential bias in qualitative social work research Reflexivity refers to the researcher's knowledge of the effect they have on what they are investigating as well as how the research process influences them. According to Johnson and Waterfield (2004), the purpose of reflexivity is not to establish impartiality and objectivity; rather, the purpose of reflexivity is to make the researcher's participation in all parts of the interpretative research process obvious. Therefore, in order for researchers to engage in reflexive practice, they are required to not only be aware of the role that social interactions play in the construction of knowledge but also explicitly discuss and document the meanings they associate with those social interactions at each stage of their research (Gringeri et al., 2013). The term "reflexivity" refers to the process through which the researcher identifies and articulates the foundation for the trust placed in them (Probst & Berenson, 2014). Reflexivity is recommended

as among the many strategies used to strengthen rigor, thus reducing bias in social work research (Mackieson et al., 2019).

Role of the Researcher and Positionality

Creswell (2014) notes that researchers need to be mindful of any potential biases they may bring to the research, which may impact the researcher and their interpretation of the data. According to Creswell (2014), the researcher's perceptions, experiences, and biases have the potential to influence the interpretation of the results and general findings of the study. To combat any potential biases that may have influenced the design of the focused interview guide, a pilot test was conducted, and the focused interview guide was modified based upon the findings of the pilot test and the recommendations of the pilot test.

My heritage is Jamaican, and I was born and raised in Jamaica until my teenage years. Although my mother did not emigrate to the United States, my grandmother played a role in raising me. Therefore, I am familiar with the customs and traditions of Jamaicans and the Jamaican culture. Growing up, I knew of families whose mothers relocated to the U.S., The United Kingdom, Canada, other Caribbean islands, and other countries for the purposes of employment and for the betterment of the family. In my teenage years, I relocated to Canada, where I gained employment and continued my education. In 2004, I earned my Bachelor's degree in Family and Consumer Sciences, which was followed by a Master's degree in the same field, with a concentration in Human Development and Family Studies, in 2011. In 2015, I earned a Master's degree in Social Work, after which time I became involved with providing counseling and support to Jamaican workers in the hospitality industry. Through my work with the reunification of Jamaican families, I became interested in the different challenges and difficulties faced by these families. After several years of working in this area, Throughout my

work with Jamaican and Indigenous Canadian families, I came to understand the extent and magnitude of the trauma of separation suffered by Jamaican families and left-behind children. I also became aware of the lack of resources and services for these families, as well as a dearth of preparation amongst immigration workers with respect to how best to support these families and assist them with the challenges they were facing. In particular, one aspect that I became aware of as being particularly relevant for families that have been separated in this manner is that they need to focus on rebuilding the relationships between and among family members, and especially, between mother and child. Additionally, I became aware of the fact that while family finances were improved through the immigration of a parent to a different country for the purposes of employment, that this frequently left family members and children with mental health issues.

As I became more involved in working with these families, I discovered that not only was there a lack of information available to provide guidance as to how to work with these families, but there was, in fact, an almost complete absence of information and evidence supporting what was needed by these families and how to best provide them with quality care. As a result of this finding, I was prompted to enter PhD studies where I could focus my research on the experiences of left-behind children and the impact of maternal migration and separation on the family. While I may have a bias towards the belief that more work is necessary in this area, my research has been designed to capture the perceptions, memories, and experiences of left-behind children through the use of open-ended questions that allowed participants to offer their opinions and experiences in an uncensored manner. Although this research sought to capture the participants' memories and experiences in a wide range of areas, it is important to note that this research constitutes only preliminary work into the area of Jamaican left-behind children. More research

is necessary in order to ensure that social workers and other professionals working with this population provide the best evidence-based treatment modalities that support and care for these individuals.

Protection of Human Subjects

Permission to conduct this research was obtained from the WCG IRB. The IRB application contained the informed consent form for participant signature and the interview methods. Consent forms were prepared at an eighth-grade reading level and detailed the data collection, processing, and storage protocols, per IRB rules. Participants were asked to agree to be interviewed and record their responses using Zoom. They were asked to examine and submit written comments on a summary of their interview. A copy of the WCG IRB approval is contained in Appendix D.

Due to the nature of the interviews and the anticipated use of quotations in the report, participation was anonymous. However, confidentiality was maintained throughout the interview and publication process; number identifications were used instead of participant names. Prior to commencing the interview, participants were advised about the possibility of being triggered because of the research subject. They were advised that they could stop the interview at any given time. No participant expressed feelings or emotions that would cause harm. Further, this did not occur in the current research. A listing of mental health resources was provided to each participant in case they felt the need to access mental health services, see Appendix B. The consent form was required to be signed and read by all participants. Each participant received a new individual link and a password-protected invitation, meaning that attendees had to enter the private meeting room using the password. Each participant was assigned a number that protected them from being identified. This ensured that no one but the researcher and the participant could

join the Zoom session, and no one was able to barge in without the passcode. The host disabled screen sharing. The Zoom recording was stored on a password-protected computer. The information was kept on a password-protected laptop secured in the researcher's home and was backed up on an external hard drive not connected to the internet.

Study Limitations

The research has significant limitations. Researchers have an obligation to the academic community to present complete and honest limitations of a presented study (Ross et al. 2019). Although this study focused on individuals from a particular country who live in a variety of demographic regions in the U.S., using a single kind of data source, the study utilized a purposive sample of convenience, which relied on participants contacting the researcher after finding the study advertisement or through word-of-mouth. This study also only investigated maternal migration and although one participant had both parents migrate, this study is not generalizable to those individuals who have only experienced paternal migration. Consequently, the lack of a random sample means that this study may not necessarily be generalizable to a wider population of left-behind/barrel children from Jamaica. Thus, the findings are not generalizable to all "Barrel Children, "Left-behind Children", "Transnational children", or children of paternal migration. Secondly, although the interview questions were pilot tested, they were not subjected to a reliability and/or validity investigation. While the questions, on the face of them, appear to target areas of interest to the current study, they may not, in fact, capture the data that was desired. One specific issue identified is that the questions, while open-ended, ask participants to describe their experiences before and after their mother's migration in the same sentence. This resulted in a variety of answers that did not, in all cases, obtain "before" and "after" answers to each question topic.

One final limitation pertains to the answers solicited from the participants in response to the focused interview. It should be noted that the perceptions, memories, and memories of experiences reported by the participants in the current study cannot be taken as absolute truths. According to Galbin (2014), "the social constructionism perspective says that we never know what universal true or false is, what is good or bad, right or wrong; we know only stories about true, false, good, bad, right or wrong. Social constructionism abandons the idea as constructivist that the individual's mind represents a mirror of reality" (Galbin, 2014, p. 2). In other words, the memories relayed by the participants in the current study are the truth *as they perceive it to be*, not necessarily the *actual* or *absolute truth*.

This section discussed the methodology used in conjunction with the proposed study period; the next section discusses the results.

Chapter Seven: Results

This chapter consists of the results, interviews, and related research question themes from the perspectives of 15 participants. The participants shared their experiences as adult immigrants left-behind as children by mothers who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. The results in this section address the following research questions.

Overarching Research Question: What were the experiences of adults who stayed in Jamaica while their mother immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years (0 to 18 years old)? Research Sub-Question #1: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time before their mother's immigration?

Research Sub-Question #2: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time during and after their mother's immigration?

Research Sub-Question #3: What do these individuals see as the lasting impacts of their mother's and their own immigration journeys?

Demographic Data

The categories included in the demographic information are: age at the time of the study, country of birth, age at which migration occurred, and reasons for immigrating from Jamaica to the United States. Fifteen focused interviews containing open-ended questions were used to explore the feelings and effects of maternal immigration from Jamaica to the U.S. Participants in this study self-identified as adults who had stayed in Jamaica after their mothers immigrated to the United States. The sample consisted of 14 participants (11 females, 3 males) ranging in age from 22 to 72 years of age. The average age was 45.6 years old, with a standard deviation of 2.74.

Participants' ages at the time their mothers immigrated ranged from 2 years of age to 17 years of age. The average age at the time of maternal immigration was approximately 8 years of age (M = 8.07; SD = 5.28). The length of time participants were separated from their mothers ranged from 3 years to 16 years, with the average length of separation being approximately 8.5 years (M = 8.54; SD = 4.54).

The reasons for maternal immigration to the U.S. are set out below. Virtually all of the participants (n = 14) reported that "finances" were the primary reason for their mother's migration, while the majority of participants (n = 10) also identified other reasons for their mother's migration, in addition to finances. For example, participants identified finances only (n = 4); finances + better life (n = 4); finances + better opportunities (n = 2); finances + job opportunities (n = 1); finances + educational opportunities (n = 1); finances + independence (n = 1); and finances + help family back home (n = 1).

Reasons for Participants' Immigration to the U.S.

The reasons for the participants' immigration to the U.S. are detailed below. All of the participants (n = 14) cited reunification with their mother as the reason for their immigration to the U.S. In addition to reunification, participants cited the following reasons for immigrating to the U.S.: reunification only (n = 9); reunification + educational opportunities (n = 1); reunification + career opportunities + educational opportunities (n = 3); and reunification + educational opportunities + sibling care (n = 1).

Qualitative Analysis Results

Coding Process

First, second, and third level coding, based on the three research questions, were undertaken by the researcher. Table 1 shows the deductive and inductive analysis of the transcribed data. The process set out by Saldaña (2021) was used to code the data.

For the first level coding, the researcher used the research questions as a guide, anticipating that the main themes would fall into the following codes: before mother's migration, after mother's migration, and impact of mother's migration. These were formally coded as follows: a) Participants have positive childhood memories & experiences before maternal migration to the U.S. (Research Subquestion#1); b) Participants have negative childhood memories & experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S. (Research Subquestion#2); and c) Impacts of maternal immigration (Research Subquestion #3). Using the first level codes based on the research questions as a guide, the second level coding was undertaken. The second level coding revealed subthemes for each of the three first level research question codes, yielding a total of 17 subthemes and second level codes: Theme #1 Research Subquestion#1: six subthemes; Theme #2 Research Subquestion #2: eight subthemes; and Theme #3 Research Subquestion#3: three subthemes. Within the second level coding, the subthemes that emerged were coded according to Saldaña (2021).

 Table 1

 Themes, Subthemes, and Codes Derived from the First, Second, and Third Level Coding Process

First level coding Main Themes	Second level coding Categories/subthemes	Third level coding
Theme #1 Participants have positive childhood memories & experiences before maternal migration to the U.S.	Family dynamics	Family separation, connection with mom, religion, mom's work hours, sibling, extended family, mother working as a professional in the U.S., mother's marital status (8)
	Childhood experiences & memories	Maternal discipline style, things we do together, early childhood memories, things my mother taught me (After mother left Jamaica, difficult memories, birthday memories, memories of mother, fond memories, parental partnership, memories of basic school (11)
	Living arrangements	After mother left Jamaica, before mother left Jamaica (2)
	Emotions	Abuse, feelings (2)
	Memories	After mother left Jamaica, difficult memories, birthday memories, memories of mother, fond memories, parental partnership, memories of basic school (7)
	Migration	Reason for migration, reason for mother's migration, preparing for departure (3)
Theme #2 Participants have negative childhood memories & experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S.	Communication	Communication/connecting with mom (22)
	Thoughts about U.S.	Opportunities, concerns about mother living in U.S., questions about mother leaving (3)
	Emotions	Living arrangements, mother/child bond, mental effects, visiting mother in the summer (4)
	Migration	Memories of mother preparing to leave (2)
	Memories	Age at time of mother's emigration, saying goodbye (2)

Academics	Academic performance/schooling (2)
Lifestyle change	Maternal visitation, siblings as mother, grandparent parenting, community support, early employment (5)
Finances/Gifts	Change in finances, things mother sent, maternal funding, role of creditors (4)

Table 1 (cont'd)

Themes, Subthemes, and Codes Derived from the First, Second, and Third Level Coding Process

First level coding Main Themes	Second level coding Categories/subthemes	Third level coding
Theme #3 Impacts of maternal immigration to the U.S. are significant	Direct effects	Communication, academics, finances, celebrations, safety, gifts & gratitude (6)
	Individual effects	Social effects, symptoms of stress, emotions & coping with emotions, abandonment, challenges, difficulty forming bonds (6)
_	Family & community effects	Kinship care, maternal visitation, living arrangements, family togetherness, length of maternal separation(s), parental separation, length of maternal visits, relationship breakdown (8)

Theme #1 Research Subquestion#1; six subthemes emerged and were coded as follows: family dynamics, childhood experiences, living arrangements, emotions, memories, and migration.

Theme #2 Research Subquestion#2; eight subthemes emerged and were coded as follows: communication/connecting with mom, thoughts about the U.S., emotions, migration, memories, academics/schooling, lifestyle change, and finances/gifts. Theme #3 Research Subquestion#3; three subthemes emerged and were coded as follows: direct effects, individual effects, and family/community effects. Due to the amount of data collected and transcribed from the researchers' interview process, there were a total of 91 third level codes identified by the researcher. The first level codes and themes, second level codes and subthemes, and third level codes are presented in detail in Table 1.

Themes and Subthemes

The following section details the findings of the focused interviews undertaken with the participants. Main themes are identified and presented, with subthemes presented along with each theme. Overarching Research Question: What were the experiences of adults who stayed in Jamaica while their mother immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years (zero to 18 years old)?

Research Sub-Question #1: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time before their mother's immigration?

The responses obtained from the participants in the current study was that their childhood experiences and feelings about their life in Jamaica, prior to their mother migrating to the U.S., were overwhelmingly positive. Although there were some participants who were too young to remember much about their life in Jamaica prior to their mother's migration, the vast majority of participants were able to recall their life experiences prior to their mother's departure. One theme

that emerged with respect to experiences prior to mother's migration to the U.S. was that the actual separation event, where the mother was leaving the family for the U.S., was that it was negative and traumatic for all participants. The six overriding subthemes identified by the researcher from the data were: family dynamics, childhood experiences, living arrangements, emotions, memories, and migration. The themes and subthemes related to Research Question #1 are detailed below.

Theme #1

The first theme to emerge from the focused interviews was "Participants have positive childhood memories & experiences before maternal migration to the U.S." Contained within this theme were a total of six subthemes, which included the following: family dynamics, childhood experiences, living arrangements, emotions, and memories. The overall finding was that the majority of (n = 13) participants had positive memories and experiences while in Jamaica before their mother migrated to the U.S. One participant (n = 1) relayed an experience of molestation prior to her mother migrating to the U.S., which she refused to talk about.

Subtheme #1: Family Dynamics

The first subtheme to emerge under this category was "family dynamics". Contained within this subtheme were a total of eight codes, which included the following: family separation, connection with mom, religion, mom's work hours, sibling, extended family, mother working as a professional in the U.S., mother's marital status.

The participants in this study tended to come from traditional Jamaican families and family situations. For example, Participant #3 said,

It was a typical Jamaican household. We grew up with both parents in the household, and traditional Jamaican values. It was a typical Jamaican household. As the older sibling, I

would be expected to follow the trend of my mother with helping with caregiving responsibilities when my parents, particularly my mother when she, wasn't around. It was a loving environment. My parents were very supportive. It was a good upbringing. Participant #4 noted, "I remember my father, my mom, my brothers and sisters." "I had a very good childhood. I love my parents; my parents loved me." The majority had one parent living outside the home, although most participants noted that they had a close relationship with extended family or community members, including grandparents, aunts, uncles, and neighbors. Most of the participants (n = 13) were in contact with their father and/or had a good relationship with the father and the father's side of the family. All of the participants also lived with their mother prior to her migration to the U.S. (n = 13), reporting that they had a good connection with their mother. One participant reported living with her mother at one point, but due to not having a good connection with her mother, she moved in with her grandparents. More than half (n = 8)of participants mentioned religion, the Bible, and/or attending religious schools as an important part of their upbringing. All of the participants (n = 14) talked about their mother having to work prior to migrating to the U.S., and just over half (n = 8) mentioned that their mother worked "long hours" or "worked hard." Additionally, all of the participants (n = 14) stated that their mother worked after migrating to the U.S. Similarly, all of the participants (n = 14) mentioned that they had at least one sibling and that they either cared for that sibling (s), assisted their

Subtheme #2: Childhood Experiences

sibling(s) in some way, and/or received help from their sibling(s).

The second subtheme to emerge under this category was "childhood experiences".

Contained within this subtheme were a total of four codes, which included the following:

maternal discipline style, things we do together, early childhood memories, things my mother

taught me. Overall, the participants reported positive early childhood memories. Some of the participants commented that they were too young to recall much about their childhoods, while others described somewhat idyllic childhoods. For example, Participant #11 stated the following:

We grew up thinking we were rich. Thinking we had money but looking back, we weren't poor like. I don't want to say dirt poor because being poor doesn't make you dirt. Financially we just didn't have it but all our ...we always had everything we wanted to be comfortable. Even though we weren't the richest we had 2 pairs of shoes. We never felt like we were any lesser because we were always taken care of. For the most part we were taken care of. We had a good life.

Participant #5 stated,

I had a wonderful childhood experience in Jamaica. Um, I lived with my, with the extended family, so to speak, um, before my mom left. We lived in the same, we lived next door to each other. My mom was in one house, my grandmother was in another. Um, so we were always kind of part of one family.

One participant talked about maternal discipline style, while others discussed the discipline style of their fathers, siblings, and/or extended family members, such as a grandparent, and so forth, with many participants commenting that the discipline style was "loving" but "strict" or "very strict" (n = 8). Almost half of the participants (n = 6) commented that they engaged in a lot of activities with their mothers before she migrated, including reading (especially the Bible), going to church, going to the market, playing, telling stories, and homework. Others mentioned engaging in activities with siblings, extended family members, and friends.

Subtheme #3: Living Arrangements

The third subtheme to emerge under this category was "living arrangements". Contained within this subtheme were a total of two codes, which included the following: before mother left Jamaica and after mother left Jamaica. For example, one participant noted that before their mother's migration, living arrangements were as follows:

We always had a house. The house we had then, growing up, it wasn't always the same house because we lived in rented homes, but it was always a house. The last house we lived in before we migrated was our home. It was a three-bedroom house, one bathroom,

Overall comments indicated that participants had a good life, which implies satisfactory living arrangements, with one participant noting, "I wouldn't change anything." Living arrangements after the participants' mothers immigrated to the U.S. are addressed under Theme #2.

living room, kitchen. We had built another room onto it as well and a verandah.

Subtheme #4: Emotions

The fourth subtheme to emerge under this category was "emotions". Contained within this subtheme were a total of two codes, which included the following: abuse and feelings. For the most part, participants chose to focus on their feelings and emotions after their mother migrated to the U.S., although some provided some insight into some emotions and experiences they had prior to their mother leaving. Several of the participants indicated that their mother, parents, or caregivers were often too busy to worry about feelings and emotions or the emotional response to experiences. For example, Participant #12 stated the following:

When I think of parents of yesteryear with less resources, less knowledge, what have you, trying to make decisions for their families and totally lacking in any understanding of emotions beyond, if I hit you, you cry or if you fall down and hurt yourself, you cry. But

the business of a person crying because they are sad, nobody had time for that because it was all about making the bread, chasing the dollar to make the bread. If you didn't chase the dollar nobody lived. Then you didn't have a roof over your head. You didn't have clothing on your back etc.

Still others mentioned that their mother was always available to them and that times were happy prior to her migration from Jamaica. One participant described emotions tied to an unpleasant experience she had before her mother migrated from Jamaica, which included an episode of molestation, that left her in need of therapy, while others tended to focus on how their emotions had changed as a result of the migration of their mother. For example, one participant said "I think the person that I am right now maybe I'm more reserved in my expressions of my emotions." "Initially, we had an ok relationship when she was in Jamaica." Further details are provided under Theme #2.

Subtheme #5: Memories

The fifth subtheme to emerge under this category was "memories". Contained within this subtheme were a total of seven codes, which included the following: after mother left Jamaica, difficult memories, birthday memories, memories of mother, fond memories, parental partnership, and memories of basic school. For many of the participants, their memories prior to their mother migrating to the U.S. are positive. The memories described by the participants were generally descriptions of family times and fond memories that included their mother in Jamaica before their mother migrated. For example, one participant noted the following: ", I remember basic school, her coming to my fashion show in basic school. She would, I remember specifically her packing my lunch in the morning to go to basic school." Another participant recalled the following memory, "We talked the same. The only difference I think a lot is when we were in the

islands. Even when they worked, they seemed to be more available; when we came here, they seemed to just work all the time." Another participant stated "We used to have family night every Sunday. Dinner, sit down, eat, talk." Several of the participants described the traumatic experience of watching their mother leave as she migrated to the U.S., which is addressed in subtheme #6 below. Again, for the most part, participants tended to focus on how memories changed after their mother left Jamaica.

Subtheme #6: Migration

The sixth subtheme to emerge under this category was "migration." Contained within this subtheme were a total of three codes, which included the following: reason for migration, reason for mother's migration, and preparing for departure. The overall experiences of the participants as it relates to migration was that it was a traumatic experience. Whether it was saying goodbye at the airport or whether it was realizing, after the fact, that their mother had left them behind, most participants described their mother's leaving as a negative experience and a defining moment in their lives. For example, one participant stated the following:

As a child, you don't have the cognition, the logic to reason out what leaving really means. At the end of the day you're just left-behind. Yet at an emotional level, especially since it happened too early, before I could reason, then I was abandoned. If I could change anything, it's not the poverty, it's the leaving behind. You can be together in poverty.

Another participant described the following experience with migration,

If they hadn't left and I had been raised with them my whole life I do think that mentally and emotionally I'd be a lot more stable. I wouldn't spend so much time trying to ensure that I don't make the same mistakes as them. That in itself is draining, trying to be

different and do things differently especially now that I have children. I just think that them leaving and me going through the struggles that I did because they weren't there has me in a fight or flight mindset. It's always...I don't feel stable. I never feel stable.

Another participant echoed these sentiments, "I think that my parental departure had the major impact on my childhood."

Summary Research Question #1

The results of the current study found that the childhood experiences and feelings of participants prior to their mother migrating to the U.S. were overwhelmingly positive, with the exception of the separation event, which was overwhelmingly negative and traumatic for all of the participants. One major theme emerged from the thematic analysis, which was "Participants have positive childhood memories and experiences before maternal migration to the U.S." A total of six subthemes were identified: family dynamics, childhood experiences, living arrangements, emotions, memories, and migration. With specific regard to family dynamics, participants cited connection with mom, sibling, extended family, religion, mother's marital status, mom's work hours, family separation, and mother working as a professional in the U.S. In specific regard to childhood experiences, participants cited things we do together, early childhood memories, things my mother taught me, and maternal discipline style as the things they remember the most. In regard to living arrangements, major themes that came out were living arrangements before mother left and living arrangements after mother left. With specific regard to emotions, participants cited feelings and abuse as factors tied to this subtheme. The factor of "abuse" was only cited by one participant, but this factor was chosen by Quirkos® as an evident underlying theme. In regard to memories, participants cited fond memories, memories of mother, memories of basic school, birthday memories, parental partnership, and memories of the

time after their mother left Jamaica. With regard to migration, participants cited the reason for mother's migration, the reason for migration, and preparing for mother's departure as the factors relevant to this subtheme.

Research Sub-Question #2: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time during and after their mother's immigration?

The primary theme that was identified was "Participants have negative childhood memories and experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S." The thematic analysis revealed that the childhood experiences and feelings of participants after their mothers immigrated to the U.S. were overwhelmingly negative. Subthemes that were identified were: communication, thoughts about the U.S., emotions, migration, memories, academics, lifestyle change, and finances/gifts. Details about the experiences of participants are presented below.

Theme #2

The second theme to emerge from the focused interviews was "Participants have negative memories & childhood experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S." Contained within this theme were a total of eight subthemes, which included the following: communication, thoughts about the U.S., emotions, migration, memories, academic performance, lifestyle change, and finances.

Subtheme #1: Communication

The first subtheme to emerge under this category was "communication." Contained within this subtheme were 22 codes, such as telephone, neighbor's telephone, business telephone, payphone, WhatsApp, etc. In this subtheme, most participants addressed communication in literal terms, describing how they interacted with their mother after she had immigrated to the U.S. For example, some indicated that they connected with their mother by

telephone, mail, WhatsApp, pay telephone, and using a neighbor's phone. The general overall experience of participants was that they did not have many opportunities to communicate with their mother after she left, which several participants described as either "detrimental" or they associated it with emotions of sadness or a lack of recognition of their mother.

Some participants described communication on a more emotional level, noting that after their mother left, communication was difficult: "It was hard to communicate; hard to express how I feel. At first I would break down before I communicated". Another participant noted the following:

But I wouldn't leave, I would not leave the door open for, us not communicating. I would communicate with my child each day, each week. If I can't do it each day, I would find a way to talk to them each week, something. But I think the biggest part of the relationship I had with my mother after she left was the lack of communication. We did not really talk much. So, when we finally got to spend time together, I remember the first time it was so awkward because she picked me up from the airport, and she was very distant. And I'm like, this is not my mother. It was strange. I was, it's like I was meeting this lady for the first time, even though I hadn't seen her in about eight or eleven years or so {sic}. After she left, when I saw her for the first time, it was a very awkward, um, encounter. And then, when I saw her, it was nighttime when she picked me up. So, we, you know, I went in, took a shower, went to bed, and when I saw her the next day, it was like, very strange. It's like, this is my mother. I went to hug her, but she didn't hug back. I think the communication thing is what I would, um, I would change.

Another participant noted "We didn't really talk much. Maybe 2 times a month." "We didn't have a phone in the house, so we used a pay phone that was in the neighborhood. Most people made collect calls on Sunday."

Subtheme #2: Thoughts About the U.S.

The second subtheme to emerge under this category was "thoughts about the U.S."

Contained within this subtheme were a total of three codes, which included the following: opportunities, concerns about mother living in the U.S., and questions about mother leaving.

Most of the participants spoke about the opportunities that were afforded them as a result of their mother migrating to the U.S. However, there is a prevailing theme that while there were more opportunities in the U.S., they came with a cost that may not have been justified (ie. parental separation, trauma of separation and leaving, not knowing if one will see one's parent again, not understanding why one's mother was leaving, not truly understanding that mother was leaving or what that meant, etc.). For example, one participant clearly elucidated the opportunities and benefits of their mother's migration, although the value of the increased opportunity was questioned, "I know the opportunities I have had in my adult life. I don't think I would've had if I stayed in Jamaica. Granted, I'm sure I would've gotten a good job, but I wouldn't be where I am today." Another participant described initial excitement at their mother migrating to the U.S., followed by the realization of her absence:

I didn't really know what to expect. I was 14. I was still really young. On one hand, you are excited about your family member going to America. All the opportunities you see on television, and what does that mean for me? Am I going to be able to go and visit sometimes? Will I move there? Of course, there is also the flip side too of your parent is not going to be there anymore. I don't think that part hit me until afterwards. I think at

first, just the whole glory and glitter that's around the whole idea of relocating to

America that really overshadowed the fact that my parents weren't really going to be
there – or be there like they were before. Or that they weren't coming home tomorrow
per se

Most of the participants were left with a feeling of loss, with some of the participants associating the physical loss of a loved one as a result of the gained "opportunities in the U.S." A participant described how the migration to the U.S. resulted in their sister's mental illness, and, ultimately, her death,

More opportunities were afforded me here, and so I have been able to do well academically here as well. None of it was easy. It took work and determination and, of course lots of money and debt. I think now, I'm sad because I lost my sister that followed me. That will remain with me for the rest of my life because she was a big part of the family back then. Even though the migration happened, my mother left us, we had our ups and downs, but we were all together. When we came together back with our mom, we were together again. Now she's missing so, I think it's sad. I mean, I'm happy that we are here. There are opportunities that are afforded us, but I saw my sister get ill. I saw her get lost in the shuffle. I don't think this life was for her.

Finally, another participant articulated the following:

I wish that I wasn't left-behind to go through some of the things that I went through. There were some harrowing experiences that I still haven't spoken about to this day. Don't feel like you can tell your parents because either they'll be dismissive, or they won't understand. And when they do understand, they won't show you that they understand. There is no emotion there. I don't know if it's because they don't want to

remember that part of their life or because they don't want to believe that the people, they trusted to take care of their child was not the people that they thought they were.

Subtheme #3: Emotions

The third subtheme to emerge under this category was "emotions." Contained within this subtheme were a total of four codes, which included the following: living arrangements, mother/child bond, mental effects, and visiting mother in the summer. Overall, the mental and emotional effects of the participants' mothers' migration to the U.S. were recalled as negative or highly negative. Virtually all of the participants (n = 14) indicated that there were strong emotions around their mother migrating to the U.S., most of whom cited the actual moment of departure as being extremely traumatic. Similarly, almost all of the participants (n = 12) cited a significant disruption to the mother-child bond and their relationship with their mother, many of whom also commented that their relationship with their mother was not fully repaired upon reuniting in the U.S. One participant (n = 1) noted that the relationship with her mother remained so damaged from the point of separation onwards, that her mother felt compelled to apologize to her on her deathbed. For example, another participant stated the following,

She apologized to me for not doing better. And, um, I think she knew all along that there were issues, there were gaps in our relationship, but only when she was, um, close to death that she apologized and say, Hey, I could have done better, but it is what it is. So it, wait, wasn't really a true apology either. It was like something to make her feel better, you know, clear her, clear the air before she died.

Almost all of the participants (n = 12) indicated some level of anger directed at their mother for leaving, some of whom indicated that they later understood the reason for their mother's migration. For example, one participant stated that she was "angry", "always so angry

at her", and "I remember I was sad. It was a lot more sad." None of the participants indicated that the anger ever went away or subsided. At least five participants (n = 5) reported crying at the time of the mother's departure and then in the time period during which they remained separated.

Most of the participants also indicated having memories of sadness, longing for their mother, anxiety, or other emotions, with qualifiers such as "traumatized", "sad", "draining", "confusing", "tough", "having to survive", and so forth. Some participants (n = 2) recalled initially feeling excitement at their mother's expected departure, which was quickly tempered with statements regarding the distress they felt upon learning what that departure meant and how long it was going to last. For example, another stated the following,

We were excited because we think my mom is going to go to America, and she is going to get her paperwork by next year. Probably in a couple months, and then boom, we would be there. You know ...fast. It was going to be amazing.

Other participants described a sense of confusion or being puzzled about their mother leaving. For example, one participant,

Confusion. There was no explanation as to what was going to happen. What the end goal was. You were just left, and you sort of just got on with life as best as, and after a while, you didn't think about it anymore. It was your reality that where you were is where you were, and you didn't try to think of what was going to happen. Is somebody coming back for me? You just got on with it.

None of the participants (n = 0) indicated being "happy" that their mother departed from Jamaica, nor coming to be happy as a result of their mother being away, although one participant (n = 1) indicated having the belief that their mother's immigration to the U.S. was a positive

factor in their life. Notably, one participant indicated that the damage from the separation was so significant that they later required professional help to deal with the trauma. Specifically, they noted the following,

I needed therapy. They didn't understand that. I didn't understand that so it never really happened. Some bad things happened in Jamaica, and I needed therapy. So mentally, in Jamaica, I survived. Coming out of Jamaica, I survived but in a different way because now I started to build a new narrative, so I created a shell person to cover the wounded person.

Still, another participant detailed the following:

Mentally for me, I don't know if I ever really processed some of those emotions at that age. You just know that your mom is not there, and she's overseas. Initially, we had an ok relationship when she was in Jamaica, but after she migrated, we definitely lost that bond that we had. The respect and the love is still there, but that bond that you get from being together with somebody day in and day out it was definitely severed and hard to rebuild because we started to get older. I don't think we had that emotional attachment like we had before.

Some participants described longing for their mother and continually hoping that she would come home. For example, one participant stated,

It was tough. You're constantly looking to see this person walk through the gate. You're looking every day. Your smaller siblings asking when mom is coming. Walking on the street, you would see somebody shaped like her or look like her. You try to run through the crowd to find out that it's not the person you know.

Subtheme #4: Migration

The fourth subtheme to emerge under this category was "migration." Contained within this subtheme was one code, which was: memories of mother preparing to leave. In general, the participants did not comment about their mother's migration from a literal perspective, choosing rather to speak about the migration as it related to other factors, including emotions, communication, living arrangements, thoughts about the U.S., specific memories, academics, lifestyle change, and finances, which are addressed under the separate themes that they fell under. However, a total of five participants (n = 5) participants gave specific feelings or memories relating to the "migration event" (defined as the point at which their mother departed).

For all of the participants (n = 14), the "migration event" occurred at the point at which their mother left from the airport in Jamaica, which contained a "waving gallery" for children and their families to indicate their final goodbyes to one another. Overall, those participants described the moment of separation or the "migration event" as being an event where they wished they weren't left-behind, that their mother wouldn't immigrate, that their mother would have waited to immigrate, or that they could have gone together. For example, one participant stated,

When she was leaving, she just said she was going on a trip. A trip meaning what? We didn't understand the trip or how long the trip would last. We know that other family members would come in from England or America during the Christmas season, so you expect to see her at that time. It never happened.

Another participant noted the following: "I wish that I wasn't left-behind to go through some of the things that I went through."

Subtheme #5: Memories

The fifth subtheme to emerge under this category was "memories." Contained within this subtheme were a total of two codes, which included the following: age at time of mother's immigration and saying goodbye. In general, all of the participants (n = 14) had memories about the period of time after their mother left them behind in Jamaica. However, the majority of the memories have been classified under specific themes detailed before or after this category.

The memories highlighted under this section are those memories to reflect the theme of "memories," and as can be observed, they tend to contain reflections of the participants with relating to specific moments that they remembered in their childhood, in which they either longed for their mother's presence or which called to mind their mother's absence. For example, one participant recalled a specific memory that caused them to wish that their mother was present:

There were definitely some sad days when you looked around and hearing everybody else saying "mom" or "dad" or "papa." You didn't have that. It was auntie something or uncle something but no mom or dad for you. So you would try to integrate yourself with somebody else's family so you feel like you had a mom or dad.

Another memory recalled by a different participant highlighted the physical changes in their mother between visits, which addresses the real changes that occur as a result of aging. For example, another participant noted, "When you see your parents or meet them for the first time again, it's a new person. Face changes, voice change, more gray hair." Another participant mentioned that it was difficult mentally, stating:

Mentally, we longed for her. It was a different kind of ballgame after mom left. I felt that we felt more dependent on everybody. And knowing that my mom wasn't there, so we were a little bit, especially around holiday times and stuff, we felt a little sad.

Another participant noted that their mother's departure made it feel like they had to grow up fast, noting, "I would say that you had to grow up fast. It was a lot."

Subtheme #6: Academics

The sixth subtheme to emerge under this category was "academic performance."

Contained within this subtheme was one code: academic performance.

Overall, all of the participants (n = 14) in the current study commented that their mother's migration to the U.S. had an impact on their academic performance. Notably, most participants reported that their mothers left Jamaica in order to improve opportunities for their families, but this did not reflect the reality with respect to academics. All of the participants (n = 14) reported that in spite of their mother migrating to the U.S., their mother provided for them financially so that they had everything they needed to attend school in Jamaica. With regard to academic performance, the majority of participants (n = 10) commented on academic performance: four (n = 10)= 4) did the same after mother left, worse (n = 4) after mother left, and better (n = 2) after mother left Jamaica. Four participants (n = 4) declined to say. Consistent with these reports, only three participants (n = 3) reported having greater opportunities after relocating to the U.S. and reuniting with their mother. In general, participants reported "struggling" with academics after their mother left Jamaica, regardless of whether their performance stayed the same, declined, or improved. Most of the participants reported difficulties with academic performance due to the loss of assistance with homework provided by their mothers. For example, one participant noted the following: "Things that I should have been doing at that age, my academics, just socializing

and being a young person, was put on hold." Another participant stated, "I'm not sure if there is a direct correlation, but now I find it hard to finish academic tasks that I have started."

Subtheme #7: Lifestyle Change

The seventh subtheme to emerge under this category was "lifestyle change." Contained within this subtheme were a total of five codes, which included the following: maternal visitation, siblings as mother, grandparent parenting, community support, and early employment. Overall, participants reported feeling a sense of having to grow up very quickly and a sense of loss after I coded this because this is what came up in the analysis. It confirmed the overarching theme, their mother migrated to the U.S. To varying degrees, most of the participants reported having to take on some responsibilities that their mother would have performed had she not immigrated. For some, this involved looking after smaller siblings, while others reported feeling the need to gain employment and start working earlier than planned. With specific regard to lifestyle change, one participant stated the following:

It was tough. You're constantly looking to see this person walk through the gate. You're looking every day. Your smaller siblings asking when mom is coming. Walking on the street, you would see somebody shaped like her or look like her. You try to run through the crowd to find out that it's not the person you know.

All of the participants (n = 14) in the current study also had some form of caregiving provided by others after their mother migrated to the U.S. For some participants, this took the form of living with their fathers and/or grandparents, while for others, this meant living with other extended family members, including aunts and uncles. Overall, most of the participants also commented on the fact that it was other family members who took on roles and motherly duties (i.e., helping with schoolwork, attending special events, etc.) after their mother

immigrated to the U.S. In general, most participants reported that the person providing the caregiving in place of their mothers was there for school and other activities, although participants still expressed feeling the loss of their mother being there. For example, one participant stated, "In school, and I was doing poetry, reading and winning, I really didn't have anybody there to say, okay, wow, this is my daughter, and she's doing, I didn't really have that." Many of the participants also reported that they received some level of community support and care from neighbors after their mother immigrated. Still, others recalled feeling a sense of loss, responsibility, and pressure to grow up, with one participant stating,

It left a gap in our development. I think it put a very heavy load on my shoulders as a young person. It made me grow up so much faster than I would have. Things that I should have been doing at that age, my academics, just socializing and being a young person, was put on hold. I think my growth, social, emotional, mental growth was not stunted but inflated extremely to this adult person. Which I wasn't emotionally and mentally. To take on this parentification role of doing and being for my siblings. What I had, I was in no position to do. It impacted me in that sense of never getting the opportunity to grow up in the stages of growth that was normal. Being forced to do so by circumstances. I had no opportunity to question or say I couldn't. Even though my mom was far away, I felt an obligation to do it. I could have said, "I'm not doing it. I'm out of here.". I could have done that, but there was a deep sense of responsibility and obligation that I felt. My mom wasn't here, it was my job to do it. I also felt like I needed to do it and do it to the best of my ability.

The majority of participants (n = 10) reported receiving visits from their mothers after she immigrated to the U.S., while four participants (n = 4) reported that they did not have maternal

visitation after their mother immigrated to the U.S., primarily due to financial reasons. One of the participants (n = 1) reported having to start work at an earlier age to help provide for the family and due to the fact that he was not doing well in school.

Subtheme #8: Finances/Gifts

The eighth subtheme to emerge under this category was "finances". Contained within this subtheme were a total of four codes, which included the following: change in finances, things mother sent, maternal funding, and role of creditors.

All of the participants (n = 14) spoke about the "barrels" or "big boxes" that they received from their mothers after she immigrated. Barrels are 55-gallon drums that individuals fill with items they want to ship to their loved ones in their native country. All of the participants spoke about the excitement of receiving a barrel from their mother, which would contain clothes, shoes, toys, food, school supplies, and miscellaneous items, which many participants described as showing that their mother cared for them and was concerned for their economic welfare and mental well-being. For example, one participant stated,

From time to time, when she was able to put some money together, she would send us monetary gifts. If she knew of anybody who was coming back to Jamaica to visit, she would send down items of clothing. Sometimes she would try to pack food and send a barrel. Initially, that wouldn't happen frequently, but as she was able to start working and put funds together, then she would, maybe once a year, send down a barrel. Maybe two times a year, somebody was coming down, she would send down a shoe or a dress for us, while another participant noted the following

When the barrels or something came, someone would go down to the wharf or to where the ships came in, the docks. You had to go through lots and lots of people a lot of excitement. She had to send money ahead of time to clear the barrels. She would send food stuff, and clothing. Sometimes it would be two barrels. That would probably be only once or twice a year. We would get stuff to share with other people in the neighborhood, or that she would specifically send a list in the barrel to say who would get what.

Most of the participants also reported that their mother sent money (remittances) back to Jamaica after immigrating to the U.S. However, several participants noted that they were more likely to receive barrels than money and that from time to time, mail was disrupted, so that they did not receive the financial support they were expecting. With regard to money (remittances) being sent to Jamaica by their mothers, several participants described experiencing financial hardships as a result of either receiving no money or disruptions due to unforeseen circumstances, such as mail strikes, which means the remittances, barrels, or parcels would not be sent by their mothers. Some participants noted that they wished their mother would come home instead of receiving goods from her. For example, one participant said,

At that time financially, it wasn't working out. The little that she sent it was just enough or sometimes barely enough." "You would get that Christmas {barrel}. You would get gifts. Someone would bring a package and say this is from your mom. But you were still looking at the gate if your mom would come.

Participants also spoke about the need to find ways to help out financially after their mother immigrated to the U.S. Two of the participants (n = 2) described having to seek out employment in order to help out the family, while others described having to approach their fathers for financial support in lieu of their mother's immigration. For example, Participant #6 said,

You start work early. You started work as a teenager getting paid just to help out with the other siblings. Based off of single parent household you actually pick up a responsibility as you reach teenage years. 13-14 you start working, bringing in an income just to eat food, just to survive.

In further regard to monetary remittances from their mothers, one participant (n = 1) commented on the role of creditors in assisting them with obtaining the basic necessities back in Jamaica. For example, Participant #5 said,

If the mail was on strike, we got no money. There were times that the mail was on strike.

Wow. And sometimes it went for a few weeks. So if the money had just come before that, we are okay. But if it was at the time that it would have come, then we were in trouble and also,

Um, because we had rent to pay, uh, food to, to eat. You know, one of the things that helped us is again, the extended family. My mother had one brother, especially, that checked on us very frequently. And so sometimes he would bring a box of food, um, and then he would pay some of the bills, like rent. He would pay that if it was at a time that that was due, and the money didn't come. The other thing that I think helped a lot was they had the supermarkets. You had these books, and in the book, they would write what you bought on credit. And for a while, we would go and, um, he {creditor} would, he would put whatever we took and had no money to pay for. And then when my mother came, she would clear all the bills, or my father didn't come as much as my mother did after they left.

Summary Research Question #2

The second theme identified from the thematic analysis, "Participants have negative childhood memories & experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S." Contained within this theme were eight (8) subthemes, including: communication, thoughts about the U.S., emotions, migration, memories, academics, lifestyle change, and finances/gifts. In regard to communication, participants discussed modes of communication with their mother, with most citing the difficulties they had with communicating with her and the limited times they were able to connect. In regard to the subtheme of thoughts about the U.S., participants cited concerns about mother living in the U.S., questions about mother leaving, and opportunities. With respect to emotions, participants cited factors such as mother/child bond, mental effects, emotions about living arrangements, and visiting mother in the summertime. In regard to immigration, participants cited memories about their mother preparing to leave for the U.S., which continued to plague them from the time which she left until they were reunited. With specific regard to memories, participants cited their age at the time of their mother's immigration and saying goodbye. Academic performance was a major area of concern, with the vast majority of participants commenting on their academic performance after their mother immigrated to the U.S. In regard to lifestyle change, participants cited factors such as maternal visitation, grandparent parenting, siblings as mother, community support, and early employment. Finally, with respect to the final subtheme of finances/gifts, the participants cited the change in finances, things that their mother sent to them, maternal funding, and the role of creditors after their mother immigrated to the U.S.

Research Sub-Question #3: What do these individuals see as the lasting impacts of their mother's and their own immigration journeys?

The third major theme that emerged from the focused interviews was "Impacts of maternal immigration to the U.S. are significant." Within this theme, three (3) subthemes emerged, including: direct effects, individual effects, and family and community effects.

Theme #3

The third theme to emerge was "Perceived impacts of maternal migration to the U.S. are significant." Contained within this theme were a total of three subthemes, which included the following: direct effects, individual effects, and family and community effects.

Subtheme #1: Direct Effects

The first subtheme to emerge under this category was "direct effects". Contained within this subtheme were a total of six codes, which included the following: communication, academics, finances, celebrations, safety, and gifts/gratitude. Direct effects encompassed larger facets of the participant's life, such as academics and finances. These are the names assigned to these subthemes.

With respect to the direct effects experienced by the participants as a result of their mother's immigration to the U.S., the vast majority of participants cited communication as the factor that was most affected. Communication was cited as a factor due to the fact that many of the participants did not have cell phones or phones within their home in Jamaica, which limited the frequency and duration of contact that they could have with their mother. In further regard to communication, many of the participants noted that the disruptions to communication were a large factor in the disruption of the mother-child bond. For example, one participant stated the following:

Initially, we had an ok relationship when she was in Jamaica, but after she migrated we definitely lost that bond that we had. The respect and the love is still there but that bond that you get from being together with somebody day in and day out it was definitely severed and hard to rebuild because we started to get older. I don't think we had that emotional attachment like we had before. Sometimes when I look at other peers or daughters and mothers how there is that connection. I don't think we really have that and that's probably because we spent such a long time away from each other.

The second area that was most affected by the mothers' migration to the U.S. was finances. All of the participants (n = 14) in the current study commented on finances before and after their mother immigrated, although the impact on finances was felt after the mother immigrated. With specific regard to finances and matters relating to finances, and as noted in the preceding section, all of the participants received either barrels, boxes, or parcels from their mother containing everyday essentials and special treats. Some of the participants also received remittances from their mothers, but most of the participants also indicated that they did not know how the finances were addressed overall. Some of the participants indicated that they were too young to know the details, while others stated that it was not a subject for discussion with a child in their home after their mother immigrated. For example, another participant stated the following:

Then...I would say now I am conservative with funds. I try to make sure that my kids have everything that they have, that they need. I try to make sure they don't go without. Versus, when my parents left, I was given the bare minimum. I'm not sure if that was because of finances or because who was looking after me didn't do a good job. So,

finance-wise I do my best to make sure we are never struggling, well my kids are never struggling.

All of the participants (n = 14) commented on the impact of their mother's immigration on their academic status in some way, noting that there had either been a negative (n = 4) or positive impact (n = 2), with some indicating that there was no impact at all (n = 5). Three of the participants (n = 3) declined to say how their academic performance was affected, although two participants (n = 2) reported that their academic opportunities in the U.S. were improved after they migrated. Some of the participants indicated that their mother's immigration spurred them to strive for more academically. For example, another participant stated the following:

I still did ok in school. Thank God I was still able to – even though at times we didn't have money - go to school every day. Sometimes I would bring lunch, I was able to finish and graduate and started working at the bank. I think academically things were ok. There weren't any major disruptions there." "I think that maybe it contributed to my motivation to keep striving to achieve some of these goals. The drive to go after those things that I'd like to achieve.

Some of the participants cited a direct impact on their safety and security after their mother migrated to the U.S. For example, one participant stated,

It left me feeling with no sense of security. Always being on edge. You overanalyze things. You just never felt secure. You felt that you could be moved at any time, or they could show up at any time and you were expected to just be ok with it." Another participant cited the vulnerability imposed by their mother's absence, noting "The separation left me open to the abuse of others. So, no protection.

All of the participants (n = 14) commented on the value and importance of gifts they received from their mother after her immigration to the U.S. or their gratitude for what their mother did for them and/or the experiences that accompanied their mother's immigration. In spite of the hardships and losses that many of the participants described as a result of their mother's immigration, many spoke of the gratitude that they felt. For example, Participant #8 said,

Eventual migration has its pros. There are certain opportunities that are afforded us as immigrants and we are not knocking it because it is what it is. There are certain things that are readily available on this side of capitalism. In a third world country there are certain things that come with the environment; the quiet, the peace, the ignorance. A lot of things that come on this side of migration which is affordability, educational opportunities, work opportunities and different things. Some of the blessings...all of the blessings that all of the opportunities that came for my children and for myself, I appreciate that, and I am grateful for that. Losses...I wish I didn't have to deal with those. Loss of relationship and loss of people.

Subtheme #2: Individual Effects

The second subtheme to emerge under this category was "individual effects". Contained within this subtheme were a total of six codes, which included the following: social effects, symptoms of stress, emotions & coping with emotions, abandonment, challenges, and difficulty forming bonds. Individual affects were quite personal and tended to deal with the participants emotional reactions.

In regard to individual effects, the overwhelming impact that participants identified relating to their mother's immigration to the U.S. had to do with emotions, emotional impacts,

and emotional challenges. All of the participants (n = 14) described their mother's immigration as "sad," "traumatic," "disappointing," "confusing," or other similar terms. The range of emotions expressed by participants was frequently conflicted, with participants expressing excitement or anticipation at their mother's immigration, combined with intense sadness, anger, loss of stability, confusion, trauma, loneliness, and so forth. Many described needing years of therapy and/or counseling to cope with the trauma or to help them re-establish the mother-child bond. Several participants noted that they were never able to re-establish the mother-child bond although they had respect for their mother. A large proportion of participants indicated that they had difficulty forming bonds with others or trusting others as a result of the separation they felt as a child. For example, one participant noted the following:

I think if my mother had not migrated then all those aspects that we discussed. Maybe we would have had a closer bond" and "Initially we had an ok relationship when she was in Jamaica, but after she migrated, we definitely lost that bond that we had. The respect and the love is still there but that bond that you get from being together with somebody day in and day out it was definitely severed and hard to rebuild because we started to get older. I don't think we had that emotional attachment like we had before. Sometimes when I look at other peers or daughters and mothers how there is that connection. I don't think we really have that and that's probably because we spent such a long time away from each other" and "I think the person that I am right now maybe I'm more reserved in my expressions of my emotions. I think I have a built up somewhat of a wall. I feel like I have a harder time connecting and bonding with people." Participant #4 stated "I don't know. I had been a loner and I had enjoyed being by myself. We had friends who we

played with. I don't think I was emotional. I can't look back and say anything other than I missed my mom.

Another participant said,

I would say back then, when you look at it back then, there was a sense of abandonment. I just think that them leaving and me going through the struggles that I did because they weren't there has me in a fight or flight mindset. I would say now I still sort of struggle to be myself around people because I don't know if my true self is going to be accepted." "I don't feel stable. I never feel stable. It left me feeling with no sense of security. Always being on edge. You overanalyze things. You just never felt secure. You felt that you could be moved at any time, or they could show up at any time and you were expected {to} just be ok with it.

Several participants expressed feelings of abandonment or the sense that they were "left-behind," which has continued to impact the relationships and social ties that they make as an adult. For example, another participant said the following:

I was plunged into whatever and you just had to live. Survive. You are talking 2–4-year-old making that transition. I think now I can see now how the whole thing has impacted my life. My relationships, especially as it related to my attachments. It's almost as if I expect to be abandoned. It seems to me that on some unconscious level I choose who will abandon me. As a child, you don't have the cognition, the logic to reason out what leaving really means. At the end of the day, you're just left-behind.

Participant #8 described the symptoms of stress they felt due to their mother's absence: "There was loneliness, there was more stress. So, there are pros and cons with that. There was more money but there were other things happening." Another participant noted,

My relationships, especially as it related to my attachments. It's almost as if I expect to be abandoned. As a child, you don't have the cognition, or the logic to reason out what leaving really means. At the end of the day, you're just left-behind.

Subtheme #3: Family and Community Effects

The third subtheme to emerge under this category was "family and community effects." Contained within this subtheme were a total of eight codes, which included the following: kinship care, maternal visitation, living arrangements, family togetherness, and length of maternal separation(s), parental separation, length of maternal visits, and relationship breakdown.

All of the participants (n = 14) had some experience with kinship care after their mother immigrated to the U.S. In some cases, participants went to live with their father, others with grandparents (or grandparents moved in with them), aunts and uncles, and other family members. In one case (n = 1), the participant ended up living with neighbors. While some of the experiences were positive, other participants reported having negative experiences, where they had to give up their room because of the new living arrangement. For example, one participant noted,

I had my bed at first but then I left my room and me and my uncle shared a room. Me and my uncle had a bunk bed, he sleep on the bottom, I sleep on the top. After a while the bed was getting loose, and I didn't want it to fall on my uncle so I started sleeping in the couch. So, for a long time I was bouncing in the couch, but it was ok for me." Another participant said "I had to share a room with $\{?\}$. When I went to my mom, I had to share a room with my mom and my brother, so it didn't change much for a while.

Others noted that they had to contribute to sibling care and other responsibilities after their mother left, leaving them with less time to engage in their normal activities. For example, one participant said,

I didn't go to as many social gatherings or hang out like some of my peers because I had that added responsibility." Another participant said "I don't have friends here. Most of my friends are back home so socially I would say I don't have a social life here. I work, I come home.

The next largest impact under this theme was related to family togetherness, parental separation, and relationship breakdown. All of the participants (n = 14) reported disruptions to family togetherness and relationships with both family members at the time of their mother's migration, but also after reunification. One of the themes that was unexpected to some degree was the participants' mention of parental separation, after the mother immigrated to the U.S. and the father was left in Jamaica. Although two participants (n = 2) fathers also immigrated to the U.S., the majority of participants (n = 13) commented on the impact of having their parents in two different countries, whether they lived in Jamaica themselves or immigrated to the U.S. The final impact identified by all of the participants (n = 14) is the maternal separation, issues with maternal visitation (either not being enough or not at all), the length of maternal visits (not long enough), and relationship breakdown. For example, one participant noted "That time between when a person has to migrate and leave their children it's so detrimental who they leave their children with."

Summary Research Question #3

With regard to research question #3, the primary theme that emerged was "Impacts of maternal immigration to the U.S. are significant". All of the participants cited significant impacts

as a result of their mother having immigrated to the U.S. Three subthemes emerged from the thematic analysis, including direct effects, individual effects, and family/community effects.

With regard to direct effects, participants focused on communication with mother, academics, changes in finances, changes in celebrations, changes in feelings of safety, and gifts/gratitude. In regard to individual effects, participants cited social effects, feelings of abandonment, challenges they faced, difficulties forming bonds and relationships, symptoms of stress, and emotions/coping with emotions. Finally, in regard to family/community effects, participants cited kinship care, maternal visitation, living arrangements, family togetherness, length of maternal separation, parental separation, length of maternal visits, and relationship breakdown (with mother).

Conclusion

The researcher's analysis of the data, the results of the thematic analysis, and the study's important findings revealed three main themes. These themes and their associated subthemes focused around the finding that participants' had predominantly positive childhood memories and experiences before maternal migration to the U.S., while their childhood memories and experiences after maternal migration to the U.S. were predominantly negative. Overall, there were substantial direct, individual, and family/community support impacts on participants as a result of maternal migration to the U.S. The implications of the themes and associated subthemes are discussed in the following chapter.

Chapter Eight: Discussion

The findings of the current study provide a better understanding of the childhood experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a mother who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. This study provides helping professionals, such as social workers, with a better understanding of the childhood experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind in Jamaica by a mother who immigrated to the U.S. Data was collected by way of focused interviews with fourteen (n = 14) participants who met the inclusion/exclusion criteria, consented to participate in the study, and who were left-behind in Jamaica by a mother who immigrated to the U.S. during their childhood. Data were analyzed by thematic analysis, which identified three major themes: a) "Participants have positive childhood memories & experiences before maternal migration to the U.S."; b) "Participants have negative childhood memories & experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S."; and c) "Impacts of maternal immigration to the U.S. are significant". A total of seventeen (17) subthemes emerged: a) Theme #1 six (6) subthemes; b) Theme #2 eight (8) subthemes; and c) Theme #3 three (3) subthemes. The themes and subthemes generally aligned with the three research questions and are therefore discussed on the basis of each research question in the following discourse.

Theoretical Framework

New Employment Labor Migration (NELM) Theory

The guiding theory used for this study was the NELM, which posits that people migrate to foreign countries for the purposes of improving their opportunities and to better life for the family remaining in the home country. This theory also posits that the mechanism by which the migrating individual improves the financial status of those in the home country is primarily through the form of remittances. In the current study, virtually all of the participants reported that

their mother had migrated to the U.S. for the financial opportunities offered in the U.S., in addition to other opportunities (educational, employment, and so forth), which would serve for the betterment of the family remaining in Jamaica. All of the participants also reported receiving remittances in some form and/or frequency from their mother after she had migrated to the U.S. Additionally, all of the participants also reported receiving goods in the form of barrels, parcels, boxes, and by conveyances through relatives and friends traveling between the U.S. and Jamaica. The frequency with which the goods were sent to the home country varied, but all of the participants reported that the financial remittances and the goods received had improved their circumstances in some form or other. Therefore, the NELM theory reflected the realities of maternal migration from Jamaica to the U.S. for the participants in the present study.

Transnational Feminist Theory

In the present study, the data that was collected did not provide enough detail to determine the employment or educational opportunities that women who migrated to the U.S. achieved once they arrived. With regard to this theory, it can be said that the women who migrated to the U.S. were from a developing nation and that they did so for the betterment of the family, suggesting that migrating parents are not always the males in the family. However, there remains room for further research and examination of whether the women who migrate for the benefit of their families have had better, worse, or similar opportunities offered to them in the new country. Additionally, more research needs to be done within the feminist movement to include transnational women's issues.

Research Questions

The overarching research question for the study was: What were the experiences of children who stayed in Jamaica while their parent (s) immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years (zero to 18 years old)?

Research Sub-Question #1: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time before their mother's immigration?

The first theme identified from the focused interviews was "Participants have positive childhood memories and experiences before maternal migration to the U.S. In regard to Research Question #1, the childhood experiences and feelings of the participants in the current study was found to be seminal literature, as there were no other studies identified that specifically looked at barrel children's perceptions of their lives before a parent or both parents migrated to the U.S. There was, in particular, no studies which reported on the perceptions of barrel children's lives before their mother migrated to the U.S. Therefore, the findings of the current study will be addressed as stand-alone research, since the literature that exists addresses only the experiences of barrel children after the migration of their parents.

In general, the results of the current study found that the childhood experiences and feelings of participants prior to their mother migrating to the U.S. were overwhelmingly positive. The exception to these positive experiences was the actual separation event, which was overwhelmingly negative and traumatic for all of the participants. The major theme that emerged from the thematic analysis with respect to this research question was "Participants have positive childhood memories and experiences before maternal migration to the U.S." A total of six subthemes were identified: family dynamics, childhood experiences, living arrangements, emotions, memories, and migration. With specific regard to family dynamics, participants cited

connection with mom, sibling, extended family, religion, mother's marital status, mom's work hours, family separation, and mother working as a professional in the U.S. In regard to childhood experiences, participants cited the following: maternal discipline style, things we do together, early childhood memories, and things my mother taught me. In regard to living arrangements, participants cited the following features: before and after mother migrated from Jamaica. With respect to emotions, participants cited abuse and feelings as relevant components. Participants further cited the following components with regard to memories: after mother left Jamaica, difficult memories, birthday memories, memories of mother, fond memories, parental partnership, and memories of basic school. The last and final area noted by the participants with regard to experiences prior to their mother's migration to the U.S. was migration, which included reason for migration, reason for mother's migration, and preparing for departure.

With regard to family dynamics, living arrangements, childhood experiences, emotions, and memories, the participants in this study tended to come from traditional Jamaican families and family situations, consistent with the literature, which can be described as residing with the mother living in the home and the father living elsewhere (Green et al., 2019). Nevertheless, participants in this study reported having good relationships with both parents, despite the parents living in separate quarters. Participants also reported having close relationships with extended family and community members, including grandparents, aunts and uncles, and neighbors. These close relationships are in keeping with the researcher's experiences of Jamaican families.

Prior to their mother's migration to the U.S., all of the participants in the current study lived with their mother, with the majority (n = 13) reporting that they had a good connection with their mother. One participant reported living with her mother at one point, but due to not having

a good connection with her mother, she had moved in with her grandparents. Although all of the participants spoke about their mother needing to work, and in some cases, participants indicated that their mother worked long hours (n = 8) prior to the migration to the U.S., this did not appear to be a factor in how they felt about their mother or with regard to the mother-child bond. Either way, all of the participants in the current study reported having good relationships with their mother and/or caregiver. In spite of the good relationships reported with their mother prior to her migration to the U.S., virtually all of the participants experienced a significantly disrupted mother-child relationship following the mother's migration to the U.S. The impact was significant enough that five (n = 5) of the participants reported the need for extensive therapy and/or counseling in order to rebuild the relationship with their mother, although none of the participants reported that the relationship was actually restored, in spite of years of professional help.

One notable area uncovered by the current research was memories of participants sharing religion and/or religious experiences with their mother prior to her migration to the U.S. More than half of the participants (n = 8) mentioned religion, having religion, the Bible, and/or attending religious schools as an important part of their upbringing and their relationship with their mother. Notably, several of the participants in the current study correlated the absence of their mother with a change in their religious practices, whatever that experience looked like. To a large degree, this was related to the amount of time that they spent with their mother and/or their understanding of religion. Although none of the participants reported a complete loss of their religion, the majority of participants experienced a change in religious behaviors significant enough to result in voluntary reports about that loss, even though no specific questions were asked about this facet of their life. If the religious experience of barrel children is significantly

disrupted by the migration of a mother or parent, questions are raised about whether the child loses some or all of their ability to cope and/or hope for reunion with their mother and restitution of their religious practices. Therefore, the loss of the connection to their mother through religion as a result of the mother's migration to the U.S. may have some bearing on the resiliency of the child and/or family as a result of the loss of this religious connection.

The final area that participants spoke about were positive experiences and memories about working together as a family to maintain the family. All of the participants mentioned that they had at least one sibling and that they either cared for that sibling(s), assisted their sibling(s) in some way, and/or received help from their siblings. Based on the findings of the current study, sibling relationships among Jamaican families of mothers who migrated to the U.S. were found to be a particularly important family dynamic prior to the mother migrating. Older participants in the current study reported greater sibling caregiving responsibilities and an increased surrogate parental role. Many of the participants described the positive aspects of the sibling relationship prior to the mother migrating, which continued after the mother's migration to the U.S. Overall, based on the findings of the current study, it can be concluded that sibling relationships played an important role in the childhood experiences and feelings of Jamaican barrel children.

Summary Research Question #1

Overall, the current study found that the first theme was that the childhood experiences and feelings of participants prior to their mother migrating to the U.S. were overwhelmingly positive, with the exception of the actual separation event, which was described as overwhelmingly negative for all participants. A total of six subthemes were identified with associated codes: a) family dynamics, which included connection with mom, siblings, extended family, religion, mother's marital status, mom's work hours, family separation, and mother

working as a professional in the U.S.; b) childhood experiences, which included maternal discipline style, things we do together, early childhood memories, and things my mother taught me; c) living arrangements, which included before and after mother migrated from Jamaica: d) emotions, which included abuse and feelings; e) memories, which included after mother left Jamaica, difficult memories, birthday memories, memories of mother, fond memories, parental partnership, and memories of basic school; and f) migration, which included reason for migration, reason for mother's migration, and preparing for departure.

Research Sub-Question #2: Looking back from adulthood, how do these individuals describe the time during and after their mother's immigration?

The second major theme identified from the focused interviews was "Participants have negative childhood memories & experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S." Contained within this theme were eight (8) subthemes, including: communication, thoughts about the U.S., emotions, migration, memories, academics, lifestyle change, and finances/gifts. In regard to communication, participants discussed modes of communication with their mother, with most citing the difficulties they had with communicating with her and the limited times they were able to connect. In general, the overarching theme was that participants' experiences and feelings after their mother's migration to the U.S. were overwhelmingly negative.

With regard to the participants in the current study, the positive benefits achieved by the maternal migration were cited as financial benefits and/or educational/occupational opportunities and/or maternal independence. The participants in this study portrayed the significant financial support system provided after their mother migrated to the U.S., as it was critical in improving the living situation, for some, in their developmental years. Although some participants had some positive things to say about their mother's migration to the U.S., these sentiments were expressed

against a backdrop of substantively negative experiences. Participants cited long-term emotional and mental impacts of maternal migration, which included years of therapy, disrupted relationships and/or disrupted mother-child bonds, loss of love but not respect for their mother, and deathbed apologies for the migration which were characterized as inadequate. These sentiments and others like them suggest that the mental health and emotional cost of maternal migration, regardless of the reason and whether there are significant positive benefits, come at a high cost to those left-behind and suggest that the cost might be too high.

Lu et al. (2020) notes the migratory experiences of left-behind children are typically associated with poorer mental health and increased risk of suicidal ideation, which can be exacerbated by poor levels of communication between children and parent(s). However, Lu et al. (2020) argued that "healthy communication between children and parents fully mediates the adverse effects caused by maternal migration experiences on mental health among left-behind children" (p. 110) and that in particular, communication with the mother partially mediates the risk of suicidal ideation. The findings of the current study support the contention of Lu et al. (2020) with respect to the mental health of left-behind children.

Communication is a critical part of a child's growth process and it emerged as a critical subtheme in the current study. Some participants wished that the parents communicated more because they lacked that assurance from their parents, more connection and reaching out to the then child was noted as something that would have been much more helpful in reducing the feelings of missing many experiences. In regard to the first subtheme of communication, participants cited difficulties with connecting with their mother and maintaining communication with her after maternal migration to the U.S., which was mentioned 22 times throughout the focused interviews. For all of the participants (n = 14) in the current study, there were significant

issues around connecting with mom, which primarily focused on the fact that none of the participants had access to a telephone within the home in which they resided. In general, participants had to rely on using telephones in other peoples' homes, places of business, or public pay phones, or alternatively, messages related to or from their mother through others. One of the participants stated that they were able to use a texting application (WhatsApp) in order to text their mother from time to time, although this was through another's phone. Others noted that communication was by way of written letters. In all cases, communication was cited as a significant factor in the disrupted mother-child relationship and the mother's migration to the U.S.

With specific regards to the subtheme of thoughts about the U.S., participants reported thinking about various aspects of the U.S. ten times throughout the focused interviews. Thoughts about the U.S. included participants wondering what the U.S. was like, what it had to offer their mother, what it had to offer in terms of opportunities, concerns about their mother living in the U.S. and questions about her safety and her departure, and how they would fit in after reunification or during summertime visits to the U.S. For example, one participant linked their perceptions about the U.S. with the fact that their mother was leaving on an airplane, noting "I think we kind of reflected, for me it was this thing about the airplane. So, she's going to America, is America in the sky?" As can be observed, many of the thoughts that participants had about the U.S. were likely linked to their developmental age at the time of their mother's migration or the time that they had the thoughts.

In regard to emotions and lifestyle change, participants generally cited the negative impact of maternal migration on emotions (27 times) and mental health (17 times), for an average of approximately three mentions per participant. Again, the overwhelming experiences

and feelings with respect to emotions and mental health were negative. A significant number of respondents portrayed issues with their emotional issues as a result of a lack of parental support alongside effective communication. Participants reported a range of emotions from "sad," "confused," "angry," "lost," "lonely," "puzzled," and so forth, with regard to their mother's migration to the U.S. In regard to mental health issues, some participants reported the need for therapy to address mother-child bond issues. A significant portion of the participants felt sad about being left-behind, some of the participants even confessed wishing that their parents would have traveled with them on the same day they left the country; being left-behind was not a good feeling even though they were left under the care of someone. Manyeruke et al. (2021) reported significant disruptions in the parent-child bond as a direct result of parental migration. Living in a world of wishes reportedly resulted in participants suffering detrimental mental and emotional consequences as children and as adults, as they felt they always lacked something other children had. The changing family situation and having to adapt to new situations and environments made various participants "grow up faster" to be able to look after siblings. Therefore, the findings of the current study are consistent with the empirical literature respecting the mental health and emotional effects of parental migration and the impact on the mother-child bond.

In specific regard to migration, participants in the current study cited the experience of maternal migration, from a hindsight perspective (cited ten times). The theme of migration that emerged after maternal migration is different from the migration identified before the maternal migration. In that regard, the pre-migration experience and feelings was confined to recollections about the traumatic separation event (i.e., the exact point in time at which the mother migrated and separated from the family). In the context of after the migration event, participants' recollections were specifically tied to their experiences and feelings *after* the point that their

mother left. Some of the participants shared their experience that after the migration happened, they wished that it had not happened at all or that it could have happened in a different way. In addition to the foregoing, participants reported that the maternal migration resulted in them having to adjust and adapt to the new lifestyle change because some of the roles needed to be performed by parents had to be taken by some of the children. The older siblings would have to take some of the parental roles because of the absence of parents in attending to younger sibling's homework and addressing some of the things they required. The findings of the present study are in keeping with this literature, particularly with respect to participants' tendency to look back on the migration event and the time of separation and wonder if things could have been different, handled differently, or have different outcomes. This was certainly true in the current study, with several participants noting that the effect of the maternal migration was different for them as opposed to their siblings.

In regard to the memories experienced by the participants after their parent(s) migrated, what can be observed is that there were intense feelings of loss and longing for things to return to the way they were prior to the maternal migration. Henshaw (2019) examined unrecognized trauma and concluded that "survivors of complex and unrecognized trauma are vulnerable to experience repetitive trauma in adulthood" (p. 7), which requires that they integrate various repetitive trauma events into their evolving experiences. Furthermore, Henshaw (2019) also concluded that "forming one's identity with vague understanding about *why* one feels and acts a particular way {can be} perceived as isolating and confusing, and {can lead} to feelings of instability" (p. 139).

Manyeruke et al. (2021) noted that the age and developmental stage at which the separation occurs is directly associated with their ability to cope with the separation.

Furthermore, Manyeruke et al. (2021) found that even individuals with a secure attachment style can develop an insecure, anxious, or avoidant attachment style that may persist throughout the individual's life and impact upon their ability to initiate and/or maintain relationships. The fact that many of the participants in the current study have such clear recollections of the separation from their mother that they felt during the time of separation suggests that some, if not all of the participants, may have experienced some impact on their attachment style and their ability to maintain relationships. Many of the participants in the present study reported difficulties or disruptions in the mother-child bond/relationship and/or with regard to forming relationships with others. Overall, the memories reported by the participants in the current study with regard to their experiences and feelings after maternal migration were generally negative, reflecting changes in their relationship with their mother and with other individuals. For many of the participants, it was interesting to note that while they did not think their mother's migration and the resultant separation had any lasting impact on their lives, the memories they recalled clearly show that there were/are lasting effects relating to the maternal migration and separation from their mother.

The next theme to emerge from the data was with regard to academics. Most of the participants in the current study freely discussed the impact of maternal migration on their academic performance. Five of the participants in the present study noted no change in their academic performance, while the remaining nine participants either declined to say (n = 3), described reductions (n = 4), or improvements (n = 2) in their academic performance. The migration of parents can positively impact the academic well-being of left-behind children through improved finances to support education sent by the migrant parent(s), but this does not necessarily mean the children will attain great academic performance. Nevertheless, comments

from participants reflected not only the fact that they experienced the effects of maternal migration on their academic program, but also, they felt the loss of validation and empowerment they gained from their mother's daily feedback and support. Consequently, it is argued that childhood educators should learn trauma-informed strategies to help students with migrant parents deal with childhood trauma so that they can be successful in their academic pursuits.

The last and final theme identified from the data after the maternal migration was with respect to finances and/or gifts. All of the participants in the current study reported that the primary purpose for the maternal migration was to improve the financial situation of the family, though the effects of the financial benefits were not necessarily felt immediately. Ultimately, while all of the participants reported that the family's financial situation improved as a result of the maternal migration, many of the participants reported feeling financial deprivation in the time immediately and/or shortly after their mother's migration. Some of the participants reported having to rely on creditors (shopkeepers) in order to obtain the things, they needed, including food, school supplies, and other things they needed (cited three times by participants). A few of the participants reported memories of waiting for remittances and cheques to come from their mother, which sometimes did not materialize. All of the participants recalled the gifts that were sent home by their mother in the form of barrels, parcels, conveyances through other relatives/neighbors, and so forth. Overall, in the current study, a mix of positive or negative financial benefits were recalled by the participants in the time immediately and/or shortly after their mother's migration. However, the overall impact that was ultimately experienced by the participants with respect to the family's financial situation was that there was a significant, positive change in financial status as a result of the maternal migration.

Summary Research Question #2

The predominant theme for research question #2 was that participants have overwhelmingly negative childhood memories and experiences after maternal immigration to the U.S. Contained within this theme were eight (8) subthemes, including: communication, thoughts about the U.S., emotions, migration, memories, academics, lifestyle change, and finances/gifts. Although there were some positive benefits cited by the participants in the current study with regard to the experiences and feelings they had after the maternal migration, the overwhelming experience was negative, as indicated by the responses provided by the participants. Positive benefits cited by some participants, but not others, included improved financial and/or academic status/performance after the maternal migration. However, participants cited significant negative impacts after maternal migration with regard to communication, thoughts about the U.S., emotional and mental health, academics, lifestyle change, and financial status.

Research Sub-Question #3: What do these individuals see as the lasting impacts of their mother's and their own immigration journeys?

With regard to research question #3, the primary theme that emerged was "Impacts of maternal immigration to the U.S. are significant." All of the participants cited significant impacts as a result of their mother having immigrated to the U.S. Three subthemes emerged from the data analysis, including direct effects, individual effects, and family/community effects.

Theme #3

The thematic analysis indicated that there were significant impacts on the lives of barrel children as a result of their mothers' immigration to the U.S. The results further demonstrated that the impacts were lasting and substantial in terms of the mental health and emotional impacts participants experienced as a result of their mother's migration and the separation from her.

Subtheme #1 Direct Effects of Mother's Migration to the U.S.

In regard to direct effects, participants focused on communication with their mother, the impacts of their mothers' migration on their academic performance, changes in their finances (during the time of separation and after reunification), changes in family celebrations, changes in feelings of safety (during separation, when they reunited with mother in the U.S., and with respect to relationships with others), and gifts/gratitude.

The next area of impact identified from the data was the effect of maternal migration on academic performance, which was mentioned 22 times by the participants. In the current study, the impact on academic performance took two general formats: academic performance in kindergarten to grade twelve and academic opportunities after the participants' immigration to the U.S. Five of the participants in the present study noted no change in their academic performance, while the remaining nine participants described reductions in (n = 4), improvements in (n = 2), or declined to say how the migration affected their academic performance.

In the current study, all of the participants (n = 14) reported that the reason for their mother's migration to the U.S. was for the purpose of bettering the family's finances, and all of the participants also confirmed that the family's finances were indeed better as a result of their mother's migration to the U.S. The change in financial situation took two forms in the current study: during the time of separation and after reunification. Virtually all of the participants in the current study described an improvement in the financial situation once they were reunited with their mother in the U.S.

A final area of concern and direct impact cited by the participants in the current study and detected in the data was the issue of safety (cited nine times). The risk of increased safety issues

and the potential for abuse has been cited in the literature with regard to children of parents who have migrated (Pottinger, 2005). Left-behind children are also at greater risk of experiencing more severe medical, emotional, physical, security, educational, and social neglect than children experiencing those types of neglect but who are not left-behind by migrant parent(s) (Wen et al., 2021).

Pottinger (2005) notes that children of migratory parent(s) experience significant periods of grief and traumatic events, beginning with the separation from their mother and/or parents and then again at a later date when they are separated from the caregivers who looked after them during the period of parental separation. According to SAMHSA (2022), childhood traumatic stress can last well beyond childhood and has been associated with learning problems, decreased academic performance, school suspensions and expulsions, increased use of health services (including mental health services), increased involvement with the child welfare and juvenile justice systems, and long term health problems (i.e. diabetes and heart disease).

Subtheme #2 Individual Effects of Mother's Migration to the U.S.

In regard to individual effects, participants cited emotions, coping with emotions, and emotional effects, challenges they faced, difficulties forming bonds and relationships, social effects, symptoms of stress, and feelings of abandonment. As can be observed, the individual effects on the participants were widespread and encompassed all aspects of their lives. Some of these items have been captured or partially captured in the preceding section on direct effects. All of the participants (n = 14) cited significant impacts on their emotions, emotional status and well-being, and their ability to cope with emotions as a result of their mother's migration, citing this effect at least 64 times in the interviews, for an average citation of almost five times per participant. Difficulties forming bonds and establishing/maintaining relationships was also cited

by participants 15 times in the focused interviews, while feelings of abandonment were cited six times, and symptoms of stress were cited seven times. All of the participants also cited a variety of significant challenges they faced as a result of their mother's migration to the U.S., which included a constellation of issues, from living and lifestyle adjustments, caregiver changes, difficulties with academics (performance, being put into a different grade upon reunification, etc.), financial challenges, issues around acculturation upon reunification (adapt to culture, weather, safety issues, etc.), having to go gain employment earlier than expected, social issues (including long-term relationships) and having to participate in sibling care to a greater degree during the period of separation and after reunification.

Participants in the current study who were left-behind while their mother (or in one case, where both parents migrated) migrated to the U.S. related feelings of frustration, abandonment, and anger relating to the migration. The migration of parents resulted in emotional and psychological problems in the children left-behind. Even if the participants described loving caregivers, they still reported feeling gaps in the caregiving situation they were left in, and they noted the loss of the physical presence of their mother and the activities they enjoyed with her.

Chakombera and Mubika (2018) reported that the absence of parents due to migration has negative implications on the physical and psychological well-being of children and adolescents left-behind in Africa According to Chakombera and Mubika (2018), some of the outcomes of separation of the child from their parents(s) include suicide and suicidal ideation, personality disorders, depression, aggression, anxiety of being left alone, being affectionless, delinquent behaviors, and so forth.

Bloch (2017) stated that the concept of "other mothering" or "child shifting", which is the practice of grandmothers or other family members raising children on behalf of the birth mother,

is a concept that has emerged over hundreds of years in countries such as Jamaica. Bloch (2017) further contends that there is a personal cost to "mothering from a distance", which does not necessarily mean that the child is "abandoned", but in the current study, some of the participants described feelings of abandonment, regardless of their mothers' involvement from a distance. According to Bloch (2017), the concept of transnational mothering is a fluid concept, and that mothering from a distance varies over time, in the form of remittances, communication, visitations, and so forth.

In the current study, participants were careful not to malign their caregivers, which tended to be mostly family. As previously mentioned, the NCTSN (n.d.) has suggested that the level of trauma and/or grief children of migrant parents experience, combined with the extent of the losses they experience (which in this case, also included loss of religious activities/connections), may be so significant and severe that they go on to experience prolonged post-traumatic stress symptoms that impact every aspect of their lives, regardless of the quality of the caregiving relationship. The participants in the current study cited issues around social relationships and their ability to form close bonds and lasting relationships with others as a result of their mother having left them. Some of the participants reported feeling that they could not "trust" others not to leave them or abandon them. Others reported wanting to stay by themselves as that was where their comfort level was. Still others reported not being able to maintain relationships with others, preferring to maintain instead the relationships that they had in their home country.

Subtheme #3 Family and Community Effects of Mother's Migration to the U.S.

Finally, in regard to family/community effects, participants cited kinship care, living arrangements, relationship breakdown, parental separation, family togetherness, maternal

visitation, family togetherness, length of maternal separation, and length of maternal visits. For all of the participants in the current study, there was a change in both caregiving and living arrangements, with caregiving and kinship care cited 45 times by participants (approximately three times per participant) and change in living arrangements cited approximately twice per participant. As noted earlier, most of the participants went to live with extended family or extended family moved into the home after the maternal migration, resulting in the first change in living arrangements. For many of the participants, they underwent further changes in living arrangements in Jamaica before finally being reunited with their mothers in the U.S., at which time there was another change in living arrangements. Among the changes in their living situation were financial challenges and changes in housing conditions (some better, some worse in Jamaica; improved conditions in adulthood alongside changes in lifestyle in the U.S.). The remittances are vital in enhancing children's educational prospects, such as the availability of educational resources. Most of the participants in the current study reported enjoying a benefit from the rise in their mother's income after her migration, although some participants described not receiving or having knowledge of the remittances sent by their mother. Some participants reported "not wanting for anything" as a result of their mother's migration, while others reported that the increased income and remittances were channeled into their education in Jamaica or when they reunited with their mother in the U.S.

The remaining impacts identified by thematic analysis as they pertain to the family and community effects are all interrelated. The remaining impacts cited by the participants in the current study include parental separation (cited 13 times), family togetherness (cited ten times), maternal visitation (cited six times), length of maternal separation (cited three times), and the length of maternal visits (cited three times). For most of the participants in the present study,

time spent in family gatherings and family togetherness with their mother present, changed significantly after their mother migrated to the U.S. Several of the participants described not celebrating important events any longer, while others described it not feeling the same without their mother present.

Summary Research Question #3

In regard to research question #3, the primary theme that emerged was "Impacts of maternal immigration to the U.S. are significant". All of the participants cited significant impacts as a result of their mother having immigrated to the U.S., although the extent of impact identified by each participant varied depending, to some degree, upon who the interim caregiver was after their mother's migration to the U.S. The area of greatest impact was that of individual effects, which tended to focus on the emotional/psychosocial, unhealthy coping mechanisms, and mother-child relationship breakdown. Direct effects described by participants included difficulties and disruptions in communication with their mother, predominantly negative impacts on their academic performance and progress, changes in finances, disruptions in celebrations, and feelings of insecurity and a lack of safety. Finally, in regard to family/community effects, all of the participants noted changes in caregiving and living arrangements as a result of their mother migrating and then as a result of reunification in the U.S. Factors such as family togetherness, maternal visitation, length of maternal separation, parental separation, and length of maternal visits were cited as impacts of maternal migration.

Implications of the Study

This study was critical in providing information regarding social work and understanding the situations or backgrounds in which migrants come from and the situations they have to deal with to cope with their environments. The study evaluated adult Jamaican children of maternal

migrants, thus offering critical insight into comprehending the child and the child as an adult. It was also critical for offering insight into the type of care left-behind/barrel children receive after their mother's migration and the triangle of care. This study provides critical information for social workers regarding migrants and the specific experiences of Jamaican left-behind/barrel children who migrated to the U.S. following maternal migration. The research provides critical information that can be utilized in policy formation in the U.S. to address issues involving the migrant Jamaican population in the country.

Social Work Practice

The primary mission of the social work profession is to enhance human well-being and help meet the basic human needs of all people, with particular attention to the needs and empowerment of people who are vulnerable, oppressed, and living in poverty. Social workers are sensitive to cultural and ethnic diversity and strive to end discrimination, oppression, poverty, and other forms of social injustice (NASW Code of Ethics, 2021). Social work has a long history of fighting for the rights of immigrant populations. In doing so, they seek to advance the psychosocial health of this vulnerable population. Social workers are encouraged to address the complex issues immigrants face by utilizing several modalities, which encompass training on all levels, including micro, mezzo, and macro analysis and practice (Chang-Muy, 2008; Furman et al., 2012; Lum, 1996). Therefore, if social workers had a better understanding of the challenges faced by Jamaican adult left-behind children and their families on a day-to-day basis, they would be more equipped to provide competent, evidence-based practice when they interact with members of this community.

The findings from the current study provide direction for social workers engaged in immigration activities that involve Jamaican immigrants. These findings also provide direction

for anyone in the social or healthcare network who are working with Jamaican immigrants, with respect to being more aware of the population and their needs (i.e. mental health needs, maternal bonding, and restoration of the mother-child relationship, reunification needs). Specifically, this research provides insight into the emotional impact of maternal migration on adults whose mother migrated to the U.S. during their developmental years.

Social Work Policy

Social workers, educators, and other mental health professionals are unfamiliar with the Jamaican family structure and child-rearing practices. Many times, Jamaican migrants may work firsthand with members of the human services profession, and thus, it is imperative that they are aware of the unique issues that affect members of this community. The findings of this dissertation are intended to shed light on the childhood experiences of adult immigrants who were left-behind by a parent who immigrated from Jamaica to the U.S. and the difficulties they face.

The Immigration and Nationality Act of 1965 has strict guidelines as to how one can become a permanent resident in the U.S. Prior to 1965, families could not immigrate to the U.S. together. Therefore, anyone born before and up to 1965 in Jamaica may have been subject to parental and/or maternal migration, and thus, may have experienced the issues that participants in the current study described. It is imperative that greater emphasis be placed on the effect that immigration policies have in determining the outcomes for children and their families. It is important that the stories of these participants be told, so that the information gathered from the participants can be used to support the development of social work policies that support adult immigrants who were left-behind by a parent(s). Furthermore, social policy should inform and

embed training and support to all professionals who work with or have access to the population examined in the current study.

Social workers should work with policy developers to modify and update the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1965 to include clauses that require social workers and other healthcare professionals to take into consideration the needs of left-behind children and the impacts of parental/maternal migration on the family and left-behind children. Specifically, this policy should be adapted to include a focus on family reunification needs, mental health issues and needs relating to parental migration, counseling and support, and re-establishment of parent-child bonds and relationships.

Social Work Education

Educational policies that lead to curriculum development for social workers could address the needs of immigrant families and those who work with them. These educational programs could encourage further exploration of the impact of historical trauma on economic viability, particularly for immigrant families, and intensify the development of theories that consider Jamaican immigrant culture, economics, gender, generational trauma, historical trauma, etc. As additional information is learned about this population, the focus should shift to determining how to communicate this information to students who are studying social work.

Social work education is the route that should be taken to achieve the objective of becoming culturally competent about this population and how to deliver evidence-based strategies and interventions to this population. Once this information is known, social work students can learn about new information through social work education and continuing education courses. Social work education continues to be culturally sensitive and relevant. Being culturally sensitive reduces the risk of harm to individuals and populations (Fernández-Borrero et

al., 2016). Therefore, the overall benefit could be used to create evidence-based educational programs and continuing education courses that would be more inclusive and trauma-informed, and which could be used to inform academia at all levels.

This research provides important information for those involved in social work education with respect to immigrants, and in particular, with regard to Jamaican immigrants. Social workers need to know about evidence-based practice and research that provides insight into the needs of Jamaican immigrants. Specifically, social workers need to know about the physical, mental, social, psychosocial, academic, and financial impacts of maternal migration on Jamaican immigrants so that they may better provide service and support to this group.

In particular, social work education needs to include more information about the impact of immigration on mental health and psychosocial issues related to immigrants. For example, social workers need to be taught that it is a common practice for Caribbean children and parents to be separated for some period of time and then reunited at a later date as a result of parental migration to the U.S. and other countries. This is a practice that is supported by the culture but might be viewed negatively by social workers and educators in the U.S. who work with this population. While commonplace, this research illustrates the long-standing emotional and mental health challenges that are experienced by left-behind children as a result of this "common" practice. There is a dearth of literature, and as such, social work educators need to be trained to identify and support individuals and families who have been exposed to this type of trauma. In addition, social work education needs to include information about the lack of programming to support this population and how to partner with agencies that support these families.

Furthermore, social work education programs need to include internship opportunities for

students with this specific population so that up-and-coming social workers can engage in evidence-based practicums.

Proposed Future Research

Based on the current study, a number of research areas are recommended. The first area in which research is proposed is to evaluate programs that purport to address challenges experienced by migrant children who were left-behind, to determine what works, what doesn't work, and what is needed. The second area that requires research is examination of the impact of developmental stages on the long-term emotional and mental health of left-behind, Jamaican barrel children. The third area that bears consideration for future research is in regard to the benefits achieved by migrant parent(s) as it relates to the negative aspects and costs associated with parent-child separation and disruption of the mother-child bond. While the migrant parent may achieve improved financial status and improved opportunities for the family, this may come at an emotional and mental health cost that is too high for the children to realistically overcome. Research that also examines the relationships between gender, age at separation, length of separation, and paternal versus maternal migration among Jamaican parents and their children should also be undertaken. Increasing the amount of research that looks at immigrant family separation, especially in light of the increasing diversity within the U.S., would aid those working with this increasing population. Finally, research that examines immigrant policies and practices relating to families who have experienced parental migration needs to be undertaken. Without the necessary research, it is unlikely that evidence-based practice and effective policies can be developed that address the needs of migrant families and left-behind/barrel children from Jamaica and other countries in a competent and compassionate manner (Oates, 2015). Social workers, educators, and policymakers armed with knowledge of the experiences and impact of

barrel children should use research to inform their practice, making them better equipped to work with children whose parents have immigrated and left their children behind.

Conclusions

This study examined the adult left-behind/barrel children of Jamaican maternal migrants. Specifically, this study evaluated the experiences and feelings of Jamaican children before and after maternal migration to the U.S., as well as the impacts of maternal migration on Jamaican children. Three main themes were delineated based on the research questions: a) Participants have positive experiences and feelings before maternal migration to the U.S.; b) Participants have negative experiences and feelings after maternal migration to the U.S.; and c) Impacts of maternal immigration to the U.S. are significant. A total of 17 subthemes were identified. Six subthemes were identified within the first major theme of "Participants have positive experiences and feelings before maternal migration to the U.S.", including: family dynamics, childhood experiences, living arrangements, emotions, memories, and migration. Eight subthemes were identified within the second major theme of "Participants have negative experiences and feelings after maternal migration to the U.S.", including: communication, thoughts about the U.S., emotions, migration, memories, academics, lifestyle change and finances/gifts. A total of three subthemes were identified within the third major theme of "Impacts of maternal immigration to the U.S. are significant", including direct effects, individual effects, and family and community support effects.

Overall, the participants expressed overwhelmingly positive experiences and feelings prior to maternal migration to the U.S., with the exception of the actual separation event at the point when their mother left Jamaica for the U.S., which was characterized as traumatic for some or sad/confusing/puzzling/exciting for others. Overall, the participants expressed

overwhelmingly negative experiences and feelings after their mother's migration to the U.S., although there were some positive experiences relating to financial status or academic performance for a few participants. In regard to the third theme, participants cited overwhelmingly significant impacts as a result of maternal immigration to the U.S. While there was some overlap between direct and individual effects, the participants generally cited negative impacts, although all of the participants ultimately felt that their family's financial status was improved and there were increased educational and/or employment opportunities as a result of their mother's immigration. An overriding theme of severe disruption in the mother-child relationship was observed/reported, with participants generally reporting difficulties recovering any of the prior relationship or needing therapy to remediate the relationship, or deathbed apologies from their mothers about the migration and separation.

References

- Abreu, A. (2012, April). The new economics of labor migration: Beware of neoclassical bearing gifts. *Forum for Social Economics*, 41(1), 46-67. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1007/s12143-010-9077-2
- Adhikari, R., Jampaklay, A., Chamratrithirong, A., Richter, K., Pattaravanich, U., & Vapattanawong, P. (2014). The impact of parental migration on the mental health of children left-behind. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *16*(5), 781-789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9809-5
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy*Studies, 5(2), 9-19. http://www.journals.aiac.org.au/index.php/IJELS/article/view/3400
- Alexander, M. J., & Mohanty, C. T. (1997). Introduction: Genealogies, legacies, movements. In
 M. J. Alexander & C. T. Mohanty (Eds.), Feminist genealogies, colonial legacies,
 democratic futures (pp. xiii-xlii). Routledge.
- Anagnostaki, L., & Zaharia, A. (2020). A psychoanalytic and qualitative research on immigrant "left-behind" children: "I understand why they left, but why did they leave?"

 *International Journal of Applied Psychoanalytic Studies, 17(4), 313-327.

 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/aps.1646
- Anderson, L. & Hemez, P. (2022). *Children living with at least one foreign-born parent more*likely to live with two parents than children with native-born parents. U.S. Census

 Bureau. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2022/02/over-quarter-of-children-lived-with-at-least-one-foreign-born-parent.html
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using zoom

- videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, 42(2), 139–160. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7

 Assarroudi, A., Heshmati Nabavi, F., Armat, M. R., Ebadi, A., & Vaismoradi, M. (2018). Directed qualitative content analysis: the description and elaboration of its underpinning methods and data analysis process. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 23(1), 42-55. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7932246/

 Baker S., Edwards R. (2012). *How many qualitative interviews is enough: Expert voices and early career reflections on sampling and cases in qualitative research*. National Centre for Research Methods Review Paper.

 https://eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/id/eprint/2273/4/how_many_interviews.pdf
- Bakker, B., Thomas, S., & Salimas, G. (2022). *Jamaica: Selected Issues: IMF Country Report No. 22/44*. International Monetary Fund.

 https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/CR/Issues/2022/02/14/Jamaica-Selected-Issues-513150.
- Barbour, R. S. (1999). The case for combining qualitative and quantitative approaches in health services research. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 4(1), 39-43. https://doi.org/10.1177/135581969900400110
- Barbour R. S. (2001). Checklists for improving rigour in qualitative research: A case of the tail wagging the dog? *BMJ*, 322(7294), 1115–17. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.322.7294.1115

- Best, C. (2014). Kinship care and transnational parenting: The intersection of cultural values and practices. *Journal of Family Social Work 17*(2), 119–35. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10522158.2014.881731
- Bloch, A. (2017). "Other mothers," migration, and a transnational nurturing nexus. Signs:

 Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 43(1), 53-75.

 https://www.academia.edu/download/55201564/Mothers.Signs.2017_.pdf
- Bohr, Y., & Tse, C. (2009). Satellite babies in transnational families: A study of parents' decision to separate from their infants. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *30*(3), 265–286. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20214
- Borjas, G. J. (1989). Economic theory and international migration. *International Migration Review*, 23(3), 457–485. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2546424
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners.

 Sage.
- Buddington, S. A. (2002). Acculturation, psychological adjustment (stress, depression, self-esteem) and the academic achievement of Jamaican immigrant college students. *International Social Work*, 45(4), 447-464. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2003-01026-003
- Budiman, A. (2021). *Key findings about U.S. immigrants*. Pew Research Centre. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/08/20/key-findings-about-u-s-immigrants/

- Carranza, M. (2022). The cost of "a better life": Children left-behind—beyond ambiguous loss. *Journal of Family Issues*, 43(12), 3218–3243. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X211044482
- Castro, O., Ergun, E., von Flotow, L., & Laura, M. (2020). Towards transnational feminist translation studies. *Mutatis Mutandis*, *13*(1), 2-10. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/287606255.pdf
- Cebotari, V., & Mazzucato, V. (2016). Educational performance of children of migrant parents in Ghana, Nigeria, and Angola. *Journal of Ethnic & Migration Studies*, 42(5), 834–856. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2015.1125777
- Cervantes, J. M., Mejía, O. L., & Guerrero Mena, A. (2010). Serial migration and the assessment of extreme and unusual psychological hardship with undocumented Latina/o families.

 Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences, 32(2), 275-291.

 https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0739986310366286?journalCode=hjba
- Chakombera, P., & Mubika, A. K. (2018). A comparative analysis on the psychological wellbeing of adolescents with parents in the Diaspora and those with parents in the home country: A case study of adolescents at Nemakonde high school, Mashonaland West Region, Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Humanities Social Sciences and Education*, 17-26. https://www.arcjournals.org/pdfs/ijhsse/v5-i2/3.pdf
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y. L., & Chien, W. T. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process. *Qualitative Report*, 18(30), 1-9. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol18/iss30/1/
- Chang-Muy, F., & Congress, E. P. (2008). Social work with immigrants and refugees: Legal issues, clinical skills, and advocacy. Springer.

- Collins, D., Falcón, S., Lodhia, S., & Talcott, M. (2010). New directions in feminism and human rights: An introduction. *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, *12*(3-4), 298-318. https://www.routledge.com/New-Directions-in-Feminism-and-Human-Rights/Collins-Falcon-Lodhia-Talcott/p/book/9780415828253
- Conway, J. M. (2019). The transnational turn: Looking back and looking ahead. In L. H. Collins,
 S. Machizawa, & J. K. Rice (Eds.), *Transnational psychology of women: Expanding international and intersectional approaches* (pp. 43–60). American Psychological Association.
- Crawford, C. (2009). Transnational motherhood: The experiences of working-class African

 Caribbean women in Canada (Doctoral Dissertation, York University).

 http://search.proquest.com.proxy2.library.illinois.edu/docview/748253334/fulltextPDF/8

 588A12B63B4215PQ/1?accountid=14553
- Crawford-Brown, C., & Rattray, M. (1994). The "barrel children" of the Caribbean: The sociocultural context of the migrant Caribbean family. Department of Sociology and Social Work. https://scholar.google.com/citations?user=_ThWCi4AAAAJ&hl=en
- Crawford-Brown, C., & Rattray, J. M. (2001). Parent-child relationships in Caribbean families.

 In N. Boyd, *Culturally diverse parent-child and family relationships: A guide for social workers and other practitioners* (pp. 107-130).

 http://ndl.ethernet.edu.et/bitstream/123456789/5159/1/78.pdf.pdf#page=134
- Crawford-Brown, C. P. (1999). Who will save our children?: The plight of the Jamaican child in the 1990s. Canoe Press.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five* approaches (2nd ed.). Sage Publications.

- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Sage Publications.

 Creswell, J. W. & Báez, J. (2021). 30 essential skills for the qualitative researcher (2nded.). Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2017). Designing and conducting mixed methods research (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). Sage.
- Crowder, K. D. (1999). Residential segregation of West Indians in the New York/New Jersey metropolitan area: The role of race and ethnicity. *International Migration Review*, *33*(1), 79-113. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2547323
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research: Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions of Critical CareNursing*, *36*(4), 253-263. https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.0000000000000253
- Dai, Q., & Chu, R.-X. (2018). Anxiety, happiness and self-esteem of western Chinese left-behind children. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 86, 403–413.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2016.08.00
- de Anda, D. (2008). Teaching social work with multicultural populations: A holistic approach

- to learning. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*, 28(3/4), 431–449 https://doi.org/10.1080/08841230802160241
- De Haas, H., & Rodriguez, F. (2010). Mobility and human development: Introduction. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities 11*(2), 177- 184.

 https://heindehaas.files.wordpress.com/2015/05/de-haas-and-rodriguez-2010-mobility-and-human-development.pdf
- Deason, M. L., Salas, A., Newman, S. P., Macaulay, V. A., Morrison, E., & Pitsiladis, Y. P. (2012). Interdisciplinary approach to the demography of Jamaica. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, *12*(1), 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-12-24
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semi-structured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigor. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 1–32).
- Dillon, M., & Walsh, C. A. (2012). Left-behind: The experiences of children of the Caribbean whose parents have migrated. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 43(6), 871-902. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41756275
- Ding, K., Li, C., Jia, H., Zhang, M., & Yu, D. (2021). Is left-behind a real reason for children's social cognition deficit? An NIRS study on the effect of social interaction on left-behind preschooler's prefrontal activation. *PloS One*, 16(9), e0254010.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254010

- Eatough, V., & Smith, J. A. (2017). Interpretative phenomenological analysis. In *The Sage* handbook of qualitative research in psychology (pp. 193-209). Sage.
- Fink, J. (2013). No man's land: Jamaican guest workers in America and the global history of deportable labor. *Labour*, 71, 285–287. https://muse.jhu.edu/article/507947/pdf
- Fletcher-Anthony, W. (2009). "My mother is a stranger" and other themes of reunification:

 West Indian parent-child reunification following separation due to immigration. Verlag.
- Fletcher-Anthony, W., Smith, K.-A., & Jokhan, M. (2018). Transnational West Indian mothers:

 Narratives of parent-child separation and subsequent reunification abroad. *Global South*,

 12(1), 14–32. https://doi.org/10.2979/globalsouth.12.1.02
- Frankland, J., & Bloor, M. (1999). Some issues arising in the systematic analysis of focus group materials. In *Developing focus group research: Politics, theory and practice* (pp. 144-155). Sage Publications.
- Fernandes, L. (2013). *Transnational feminism in the U.S.: Knowledge, ethics, powers*. New York University Press.
- Fernández-Borrero, M. A., Vázquez-Aguado, O., & Álvarez-Pérez, P. (2016). The influence of cultural sensitivity in social work practice with immigrants. *British Journal of Social Work*, 46(2), 444-462. https://academic.oup.com/bjsw/article-abstract/46/2/444/2472193?redirectedFrom=fulltext
- Frances Henry. (1994). *The Caribbean Diaspora in Toronto : Learning to Live with Racism*. University of Toronto Press.

- Freeman, M. (2014). The hermeneutical aesthetics of thick description. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20(6), 827-833.
 - https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1077800414530267?journalCode=qixa
- Fu, Y., & Chen, J. (2021). The influence of parental migration on left-behind children's mental health in China: The mediating roles of daily stress and sense-making. *Applied Research Quality Life*, 17, 2455–2477. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11482-021-09983
 - x#:~:text=Impacts%20of%20parental%20migration%20on%20children's%20mental%20health%20have%20drawn,et%20al.%2C%202018).
- Furman, R., Ackerman, A. R., Loya, M., & Jones, S. (2012). The criminalization of immigration: Value conflicts for the social work profession. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 39(1), 169-186.
- Fuster, D. (2019). Qualitative research: Hermeneutical phenomenological method. *Propósitos y Representaciones*, 7(1), 201-229
- Gabaccia, D. R. (2016). The global feminization of migration: Past, present, and future.

 Encyclopedia of Gender and Sexuality Studies, 1-3.

 https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/global-feminization-migration-past-present-and-future
- Galbin, A. (2014). An introduction to social constructionism. *Social Research Reports*, 26, 82-92.
- https://www.researchreports.ro/images/researchreports/social/srr_2014_vol026_004.pdf Gilkes, A. (2007). *The West Indian diaspora: Experiences in the U.S. and Canada*. Sage.

- Glennie, A., & Chappell, L. (2010). *Jamaica: From diverse beginnings to diaspora in the developed world*. Migration Information Source.
- Goertzen, M. J. (2017). Introduction to quantitative research and data. *Library Technology**Reports, 53(4), 12-18. https://www.proquest.com/docview/1903876597
- Gopaul-McNicol, S. (1993). Working with West Indian Families. Guilford Press.
- Grabe, S., & Else-Quest, N. M. (2012). The role of transnational feminism in psychology: Complementary visions. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *36*(2), 158-161. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0361684312442164
- Grant, C., & Osanloo, A. (2014). Understanding, selecting, and integrating a theoretical framework in dissertation research: Creating the blueprint for your "house".

 **Administrative Issues Journal, 4, 12-26. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1058505.pdf
- Gray, L. M., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G. R., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *Qualitative Report*, 25(5), 1292-1301.
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341522576_Expanding_Qualitative_Research_I nterviewing_Strategies_Zoom_Video_Communications
- Green, D. S., Chuang, S. S., Parke, R. D., & Este, D. C. (2019). Multidimensionality and complexities of fathering: A critical examination of Afro-Jamaican fathers' perspectives. Sex Roles, 81, 576-593. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11199-019-1012-2
- Grewal, I., & Kaplan, C. (1994). Introduction: Transnational feminist practices and questions of postmodernity. In *Scattered hegemonies: Postmodernity and transnational feminist practices* (pp. 1-33). University of Minnesota Press.

- Gringeri, C., Barusch, A., & Cambron, C. (2013). Examining foundations of qualitative research:

 A review of social work dissertations, 2008–2010. *Journal of Social Work Education*49(4),760–773. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10437797.2013.812910
- Hagen-Zanker, J. (2015). Effects of remittances and migration on migrant sending countries, communities and households. EPS-PEAKS". http://partnerplatform.org/eps-peaks
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: how many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591-608. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1049732316665344
- Henshaw, L. A. (2019). The complexity of unrecognized trauma: Survivors' narratives (Order No. 13885970) (Doctoral Dissertation, Adelphi University). ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
 - https://www.proquest.com/openview/aec55a07c83c36b4a6c69c2f5f21bd58/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Hilaire, D. (2006). Immigrant West Indian families and their struggles with racism in America. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, 6(2-3), 47-60. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1300/J135v06n02_04?journalCode=wjea20
- Hine-St. Hilaire, D. (2008). When children are left-behind: The perceptions of West Indian adolescents separated from their mothers during childhood due to migration, and the effects of this separation on their reunification (Order No. 3287893). (Doctoral dissertation, New York University, School of Social Work). ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. https://www.proquest.com/docview/304527740

- Hoang, L. A., & Yeoh, B. S. (2012). Sustaining families across transnational spaces: Vietnamese migrant parents and their left-behind children. *Asian Studies Review*, *36*(3), 307-325. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10357823.2012.711810
- Hong, Y., & Fuller, C. (2019). Alone and "left behind": A case study of "left-behind children" in rural China. *Cogent Education*, 6(1), 1654236.
 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/2331186X.2019.1654236
- Horne, S. G., & Arora, K. S. K. (2013). Feminist multicultural counseling psychology in transnational contexts. In C. Z. Enns & E. N. Williams (Eds.), *Oxford handbook of feminist multicultural counseling psychology* (pp. 240–252). Oxford University Press. https://academic.oup.com/edited-volume/42043
- Hundle, A. K., Szeman, I., & Hoare, J. P. (2019). What is the transnational in transnational feminist research? *Feminist Review*, *121*(1), 3-8. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0141778918817525
- International Monetary Fund (IMF).(2020). Country Focus. *Jamaica Ramps Up Social and Economic Support in COVID-19 Response*. https://www.imf.org/en/News/Ar ticles/2020/05/27/na052720-jamaica-ramps-up-social-and-economic-support-in-covid-19-response#:~:text=In%20response%2C%20the%20government%20has,the%20amo unt%20of%20%24520%20million.
- Jennissen, R. (2007). Causality chains in the international migration systems approach.

 Population Research Policy Review, 26, 411-436.

 https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11113-007-9039-4

- Jindal, A. K., Singh, G., & Pandya, K. (2015). Qualitative research in medicine: An art to be nurtured. *Medical Journal Armed Forces India*, 71(4), 369-372. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4646945/
- Johnson, R., & Waterfield, J. (2004). Making words count: The value of qualitative research. *Physiotherapy Research International*, *9*(3), 121-131. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/pri.312
- Jones, A., Sharpe, J., & Sogren, M. (2004). Children's experiences of separation from parents as a consequence of migration. *Caribbean Journal of Social Work, 3*(1), 89-109. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/283749873_Children's_Experiences_of_Separation_from_Parents_as_a_Consequence_of_Migration
- Kennedy, E. M. (1966). The Immigration Act of 1965. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *367*(1), 137-149. https://history.house.gov/Historical-Highlights/1951-2000/Immigration-and-Nationality-Act-of-1965/
- King, N. (2004). Using templates in thematic analysis of text. In: *Essential guide to qualitative* methods in organizational research (256), Sage Publications.
- Kirchherr, J., & Charles, K. (2018). Enhancing the sample diversity of snowball samples:

 Recommendations from a research project on anti-dam movements in Southeast Asia.

 PloS one, 13(8), e0201710. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201710
- Lashley, M. (2000). The unrecognized social stressors of migration and reunification in Caribbean families. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *37*(2), 203-217. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/136346150003700203
- Leavy, P. (2014). *The Oxford handbook of qualitative research*. Oxford University Press. https://academic.oup.com/edited-volume/38166

- Leskauskas, D., Adomaitien, V., Seskevicien, G., Asnait, E., & Smigelskas, K. (2020). Self reported emotional and behavioral problems of left-behind children in Lithuania. *Child Indicators Research*, *13*(4), 1203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-019-09689-5
- Levitt, P. (1998). Social remittances: Migration driven local-level forms of cultural diffusion. *International Migration Review*, 32(4), 926-948. https://www.jstor.org/stable/254766
- Lipton, M. (1980). Migration from the rural areas of poor countries: The impact on rural productivity and income distribution. *World Development*, 8, 1–24. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/0305750X80900479

Lincoln, Y.S., & Guba, E.G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage Publications.

- Lorenzi, J., & Batalova, J. (2022, July 4). *Caribbean immigrants in the United States*. Migration Policy Institute. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/caribbean-immigrants-united-states
- Louis, D. A., Thompson, K. V., Smith, P., Williams, H. M. A., & Watson, J. (2017). Afro-Caribbean immigrant faculty experiences in the American Academy: Voices of an invisible black population. *Urban Review*, 49, 668-691.
- Lu, Y., He, Q., Brooks-Gunn, J. (2020). Diverse experience of immigrant children: How do separation and reunification shape their development? *Child Development*, 91(1), e146e163.
 - https://srcd.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/cdev.13171#:~:text=Results%20indicated%20that%20immigrant%20children,those%20who%20migrated%20with%20parents.
- Lucas, R. E. B., & Stark, O. (1985). Motivations to remit: Evidence from Botswana. *Journal of Political Economy*, 93(5), 901. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1833062

- Lum, D. (1996). Social work practice & people of color: A process-state approach. Brooks Cole.
- Mackieson, P., Shlonsky, A., & Connolly, M. (2019). Increasing rigor and reducing bias in qualitative research: A document analysis of parliamentary debates using applied thematic analysis. *Qualitative Social Work*, *18*(6), 965-980. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1473325018786996
- Manyeruke, G., Çerkez, Y., Kiraz, A., & Çakıcı, E. (2021). Attachment, psychological wellbeing, and educational development among child members of transnational families. *AlphaPsychiatry*, 22(1), 49-55. https://alpha-psychiatry.com/en/attachment-psychological-wellbeing-and-educational-development-among-child-members-of-transnational-families-131854
- Mapp, S., McPherson, J., Androff, D., & Gatenio Gabel, S. (2019). Social work is a human rights profession. *Social Work*, 64(3), 259-269. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/swz023
- Mason, J. (2002). *Qualitative researching* (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Massey, D. S., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A., Pellegrino, A., & Taylor, J. E. (1993).

 Theories of international migration: A review and appraisal. *Population and Development Review*, 19(3), 431–466. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2938462
- Mays, N., & Pope, C. (1995). Qualitative research: Rigor and qualitative research. BMJ, 311(6997), 109-112.
 - https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2550154/pdf/bmj00600-0043.pdf
- McCallum, D. G. (2019). Untold stories: Jamaican transnational mothers in New York city. *Migration Studies*, 7(4), 409-432. https://academic.oup.com/migration/article-abstract/7/4/409/5037741?redirectedFrom=fulltext

- Meylan, A. B. (1999). Status of the hawksbill turtle (Eretmochelys imbricata) in the Caribbean region. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, *3*(2), 177-184. http://www.bionica.info/biblioteca/Meylan1999EretmochelysImbricata.pdf
- Micek, S. (2014). Are we doing enough to develop cross-cultural competencies for social work? British Journal of Social Work, 44(7), 1984–2003. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43687775
- Mitchell, N., & Bryan, J. (2007). School, family, and community partnerships: strategies for counselors working with caribbean immigrant families. *Professional School Counseling*, 10(4), 399–409. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/2156759X0701000413
- Moallem, M. (1999). Universalization of particulars: the civic body and gendered citizenship in Iran. *Citizenship Studies*, *3*(3), 319-335. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13621029908420718
- Mohanty, C. T. (2003). Feminism without borders: Decolonizing theory, practicing solidarity.

 Duke University Press.
- Mooney, H. (2018). *Jamaica Financial development, access, and inclusion: Constraints and options*. Inter-American Development Bank. http://dx.doi.org/10.18235/0001444
- National Association of Social Workers (NASW). (2021). *Code of ethics of the National Association of SocialWorkers*. https://www.socialworkers.org/About/Ethics/Code-of-Ethics-English
- National Authority on Child Rights Protection and Adoption (NADPCA). (2017). 2017 annual report. http://www.copii.ro/statistici-2017
- National Child Traumatic Stress Network (NCTSN). (n.d.). Children with traumatic separation: Information for professionals.

- https://www.nctsn.org/sites/default/files/resources/children_with_traumatic_separation_p rofessionals.pdf
- Navara, G. S., & Lollis, S. (2009). How adolescent children of african jamaican immigrants living in Canada perceive and negotiate their roles within a matrifocal family. *Family Process*, 48(3), 441–58. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19702929/
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2), 90-97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative methods*, *16*(1),1609406917733847.

 https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Oates, B. J. (2015). On systematic reviews for evidence-based practice. *Journal of Information Technology*, 30(2), 177-179. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1057/jit.2015.9
- Olwig, K. F. (1999). Narratives of the children left-behind: Home and identity in globalised Caribbean families. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 25(2), 267–84. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/1369183X.1999.9976685
- Osanloo, A., & Grant, C. (2016). Understanding, selecting, and integrating a theoretical framework in dissertation research: Creating the blueprint for your "house." *Administrative Issues Journal*, 4(2), 7. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1058505
- Ozcan, E. (2018). Conservative women in power: A new predicament for transnational feminist media research. In *Feminist approaches to media theory and research* (pp. 167-181). Springer. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-90838

- Pachter, L. M., Caldwell, C. H., Jackson, J. S., & Bernstein, B. A. (2018). Discrimination and mental health in a representative sample of African-American and Afro-Caribbean youth. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, *5*(4), 831-837. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-017-0428-z
- Padgett, D. K. (2008). Strategies for rigor. *Qualitative Methods in Social Work Research* (pp. 80-200). Sage Publications. https://methods.sagepub.com/book/qualitative-and-mixed-methods-in-public-health/n9.xml
- Padgett, D. K. (2017). *Qualitative Methods in Social Work Research* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications. https://methods.sagepub.com/book/qualitative-and-mixed-methods-in-public-health/n9.xml
- Pan, J. Y., Wong, D. F. K., Chan, K. S., & Chan, C. L. W. (2008). Development and validation of the Chinese making sense of adversity scale: Acculturative stressors as an example.
 Research on Social Work Practice, 18(5), 479–486.
 https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1049731507314012
- Parker, C., Scott, S., & Geddes, A. (2019). Snowball sampling. *SAGE research methods* foundations (page numbers needed). Sage Publications.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Two decades of developments in qualitative inquiry: A personal, experiential perspective. *Qualitative Social Work*, 1(3), 261-283. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2003-05113-001
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice: The definitive text of qualitative inquiry frameworks and options. SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Paul, A. M. (2015). Negotiating migration, performing gender. *Social Forces*, 94(1), 271-293. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24754253
- Pietkiewicz, I., & Smith, J. A. (2014). A practical guide to using interpretative phenomenological analysis in qualitative research psychology. *Psychological Journal*, 20(1), 7-14. https://www.scirp.org/(S(351jmbntvnsjt1aadkozje))/reference/referencespapers.aspx?referenceid=2151872
- Platonova, A., & Gény, L. R. (2017). Women's empowerment and migration in the Caribbean.

 United Nations. https://www.cepal.org/en/publications/42491-womens-empowerment-and-migration-caribbean
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2006). Brief note on the origins, evolution, and meaning of the qualitative research concept thick description. *Qualitative Report*, 11(3), 538-549. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-1-4615-6989-3
- Pottinger, A. M. (2005). Children's experience of loss by parental migration in inner-city Jamaica. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 75(4), 485–496. https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.75.4.485
- Probst, B., & Berenson, L. (2014). The double arrow: How qualitative social work researchers use reflexivity. *Qualitative Social Work, 13*(6): 813–827.

 https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1473325013506248#:~:text=Reflexivity%20ca n%20be%20understood%20as,crucial%20aspect%20of%20knowledge%20construction
- Ratan, S. K., Anand, T., & Ratan, J. (2019). Formulation of research question: Stepwise approach. *Journal of Indian Association of Pediatric Surgeons*, 24(1), 15–20. https://doi.org/10.4103/jiaps.JIAPS_76_18

- Reichert, J. (1981). The migrant syndrome: Seasonal U.S. labor migration and rural development in central Mexico. *Human Organization*, *40*, 56–66. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44125587
- Ross, P. T., & Zaidi, N. L. B. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(4),261-264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Salas-Wright, C. P., Vaughn, M. G., Goings, T. C., Oh, S., Delva, J., Cohen, M., & Schwartz, S.
 J. (2020). Trends and mental health correlates of discrimination among Latin American and Asian immigrants in the United States. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 55(4), 477–486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-019-01811-w
- Saldaña, J. (2021). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. SAGE Publications. https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/the-coding-manual-for-qualitative-researchers/book273583
- Smith, A., Lalonde, R. N., & Johnson, S. (2004). Serial migration and its implications for the parent-child relationship: A retrospective analysis of the experiences of the children of Caribbean immigrants. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 10*(2), 107–122. https://yulib002.mc.yu.edu:3180/10.1037/1099-9809.10.2.107
- Smith, J. (2011). Evaluating the contribution of interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Health Psychology Review*, *5*, 9–27.
 - https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17437199.2010.510659
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P., & Larkin, M. (2009). Interpretative phenomenological analysis:

 Theory, method and research. Sage Publications.
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a useful methodology for research on the lived experience of pain. *British Journal of Pain*, 9(1),

- 41-42. https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/interpretative-phenomenological-analysis/book250130
- Stark, O. (1984). Rural-to-urban migration in LDCs: a relative deprivation approach. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 32(3), 475-486.

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/24571950
- Stark, O. (1991). *The migration of labor*. Blackwell Ltd.

 https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/The-Migration-of-Labor.-K%C3%B6rner-Stark/1de79a473058443c130a8e80418b203db002f566
- Stark, O., & Bloom, D. (1985). The new economics of labor migration. *American Economic Review*, 75(2), 173-78. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1805591
- Suárez-Orozco, C., Bang, H. J., & Kim, H. Y. (2011). I felt like my heart was staying behind:

 Psychological implications of family separations and reunifications for immigrant youth. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 26(2), 222-257.

 https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0743558410376830
- Suårez-Orozco, C., Todorova, I. L. G., & Louie, J. (2002). Making up for lost time: The experience of separation and reunification among immigrant families. *Family Process*, 41(4), 625–643. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2002.00625.x
- Suddick, K. M., Cross, V., Vuoskoski, P., Galvin, K. T., & Stew, G. (2020). The work of hermeneutic phenomenology. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19,1609406920947600. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1609406920947600
- Tambe, A., & Thayer, M. (Eds.). (2021). *Transnational feminist itineraries: Situating theory and activist practice*. Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1rnpjvd

- Taylor, E. J. (1999). The new economics of labor migration and the role of remittances in the migration process. *International Migration*, *37*(1), 63-88. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2435.00066
- Taylor, R. J., Forsythe-Brown, I., Lincoln, K. D., & Chatters, L. M. (2017). Extended family support networks of Caribbean black adults in the United States. *Journal of Family Issues*, *38*(4), 522-546. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5319699/
- Thomas-Hope, E. M. (1999). Emigration dynamics in the anglophone Caribbean. *Emigration Dynamics in Developing Countries*, *3*, 232-284.
 - $http://rialnet.org/sites/default/files/OIT_Thomas-Hope_Caribbean.pdf$
- Thomas-Hope, E. M. (2018). Caribbean diaspora, the inheritance of slavery: Migration from the commonwealth Caribbean. In *The Caribbean in Europe* (pp. 15-35). Routledge.

 Thorne, S. (2000). Data analysis in qualitative research. *Evidence-based Nursing*, *3*(3), 68-70. https://ebn.bmj.com/content/3/3/68
- Tripa, L., Sava, F. A., Palos, R., Măgurean, S., & Macsinga, I. (2020). Adult psychological outcomes of former left-behind children in Romania. *Romanian Journal of Psychology*, 22(2), 51-58.
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/351436948_Adult_psychological_outcomes_of _former_left_behind_children_in_Romania/link/6097a116458515d315084c19/download
- United Nations International Children's Fund (UNICEF). (2016). *The growing crisis for refugee* and migrant children. https://www.unicef.org/reports/uprooted-growing-crisis-refugee-and migrant-children

- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN DESA). (1998).

 Recommendations on statistics of international migration revision 1: Definition of "long
 - term migrants."
 - https://unstats.un.org/unsd/publication/seriesm/seriesm_58rev1e.pdf
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2015, December 21). New report offers close-up look at five groups. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2017/12/sub-saharan-caribbean-population.html
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services

 Administration (SAMHSA, 2022). *Recognizing and treating child traumatic stress*.

 https://www.samhsa.gov/child-trauma/recognizing-and-treating-child-traumatic-stress
- Valerio, M. A., Rodriguez, N., Winkler, P., Lopez, J., Dennison, M., Yuanyuan Liang, & Turner,
 B. J. (2016). Comparing two sampling methods to engage hard-to-reach communities in research priority setting. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16, 1–11.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0242-z
- Varkey, B. (2021). Principles of clinical ethics and their application to practice. *Medical Principles and Practice*, 30(1), 17-28. https://doi.org/10.1159/000509119
- Valerio, M. A., Rodriguez, N., Winkler, P., Lopez, J., Dennison, M., Liang, Y., & Turner, B. J.(2016). Comparing two sampling methods to engage hard-to-reach communities in research priority setting. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16(1), 1-1. https://bmcmedresmethodol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12874-016-0242-z
- Waters, M. C. (1999). *Black identities: West Indian immigrant dreams and American realities*.

 Harvard University Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctv1m46fzh

- Weinbaum, A. E., Thomas, L. M., Ramamurthy, P., Poiger, U. G., Dong, M. Y., & Barlow, T. (2008). *The modern girl around the world: Consumption, modernity, and globalization*. Duke University Press. https://read.dukeupress.edu/books/book/2124/The-Modern-Girl-Around-the-WorldConsumption
- Wen, Y. J., Hou, W. P., Zheng, W., Zhao, X. X., Wang, X. Q., Bo, Q. J., Pao, C., Tang, Y. L., Tan, T., Li, X. B., & Wang, C. Y. (2021). The neglect of left-behind children in China: A meta-analysis. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse*, 22(5), 1326–1338.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020916837
- Wen, Y. J., Li, X.-B., Zhao, X.-X., Wang, X.-Q., Hou, W.-P., Bo, Q.-J., Zheng, W., Pao, C., Tan, T., & Wang, C.-Y. (2019). The effect of left-behind phenomenon and physical neglect on behavioral problems of children. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 88, 144–151.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.11.007
- Wickham, G. R. E. (2017). Culturally appropriate health services for black Canadians. *Journal of Student Science and Technology*, 10(2). https://journal.fsst.ca/index.php/jsst/article/view/220
- Williams, K. (2022). Social work ethics and values as a mitigating force in migration: Lessons from Caribbean child lifers in the USA. *International Journal of Social Work Values and Ethics*, 19(2), 174-208. https://jswve.org/volume-19/issue-2/item-11/
- World Resources Institute. (2008). *The Caribbean region*. https://www.wri.org/data/caribbean-region.
- Yang, B., Xiong, C., & Huang, J. (2021). Parental emotional neglect and left-behind children's externalizing problem behaviors: The mediating role of deviant peer affiliation and the

- moderating role of beliefs about adversity. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105710
- Ye, J., Wang, C., Wu, H., He, C., & Liu, J. (2013). Internal migration and left-behind populations in China. *Journal of Peasant Studies*, 40(6), 1119–1146. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03066150.2013.861421?journalCode=fjps 20
- Zachariah, K. C., Mathew E. T., & Rajan S. I. 2001. Impact of migration on Kerala's economy and society. *International Migration*, *39*(1), 63–88.

 http://14.139.171.199:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/311/wp297.pdf?sequence =1&isAllowed=y
- Zerbe Enns, C., Díaz, L. C., & Bryant-Davis, T. (2021). Transnational feminist theory and practice: An introduction. *Women & Therapy*, 44(1-2), 11-26. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/02703149.2020.1774997

- Zhao, C., Wang, F., Zhou, X., Jiang, M., & Hesketh, T. (2018). Impact of parental migration on psychosocial well-being of children left-behind: A qualitative study in rural China. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 17(1), 1-10. https://equityhealthj.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12939-018-0795-z
- Zhou, Y. M., Zhao, C. X., Qi, Y. J., Huang, X. N., Tian, X. B., & Sun, J. (2020). Emotional and behavioral problems of left-behind children in impoverished rural China: A comparative cross-sectional study of fourth-grade children. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 67(5), S48-

- S54. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1054139X20303281
- Zong, J. & Batalova, J. (2011). *Caribbean Immigrants in the United States*. Washington Migration Policy Institute.
 - https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/caribbean-immigrants-united-states-2009
- Zong, J., & Batalova, J. (2019). *Caribbean immigrants in the United States*. Migration Policy Institute.
 - https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/caribbean-immigrants-united-states-2017
- Zoom Video Communications Inc. (2016). *Security guide*. Zoom Video Communications Inc. https://d24cgw3 uvb9a9h.cloudfront.net/static/81625/doc/Zoom-Security-White-Paper.pdf
- Żuk, P., & Żuk, P. (2018). Offshoring, labour migration and neo-liberalisation: nationalist responses and alternatives in Eastern Europe. *Economic and Labour Relations**Review, 29(1), 97–117. https://doi.org/10.1177/1035304617739759

Appendix A

Consent Form for Participation

Informed Consent/Introduction

Thank you for considering participation in this survey.

I, the researcher, is interested in learning about "the Lived Experience of Jamaica Barrell Children: A Qualitative Study."

You do not need to have experience reporting suspected child abuse and neglect to participate in this study.

This study is being conducted by Annette Clarke Jones, a Ph.D. student at Wurzweiler School of Social Work, Yeshiva University.

We invite any adult (aged 18 years old or older) to participate in this study.

Participation will involve answering a series of open-ended question questions related to the lived experience of Jamaican adults whose parents stayed behind in Jamaica while their parents immigrated to the U.S. You will be asked to participate in an internet survey asking demographics questions. You will also be asked to respond to some basic, non-identifying information. The survey should take approximately 90 minutes to complete. Minimal risk is associated with participation in this study. The open-ended interview questions should take about 90 minutes.

Responses to this survey are anonymous. Aggregated results of this study will be published with no identification of individual respondents. Participation is completely voluntary, and you may choose to withdraw at any time and for any reason. If you choose not to participate or to withdraw from the study, there will be no penalty. Although there is no direct benefit to you, by completing the survey, you will be providing valuable insight that could improve how information is conveyed.

If you have questions about the research study or your rights as a participant, please contact: Annette Clarke Jones at 9143382044 or annette.clarke-jones@yu.edu. This study has been approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Yeshiva University. Completion of the survey will be considered your consent to participate. Thank you for your participation!

You are making a decision whether or not to participate. Your signature indicates that you have

decided to participate, having read the information provided above.
You will be given a copy of this form to keep.
Thank you for your participation!
Email:
Signature:
Date:

Appendix B

Mental Health Resources for Participants

Below are several resources to support your mental health needs:

Emergency Hotline Information Department of Health Crisis Hotline 1-800-527-7474

Life Net Hotline Network 1-800- LifeNet (543-3638)

NYC Well 1-800-692-9355 or text "Well" to 65173

New York Project Hope 1844-863-9314

SAMHSA's National Helpline, 1-800-662-HELP (4357)

Crisis Text Line, text HOME to 741741

Veterans Crisis Line (800) 273-8255, PRESS 1, Text 838255 to chat online

National Suicide Prevention Lifeline, 800-273-8255

Immigration Advocates Network, (718) 826-2942

Panic Disorder hotline, 1-800-64-panic (72642)

Appendix C

Interview Guide for Lived Experiences of Jamaican Barrel Children: A Qualitative Study Interview Questions

Intake Form (Demographic Considerations)

- · Name:
- · Country of Origin:
- · Current Age: (18 to 21) (22-30) (31-41) (42 52) (53-63) (64 72)
- · Which parent(s) immigrated from?
- · How old were you when you migrated to the United States?
- · Reason for immigrating from Jamaica?

Research Questions

What are the reflective childhood experiences, reflective childhood perspectives, and perceived adulthood impacts surrounding adults who stayed in Jamaica while their parent(s) immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years?

RQ1. What are the reflective childhood experiences and feelings of adults who stayed in Jamaica before their mother immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years?

- Tell me about your childhood experiences in Jamaica before your parent(s) migrated to the US?
- 2. Are there any memories of experiences that you remember before your mother immigrated to the US?
- 3. Are there any memories of experiences that were difficult before your mother immigrated to the US?
- 4. When you reflect back on your time in Jamaica, what experiences come to mind?

RQ2. What are the reflective childhood experiences and feelings of adults who stayed in Jamaica after their mother immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years?

- 1. What do you recall about your experiences while they were preparing to leave for the US?
- 2. What were your experiences after your parent(s) left for the US?

Prompts

Socially

Living arrangement

Communication,

Visits,

Gifts, barrels

Financially

Mentally

Emotionally

Academically

RQ3. What are the perceived impacts for adults who stayed in Jamaica while their mother immigrated to the U.S. during their developmental years?

1. How did your parent's migration impact you then as compared to now?

Prompts

Socially

Living arrangement

Communication,

Financially

Mentally

Emotionally

Academically

- 2. If they had not migrated to the US, do you think you would be different now as an adult?

 If so, how?
- 3. How would you describe the relationship with the caregiver (i.e. Loving, strict, abusive)?
- 4. How did parental departure impact you in childhood overall?
- 5. As you reflect upon your childhood experiences and if you could have created the perfect scenario as a child with all of the circumstances that you had, what would you have changed related to your parent (s) immigration to the US?
- 6. What would you have kept the same?
- 7. How many years were you separated from your parent(s)
- 8. Is there anything additional that you would like to add?

Appendix D

WCG IRB Approval



1919 39th Ave SE / Suite 120 Puyallup, WA 98374 855-818-7718 www.wcgirb.com

February 13, 2023

Annette Clarke Jones, MS, MSW Wurzweiler School of Social Work, Yeshiva University 2495 Amsterdam Avenue New York, New York 10033

Dear Ms. Clarke Jones:

SUBJECT: IRB EXEMPTION—REGULATORY OPINION

Investigator: Annette Clarke Jones, MS, MSW

Sponsor Protocol No.: 44956610

Protocol Title: The Lived Experiences of Jamaican Barrel Children: A

Qualitative Study

This is in response to your request for an exempt status determination for the abovereferenced protocol. WCG IRB's IRB Affairs Department reviewed the study under the Common Rule and applicable guidance.

We believe the study is exempt under 45 CFR § 46.104(d)(2), because the research only includes interactions involving educational tests, survey procedures, interview procedures, or observations of public behavior; and there are adequate provisions to protect the privacy of subjects and to maintain the confidentiality of data.

This exemption determination can apply to multiple sites, but it does not apply to any institution that has an institutional policy of requiring an entity other than WCG IRB (such as an internal IRB) to make exemption determinations. WCG IRB cannot provide an exemption that overrides the jurisdiction of a local IRB or other institutional mechanism for determining exemptions. You are responsible for ensuring that each site to which this exemption applies can and will accept WCG IRB's exemption decision.

WCG IRB's determination of an Exemption only applies to US regulations; it does not apply to regulations or determinations for research conducted outside of the US. Please discuss with the local IRB authorities in the country where this activity is taking place to determine if local IRB review is required. Annette Clarke Jones, MS, MSW 2

February 13, 2023

Please note that any future changes to the project may affect its exempt status, and you may want to contact WCG IRB about the effect these changes may have on the exemption status before implementing them. WCG IRB does not impose an expiration date on its IRB exemption determinations.

If you have any questions, or if we can be of further assistance, please contact Bridget D. Brave, JD, at 360-252-2466, or e-mail regulatoryaffairs@wirb.com.

BDB:dj D2-Exemption-Clarke Jones (02-13-2023) cc: Edward Berliner, Yeshiva University WCG IRB Accounting WCG IRB Work Order #1-1632444-1